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Chairman’s Statement

EEREE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
OKG Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”), | would like to present to the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) the annual report (the “Report”) of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Year”).

EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT

Over the past year, the global economy has shown cautious optimism.
Major economies around the world have successfully avoided severe
recessions, maintaining low unemployment rates while controlling inflation.
However, challenges such as high interest rates, debt sustainability,
geopolitical tensions, and climate change continue to exert ongoing
pressure on economic growth.

According to the United Nations’ “2024 Mid-Year World Economic
Situation and Prospects” report released on May 16, the global growth
rate in the coming years is expected to remain below the 3.2% average
level during the 2010-2019 period. The report forecasts global economic
growth of 2.7% in 2024 and 2.8% in 2025, which are 0.3 and 0.1
percentage points higher than the predictions made in January this year,
respectively.

The economy of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (‘Hong
Kong”) began to rebound in 2023 after the impact of the pandemic,
recording moderate growth in the first quarter of 2024, with real GDP
growing by 2.7% year-on-year. The seasonally adjusted unemployment
rate remained at a low level of 3.0%, and employment income grew
robustly.

In the crypto asset sector, 2023 was a year filled with volatility and
uncertainty. The market underwent significant adjustments but later
showed signs of recovery and growth. According to CoinMarketCap, the
total market capitalization of crypto assets increased from approximately
USD 2.0 trillion at the beginning of 2023 to USD 2.5 trillion at the
beginning of 2024, reflecting the market’s resilience and growth potential.
However, the high Federal Reserve interest rates have not led to
significant liquidity injections into the market, resulting in no clear price
trends.
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With regulatory clarity increasing and consensus among traditional
institutions growing, the crypto asset industry’s ecosystem is being
reshaped, laying the foundation for its long-term healthy development. In
2023, traditional financial giants such as BlackRock and Fidelity actively
applied for Bitcoin spot ETFs, which were eventually approved in 2024,
reflecting the broader recognition of crypto assets. Moving into 2024, the
Bitcoin halving event, the thriving development of the Bitcoin ecosystem,
and the rise of new fields such as DePin, RWA, and Al have brought new
development opportunities to the crypto asset industry.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

Over the past year, the Group has closely followed the pulse of the times,
aligning with industry development trends, and actively pursued refined
business development and adjustments, forging ahead in a volatile
market.

During the Year, the revenue from continuing operations of the Group was
approximately HK$337.3 million. Loss attributable to the owners of the
Company for the Year amounted to approximately HK$40.3 million, which
was mainly due to the decrease in revenue from the Group’s proprietary
trading in digital assets business. We are actively reviewing and adjusting
our trading strategies based on market conditions to seek improvements
in the future. During the Year, the revenue from the Group’s foundation,
building construction works and ancillary services businesses was
approximately HK$266.8 million. The Group disposed of its construction
wastes handling services-related business, to achieve cost reduction,
business focus, and risk mitigation objectives. The Group will closely
monitor market conditions and continue to prudently assess and adjust
the future development direction of its construction related business.

The Group firmly believes that on-chain data in Web3 is the foundation
of industry development and has actively developed and promoted its
flagship product, Explorer, to explore the forefront of on-chain data in the
Year. Currently, OKLink Fintech Limited (‘OKLink”) has launched over 40
blockchain explorers, analyzing more than 200 mainstream chains and
providing over 2,000 TB of data. Users can search for addresses, blocks,
ENS, and other information through the Explorer’s portal in one stop. On
the address details page, users can add private labels to addresses and
comprehensively monitor and analyze addresses. OKLink also offers a rich
suite of Web3.0 tools, including authorization management tools, address
tracking, Gas Tracker, and more, allowing users to grasp address details
at a glance and make rational analysis and judgments.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERERYEE

At the same time, the Group is committed to promoting the compliance
development of the digital asset industry. During the Year, the Group
continued to assist regulatory and law enforcement agencies in
maintaining the safety and asset transparency of Web3.0 through
panoramic on-chain analysis tools such as “Chaintelligence” and
“Onchain AML". Using blockchain technology to track and analyze
suspicious transactions, the Group provides strong support for combating
financial crimes.

As a listed company, the Group actively undertakes corporate social
responsibility, engaging in deep exchanges and cooperation with
local universities and the Web3.0 ecosystem. Over the past year,
the Group has collaborated with well-known institutions to organize
hackathons, university exchanges, and entrepreneurship competitions,
not only promoting the development of Web3.0 in Hong Kong but
also providing valuable learning and exchange platforms for students,
young entrepreneurs, and industry professionals. We firmly believe that
the development and popularization of emerging industries require the
addition of fresh blood.

AWARDS AND RECOGNITION

The Group has continuously focused on the research and development
of blockchain technology, assisting in the development of financial
technology. The enterprise value has been highly recognized by leading
industry companies.

On January 18 2024, OKLink was awarded the “Outstanding Digital
Asset Compliance Technology Solution” award in regulatory technology
at the “2023 Fintech Awards” organized by ET Net, a leading professional
financial information platform in Hong Kong. In December 2023, the
Company won the “Most Influential Listed Company” award at the “13th
Hong Kong International Finance Forum and China Securities Golden
Bauhinia Awards,” becoming the first Web3 enterprise to receive the
Golden Bauhinia Award. The Group also won the “Most Innovative Value
Award” and “Best Emerging Company of the Year” awards during the
Year.
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OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, the Group is full of confidence in the development of
emerging technologies such as crypto assets and blockchain. We closely
follow technological innovations, continuously innovate, and provide high-
quality service experiences to global users. Adhering to the philosophy
of “professionalism, pragmatism, and pioneering innovation,” we look
forward to working hand in hand with Shareholders, customers, and
partners to actively explore business development opportunities and
create long-term returns for Shareholders.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to extend sincere thanks to our
Shareholders, customers, and partners, and express heartfelt gratitude
to the entire management team and staff for their efforts and valuable
contributions during the Year.

Ren Yunan
Chairman
Hong Kong, China, 27 June 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIREsTwm R i

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s major sources of revenue were from foundation, building
construction works and ancillary services, digital assets related
businesses, technical services and other businesses. During the Year, the
Group has presented the operations relating to the construction wastes
handling services as discontinued operation.

Foundation, Building Construction Works and
Ancillary Services

The foundation works of the Group mainly include building construction
works, site formation works, excavation and lateral support (“ELS”)
works, piling construction, pile caps or footing construction and reinforced
concrete structure works and ancillary services mainly include hoarding
and demolition works and lease of machinery.

During the Year, revenue from this segment was approximately HK$266.7
million, representing an increase of approximately 50.3% as compared
with approximately HK$177.4 million (restated) for the year ended 31
March 2023. Such increase was mainly due to the number of new
projects awarded increasing during the Year.

Gross profit of this segment during the Year was approximately HK$28.6
million, which decreased by approximately 34.3% as compared with
approximately HK$43.5 million (restated) for the year ended 31 March
2023. Gross profit margin of this segment for the Year was approximately
10.7%, representing a decrease of approximately 13.8 percentage points
from approximately 24.5% (restated) for the year ended 31 March 2023.
The decrease is mainly attributable to the increase in subcontracting
costs.

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

New Projects Awarded

During the Year, the Group had been awarded 6 new contracts with total
contract value amounted to approximately HK$642.6 million. The details

of the new projects are as follows:

Type of Projects

Site Location

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Type of Works

IHE R A& i B TH24E5R!
Foundation Works and Ancillary Services Wong Tai Sin District Piling Works

ME TR REERS |AMAE IR

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services Wong Tai Sin District ELS Works

ME T2 RIERT BEAUE PR AIR AT IR

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services

ETEREERS

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services
METREKREERE

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services

ETERIEERS

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services
METREKREERE

Yuen Long District
TTERE

Tuen Mun District
Br&E

Wan Chai District

Eastern District
H&

Site Formation Works
AR FETIE

Foundation Works
METE

Site Formation, Foundation and ELS

Works

AT E A TR RERRAIAAT
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Foundation and ELS Works
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Projects in Progress

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 5 projects in progress with total

contract value amounted to approximately HK$661.8 million. The details

of projects in progress are as follows:

Type of Projects

Site Location

X 7% [C1EE (@)

£#1EH

A E_MNE=ZRB=+—H AEEFETE
HE  BENEEN61.8EE BT - TEEEMN
SEBW

Type of Works

HEHER AR B TH24ER)
Foundation Works and Ancillary Services Wong Tai Sin District Piling Works

ME TR RPERS |AAE IR
Foundation Works and Ancillary Services Wong Tai Sin District ELS Works

ME T2 REERT ‘A& ERERAImAEIRE

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services

E T EREERS

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services
METREKREERE

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services

ETERIEERS

Completed Projects

Wong Tai Sin District
mAAE

Wong Tai Sin District
|mAAE

Wong Tai Sin District

BAE

During the Year, the Group had completed 3 projects with total contract

value amounted to approximately HK$85.4 million. The details of

completed projects are as follows:

Type of Projects
HEER

Site Location
AR E

Foundation, Pile Cap and ELS Works
METE - BERZERABATIRE

Foundation, Pile Cap and ELS Works
ME T2 BERZERAAATTIRE

ELS Works, Soldier Piles and Site
Preparation
PRRAIBEATTRE BBERMEEE

BxIEH

REFER ZEBEZHIEER  Ba5K0E
EX8S4AR BT B THEENFBEUWT !

Type of Works
Ti24ER

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services

E T ERAEERS

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services
METREKREERT

Building Construction Works
IBFRETRR

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2024 Annual Report
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Digital Assets Related Businesses

(i) Proprietary Trading in Digital Assets

The revenue of this segment was generated through the Group’s
trading activities on leading cryptocurrency exchanges (the
“Trading Platform”). Revenue from trading in digital assets
includes trading net gains arising from trading various digital
assets and net gains or losses from remeasurement of the market
value of digital assets. As of 31 March 2024, the market value of
the Group’s digital assets was approximately HK$1,123.1 million
(2023: approximately HK$649.5 million). The Group also borrowed
loans from the Trading Platform in the form of digital assets whose
fair value was approximately HK$869.8 million at the end of the
Year (2023: approximately HK$400.9 million). During the Year, the
revenue from trading in digital assets and net fair value changes on
digital assets was approximately HK$65.3 million, which decreased
approximately 49.8% compared with approximately HK$130.1
million for the corresponding period in 2023. The decrease was
mainly attributable to the challenging market conditions. Following
the turbulence in the digital assets industry in the year ended 31
March 2023, including the collapse of LUNA and the bankruptcy
of FTX, the Group witnessed significant market regime changes,
with the Bitcoin price rocketing from approximately USD28,000
at the beginning of the Year to an all-time-high of approximately
USD74,000 in March 2024. The radical market shocks also
introduced huge market liquidity issues and challenged our risk
management strategies in such a volatile market. Consequently, the
revenue of this segment decreased significantly due to market price
distortions and the risk challenges posed by such extreme volatility.

Set out below were significant digital assets held by the Group as of

31 March 2024:

Number of Digital

Management Discussion and Analysis
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% to the Group’s

Market Value as at Total Assets as at

Name of Digital Assets Assets Held 31 March 2024 31 March 2024
RIEZ W&
RITZWE =RA=+—H
FraEm =BA=+—H HAER
BFEER BFEEHE B {E WEEASL
(HK$’000)
(F#7m)
Stablecoins & & & 27,372,358.7 214,196.9 16.1%
Ethereum (ETH) LUK #& 9,574.5 271,028.8 20.3%
Bitcoin (BTC) tb4%#& 955.0 526,003.4 39.5%
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Digital Assets Related Businesses (continued)

(ii) Trust and Custody Services

The Group’s trust and custody services were being carried out
through OKLink Trust Limited (“OKLink Trust”). OKLink Trust
has been registered as a Trust Company under section 78(1) of
the Trustee Ordinance (Chapter 29 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
since 17 June 2020. The trust and custody services provided
by the Group typically include the safekeeping, settlement, and
other customised services for its clients’ assets. The types of
assets custodied under this business include digital assets and
fiat currencies. At the end of the Year, the total assets held by the
Group on behalf of its custody clients were approximately HK$63.2
million, a decrease of approximately 79.8% compared with
approximately HK$313.5 million as of 31 March 2023. The clients’
digital assets constitute trust assets and are not accounted for as
assets of the Group and do not give rise to liabilities to the relevant
customers.

During the Year, the revenue generated from the provision of trust
and custody services was approximately HK$1.8 million, which
decreased approximately 59.1% compared with approximately
HK$4.4 million for the corresponding period in 2023. The decrease
was mainly due to the decrease in the transaction volumes and
related services provided by the Group.

Gross profit of the Group’s digital assets related businesses was
approximately HK$36.8 million, which decreased by approximately
HK$56.0 million or 60.3% as compared with approximately HK$92.8
million for corresponding period in 2023. The decrease in gross profit
was mainly attributable to the decrease in revenue from proprietary
trading in digital assets. Gross profit margin of this segment for the Year
was approximately 54.8%, representing a decrease of approximately
14.2 percentage points from approximately 69.0% for the year ended
31 March 2023.

Technical Services

The Group’s technical services income mainly includes the provision of the
Group’s on-chain anti-money laundering solution (“Onchain AML”), on-
chain monitoring solution (“Chaintelligence”), Application Programming
Interface (“API”) and other I.T. development services.

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Technical Services (continued)

During the Year, revenue from this segment amounted to approximately
HK$3.1 million, which decreased by approximately HK$31.3 million as
compared with approximately HK$34.4 million for the corresponding
period in 2023. The decrease in revenue was mainly due to the Group’s
strategy to allocate more resources to the development of its blockchain
solutions, such as the API services of its blockchain explorer, which were
still at the early stages of business expansion. Gross profit of this segment
was approximately HK$0.9 million, which decreased by approximately
HK$18.6 million as compared with approximately HK$19.5 million for the
corresponding period in 2023.

Other Businesses

During the Year, the Group also maintained other businesses, including
investments in securities and lending business, which were not its core
businesses. As of 31 March 2024, the Group managed a portfolio of
listed securities with a total market value of approximately HK$0.9 million
(31 March 2023: HK$1.5 million). During the Year, the Group recorded
a revenue of approximately HK$0.4 million for its other businesses,
compared with a negative income of approximately HK$1.2 million for the
corresponding period in 2023.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group recorded a revenue from continuing operations of
approximately HK$337.3 million for the Year, representing a decrease of
approximately 2.2% as compared with approximately HK$344.9 million
(restated) for the corresponding period in 2023. The decrease was mainly
resulted from the decrease in the revenue from digital assets related
business segment caused by the turbulence in the digital asset industry.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit from continuing operations of the Group for the Year
amounted to approximately HK$66.2 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 57.0% as compared with approximately HK$154.0 million
(restated) for the corresponding period in 2023. The gross profit margin
from continuing operations decreased by 25.1 percentage points to
approximately 19.6% for the Year from approximately 44.7% (restated) for
the same period in 2023. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease
of the revenues from digital assets related businesses which had a higher
gross profit margin.

Other Income, Gains and Losses, net

Other income, gains and losses, net from continuing operations of the
Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$0.9 million as compared
with a net loss of approximately HK$0.9 million (restated) for the
corresponding period in 2023.

Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

The administrative and other operating expenses from continuing
operations of the Group for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$100.0 million, representing an increase of approximately 23.8%
compared with approximately HK$80.8 million (restated) for the year
ended 31 March 2023. This increase was mainly due to the increase in
the development expenses of the Group’s on-chain solutions and API
services.

Impairment Losses under Expected Credit
Loss (“ECL”) Model

Impairment losses under the ECL model were derived from trade
receivables, loan receivables, other receivables, amounts due from
related parties and contract assets of the Group. The Group classified
them as in default when there was evidence indicating the assets were
credit impaired. The Group recorded an impairment loss of approximately
HK$7.8 million during the Year, an increase of approximately HK$0.2
million compared with approximately HK$7.6 million (restated) for the year
ended 31 March 2023.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Finance Costs

Finance costs from continuing operations for the Group during the Year
amounted to approximately HK$2.5 million, representing a decrease
of approximately 39.0% compared with approximately HK$4.1 million
(restated) for the corresponding period in 2023.

Income Tax Expenses

Income tax expenses from continuing operations for the Group during the
Year amounted to HK$Nil as compared with approximately HK$9.7 million
(restated) for the corresponding period in 2023.

Discontinued Operation

During the Year, the Group disposed of Joint Wealth Global Limited
(“Joint Wealth”) and its subsidiary Chung Shun Construction Limited
(collectively, “Joint Wealth Group”), which were principally engaged in
construction wastes handling services. The operation of Joint Wealth
Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 and the period from 1 April
2023 to 22 December 2023 were presented as discontinued operation.
The Group recorded a profit of approximately HK$4.2 million from
discontinued operation during the period, as compared with a loss of
approximately HK$7.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2023.

For further details, please refer to Note 11 — Discontinued Operation
under the section of “Notes to financial statements”.

(Loss)/Profit for the Year Attributable to the
Owners of the Company

The Group recorded a net loss attributable to the owners of the Company
of approximately HK$40.3 million, compared to a profit of approximately
HK$43.5 million for the corresponding period in 2023. The increase in the
loss for the Year was mainly due to the decrease in revenue from digital
assets related businesses segment.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Capital Structure

The Group’s total assets and total liabilities as of 31 March 2024
amounted to approximately HK$1,333.3 million (31 March 2023:
approximately HK$1,105.2 million) and approximately HK$1,165.7 million
(31 March 2023: approximately HK$896.6 million), respectively. The
Group’s debt ratio (expressed as a percentage of total liabilities over total
assets) was approximately 87.4% as at 31 March 2024 (31 March 2023:
approximately 81.1%).

Liquidity, Financial and Capital Resources

The Group funded its liquidity and capital requirements primarily through
capital contributions from the Shareholders, borrowings, internally
generated cash flow and proceeds received from the placing of the

Company’s shares (the “Shares”).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$62.0 million (31 March 2023: approximately HK$90.6
million), and the Group did not have any pledged bank deposits (31 March
2023: Nil).

Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio is calculated based on the amount of total
interest-bearing debts divided by total equity. The gearing ratio of the
Group as of 31 March 2024 was approximately 25.3% (as of 31 March
2023: approximately 40.2%).
decrease of loans from related parties, which was caused by the disposal

The decrease was mainly due to the
of Joint Wealth Group.

Pledge of Assets

The Group did not have any charge on its assets during the Year.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Contingent Liabilities

The Group, in the ordinary course of its business, is involved in various
claims, suits, investigations, and legal proceedings that arise from time
to time. Although the Group does not expect that the outcome in any of
these legal proceedings, individually or collectively, will have a material
adverse effect on its financial position or results of operations, litigation is
inherently unpredictable. Therefore, the Group could incur judgements or
enter into settlements of claims that could adversely affect its operating
results or cash flows in a particular period.

Risk Disclosures

(i) Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and most of the operating
transactions such as revenue, expenses, monetary assets and
liabilities are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United States
Dollar (“USD”) and Renminbi (‘RMB”). The Directors are of the view
that the Group’s risk in foreign exchange is insignificant and that the
Group should have sufficient resources to meet foreign exchange
requirements as and if they arise. Therefore, the Group has not
engaged in any derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to foreign
exchange risk during the Year.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Risk Disclosures (continued)

(ii)

Credit Risk

The Group’s credit risk arises mainly from trade and other
receivables, contract assets, amounts due from related parties,
bank deposits and bank balances. The Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk in the event of the counterparties’ failure to perform
their obligations as at the reporting dates in relation to each class
of recognised financial assets and contract assets is the carrying
amount of those assets as stated in the “Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position” in this Report.

In respect of cash at banks, the credit risk is considered to be low
as the counterparties are reputable banks. Therefore, expected
credit loss rate of cash at banks is assessed to be close to zero and
no provision was made.

In respect of trade and other receivables, contract assets and
amounts due from related parties, individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers and counterparties. These evaluations
focus on the counterparty’s financial position, past history of
making payments and take into account information specific to the
counterparty as well as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the counterparty operates. Monitoring procedures have been
implemented to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade and other receivables, contract
assets and amounts due from related parties balance at the end
of each reporting period to ensure adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. During the Year, an impairment
loss of approximately HK$7.8 milion was recorded compared
to approximately HK$7.6 million (restated) for the year ended 31
March 2023.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Risk Disclosures (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Price Risk of Digital Assets

To facilitate the Group’s proprietary trading in digital assets, the
Group held approximately HK$1,123.1 million in digital assets as
of 31 March 2024. The majority of the Group’s digital assets were
stablecoins and other digital assets with higher liquidity, such as
Bitcoin (BTC) and Ethereum (ETH). As at 31 March 2024, the fair
values of the stablecoins, ETH and BTC held by the Group were
approximately HK$214.2 million, HK$271.0 million and HK$526.0
million, representing approximately 16.1%, 20.3%, and 39.5%
of the Group’s total assets, respectively. In addition, the Group
also had borrowings of approximately HK$800.0 million in form of
stablecoins and approximately HK$69.8 million in the form of other
digital assets. Consequently, the Group’s risk exposures to the price
risk of digital assets was limited to the net balance of each digital
asset it held.

Price volatility of digital assets may cause significant impacts to the
Group’s performance. Although the stablecoins are asset-backed
and the market price was approximately US$1 per unit with minimal
fluctuation, the volatility and any unpredictability of the price of such
stablecoins relative to fiat currencies could also cause significant
impact to the Group’s financial performance. Furthermore,
compared with stablecoins, ETH, BTC and other digital assets are
generally with higher volatility.

Risks Related to Safekeeping of Digital Assets

The Group mainly deposited its digital assets in the cryptocurrency
exchanges to facilitate its proprietary trading in digital assets
business. In addition, the Group also held approximately HK$39.1
million digital assets on behalf of its clients as at 31 March 2024,
of which approximately 21.3% were deposited with the Trading
Platform and third party sub-custodian, and approximately 78.7%
were deposited in the Group’s own wallets. As the Group did not
have any insurance policy for its digital assets under custody,
although the Group has implemented a series of risk control and
safeguarding protocols, any breakdown or closedown of such
cryptocurrency exchanges, potential cyber-attacks or thefts could
cause significant losses to the Group.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Risk Disclosures (continued)

v)

Investment risk related to trading of digital assets

The Group launched its proprietary trading in digital assets business
and adopted quantitative trading strategies (the “Strategies”) for
its digital assets investment. The investment performance mainly
depends on market liquidity, Strategies effectiveness and system
reliability. The Group’s Strategies in theory could make profits
over time but could also suffer huge losses in black swan events.
In addition, there are inherent risks with its trading, including but
not limited to errant algorithms, hacking, liquidation from extreme
market moves and counterparty risks. Although market liquidity is
closely monitored by the Group with the aid of a systematic alerting
mechanism, under extreme market condition there may occur huge
mark-to-market losses. And such losses may never recover if stop
loss risk control mechanism is triggered.

In addition, the Group has a very short operation history in the
trading of digital assets, which gives rise to higher unpredictability
to its success in this new business. As the Group faces a variety
of new risks and uncertainties in its new business, the Group
cannot guarantee that this business will continue to be profitable
in the future, which may materially and adversely affect its financial
performance.

The Group has its own proprietary risk management system that
constantly monitors the performance of the Strategies and conduct
data analytics to review and modify the Strategies. The trading
systems are also constantly monitored by the Group, including but
not limited to their memory usage, CPU consumption, network
latency, etc., for any anomalies. The system will also stop trading
if certain circuit breakers such as profit/loss performance or
position limits are hit. The automated system aims to stop trading
before material loss and revoke account access if it detects any
abnormalities.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Risk Disclosures (continued)

(vi)

Risks Related to Anti-Money Laundering

Any person who carries on a trust business in Hong Kong has
to comply with the relevant requirements of the Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance (Chapter
615 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“AMLO”) and the guideline
issued by the Companies Registry of Hong Kong. To mitigate such
risks, the Group has implemented policies and procedures for
Anti-Money Laundering (“AML”") and Know-Your-Client (‘KYC”) that
are initiated during the client onboarding process and are applied
by way of continuous monitoring and reporting. In enhancing
these policies and procedures, we have also considered industry
best practice and the recommendations of the Financial Action Task
Force (“FATF”).

Laws and regulations governing the digital assets related
businesses in Hong Kong are developing and subject to further
changes. The amended AMLO which includes a licensing regime
for virtual assets service providers took effect on 1 June 2023.
During the Year, the Financial Services and the Treasury Bureau
of Hong Kong (“FSTB”) issued public consultation on legislative
proposals to regulate Over-the-Counter trading of virtual assets.
FSTB and the Hong Kong Monetary Authority also jointly issued a
public consultation on legislative proposal to implement regulatory
regime for stablecoin issuers. As such, the Group may need to
apply for new licenses or permits for its businesses, if new laws
or regulations are implemented in the future. The Group believes
a comprehensive and balanced regulatory framework can protect
investors and promote responsible and sustainable industry
development.

Capital Commitments

The Group did not have any significant capital commitment as of
31 March 2024 (31 March 2023: Nil).
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PROSPECT

In 2024, amidst the backdrop of a globally accelerating soft landing,
opportunities and challenges coexist. Although the global economic
growth rate is expected to be lower than the average level between
2010 and 2019, we have seen positive signals of economic recovery as
governments and international organizations take active measures to
address the economic slowdown. Hong Kong’s achievement of moderate
economic growth and low unemployment rates provides a favorable
external environment for the stable development of the Group.

The complex and volatile economic situation drives technological
innovation and transformation. As the global economy undergoes digital
transformation, blockchain technology, as a key driver is receiving
increasing attention and importance, providing a favorable macro
atmosphere for the Group’s business development.

In this environment, the Group actively explores market opportunities,
concentrating resources on the development of on-chain data and
compliant digital assets related businesses. We firmly believe that on-
chain data is the core of blockchain technology and a key driver for
the industry’s advancement. Currently, OKLink has launched over 40
blockchain explorers, analyzing over 200 main chains and providing
more than 2,000 TB of data. This comprehensive information empowers
developers, research institutions, and industry professionals, facilitated by
robust API capabilities that drive large-scale industry adoption. Moving
forward, we will continue to increase our R&D investment in this field,
leveraging technological innovation to enhance our products and services
to meet market and customer needs. At the same time, the trend of
digital asset compliance is unstoppable. From Hong Kong to Europe
and the United States, increasingly complete regulatory frameworks are
guiding the industry’s development. In the future, the Group will also
actively respond to regulatory requirements, contributing to the healthy
development of the industry through compliant operations.

As a listed company and a pioneer in the blockchain industry, the Group
will continue to fulfill its corporate social responsibility by strengthening
blockchain education. We believe that the mass adoption and application
of blockchain technology require concerted efforts from all sectors of
society.

Facing the unpredictable market environment, the Group will continue
to operate cautiously in the foundation, building construction works and
ancillary services in Hong Kong. In addition, based on the assessment of
investment returns, the Group will prudently assess further investments in
its construction-related businesses.
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PROSPECT (continued)

Finally, the Group will continue to strengthen the communication
and cooperation with Shareholders, customers, and partners, jointly
addressing challenges and seizing opportunities to achieve mutual
benefits. We believe that as blockchain technology gradually becomes
the core of the digital economy, we will leverage policy advantages,
continuously optimize our products and services, and actively adjust our
strategies and business layouts according to market conditions, and keep
innovating to create sustained value for our Shareholders.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

As at 31 March 2024, the Group employed a total of 106 staff (31
March 2023: 107 staff). Total staff costs from continuing operations,
including directors’ emoluments and share-based payment expenses
for the Year, amounted to approximately HK$86.5 million (31 March
2023: approximately HK$100.2 million). The salary and benefit levels of
the employees of the Group are competitive and individual performance
is rewarded through the Group’s salary and bonus system. The Group
provides adequate job training to the employees to equip them with
practical knowledge and skills.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

Disposal of the entire issued shares of Joint
Wealth Global Limited

On 22 December 2023 (after trading hours), Campbell Chain Limited,
a company incorporated in BVI with limited liability and a direct wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company as the vendor (the “Vendor”), and
Colour Trend Holdings Limited as the purchaser (the “Purchaser”)
entered into a sale and purchase agreement (the “Sale and Purchase
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Vendor agreed to sell and the
Purchaser agreed to acquire three (3) ordinary shares of Joint Wealth,
being the entire issue share capital of Joint Wealth for the consideration of
HK$45.0 million (the “Disposal”).

The completion of the Disposal (the “Completion”) took place upon the
execution of the Sale and Purchase Agreement on 22 December 2023.
Upon Completion, the Vendor no longer had any interests in Joint Wealth
Group and accordingly all of the companies under Joint Wealth Group
ceased to be subsidiaries of the Group and the financial results of Joint
Wealth Group will no longer be consolidated into the results of the Group.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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BB R

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS (continued)

Disposal of the entire issued shares of Joint
Wealth Global Limited (continued)

As one or more applicable percentage ratios (as defined in Rule 14.07
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”))
exceed 5% but all relevant percentage ratios are less than 25%, the
Disposal constitutes a disclosable transaction for the Company under
Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules and is subject to the reporting and
announcement requirements but exempted from the shareholders’
approval requirement under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. In addition,
as of the date of the Sale and Purchase Agreement, the Purchaser was
directly wholly-owned by Mr. Chan Wing Chung (“Mr. Chan”), who is
the director of each of the members of Joint Wealth Group, hence the
Purchaser is a connected person of the Company at the subsidiary level
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Disposal also
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

For details of the Disposal, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 22 December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any other significant
investments held or any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries
or associated companies during the Year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

There is no significant event after the reporting period of the Group up to
the date of this Report.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

As of the date of this Report, the Company does not have any future
plans for material investments or capital assets.

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

FERSREERBREFE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ren Yunan ({E8 B %c4) (“Mr. Ren”), aged 48, is our executive
Director, the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer.

Mr. Ren graduated from Peking University with a bachelor’s degree in law
in 1997 and received a master’s degree in law from Harvard Law School
in 1999. He was qualified to practise law both in Hong Kong and New
York, the United States of America.

Mr. Ren is currently an independent non-executive director of Ronshine
China Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 3301).

Mr. Ren is the director of certain companies controlled by OKC Holdings
Corporation (“OKC”) and the director of several wholly-owned subsidiaries
of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ren was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

Mr. Zhang Chao ((REB%4) (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 36, is our executive
Director.

Mr. Zhang graduated from Peking University with a master’s degree in
electronic and communications engineering in 2015 and has extensive
experiences in the information technology related fields.

Mr. Zhang is currently the legal representative and director of each of
three indirect subsidiaries of the Company, namely Beijing OKG Network
Technology Co., Ltd.* b REXRIE#@ABLEFI . BRAR), Beijing OKG
Network Information Co., Ltd.* Qb RENH ZEAKERBRA T)and
Jinan OKLink Technology Co., Ltd.* CEmRBUEHEEREERAT).
joined the Group in February 2019.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Zhang was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

* For identification purposes only
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERaREIEERENE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tang Yue (BE# 5 4%) (“Mr. Tang”), aged 53, is our non-executive
Director.

Mr. Tang graduated from the Concordia College with Bachelor of Arts
degree in 1993.

Mr. Tang is the founder of X Financial (NYSE: XYF), a leading technology-
driven personal finance company in China, wherein he serves as the
chairman and chief executive officer since March 2014. Mr. Tang is a
renowned internet entrepreneur and investor in China. Mr. Tang is a
founding member of the China Entrepreneur Club, a founding member
of the Paradise International Foundation, a member of The Nature
Conservancy China Board, and a founding member of the Beijing
SmileAngel Children’s Hospital.

Mr. Tang is a director of OKC. An aggregate of 3,904,925,001 shares
of the Company, representing approximately 72.71% of the total issued
share capital of the Company are held by OKC and OKC is therefore an
associated corporation of the Company for the purposes of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”). Mr. Tang is deemed or taken
to be interested in 8,578,654 shares of OKC, the substantial shareholder
of the Company, by virtue of the fact that his wholly-owned company,
Purple Mountain Holding Ltd., holds direct interest in 3,898,103 ordinary
shares, 3,068,409 series seed preferred shares and 1,612,142 series A-1
preferred shares of par value of USD0.0001 each of OKC, representing
approximately 7.39% of the total issued share capital of OKC. Each
series seed preferred share and series A-1 preferred share could be
convertible into one ordinary share. Thus, Mr. Tang is deemed or taken to
be interested in approximate 7.39% of the shares in OKC.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Tang was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(continued)

Mr. Pu Xiaojiang GEHBEI % %) (“Mr. Pu”), aged 59, is our
non-executive Director.

Mr. Pu graduated from the Journalism School of Fudan University with a
Bachelor’s degree of Arts in 1987. He also obtained his Executive MBA
from China Europe International Business School in 2003.

Mr. Pu has experiences in brand management, media, marketing
and financial services industries. Mr. Pu has been working for certain
companies controlled by OKC since April 2019. He was the vice president
of Bluefocus International Limited from April 2016 to March 2019,
a subsidiary in Hong Kong of Bluefocus Intelligent Communications
Group Co., Ltd. QEREE B IEHIER D BBRAE)) which is listed
on the Shenzhen stock exchange with the stock code of “300058”
(“Bluefocus”). Bluefocus is a data technology company, the business
scope includes marketing services, digital advertising and international
business, which provides services in marketing communication and smart
technology based on data technology.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Pu was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERaREIEERENE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Zhouxin (EB RS E) (“Mr. Li”), aged 39, is our independent
non-executive Director.

Mr. Li graduated from Fuzhou University with a bachelor degree in finance
in 2007 and received an EMBA degree from the Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology in June 2019. Mr. Li is a senior economist
and certified public accountant in the PRC, a certified management
accountant recognised by The Institute of Management Accountants
in the United States of America. Mr. Li also holds a Certification in Risk
Management Assurance accredited by The Institute of Internal Auditors.
Mr. Li is currently the vice chairman of the 9th Executive Committee of the
Youth Business Association of Fujian Province* (B2 R 5 EHE) .

From June 2017 to November 2022, Mr. Li was a non-executive
director of Prosperous Future Holdings Limited (GR2R2E EZERFRA
&l) (@ company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 1259). Mr. Li worked as an auditor and assistant manager of the
audit division at KPMG Consulting (China) Co., Ltd. from August 2007
to December 2010; also, from December 2010 to November 2011, he
served as finance manager at a company listed on the main board of
NASDAQ.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Li was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

Mr. Lee Man Chiu (EXB%XE) (“Mr. Lee”), aged 51, is our
independent non-executive Director.

Mr. Lee graduated from Harvard College with a Bachelor of Arts degree
in 1994. He subsequently obtained his Juris Doctor degree from
Georgetown University Law Center in 1998. Since 1999, he has been
licensed and admitted to practice as an Attorney and Counsellor at Law in
all courts of the State of New York. He is also a solicitor of the High Court
of Hong Kong.

Mr. Lee has extensive experience in the practice of law. He has been in
Asia since 2000 and has practiced in a number of international law firms
including Orrick Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, Clifford Chance LLP, Morrison
& Foester LLP and Baker Mckenzie. Mr. Lee is currently the corporate
partner of Dentons Hong Kong LLP. He was previously the partner of
Hogan Lovells LLP and Locke Lord LLP.

* For identification purposes only

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2024 Annual Report

BIIFRITES

FRAMSE (TFEE)) - 39%% > BRMBBILIF
HITES-

FRER_ZFTLFERMAZEX  ETTR
S8F80 RN TN FRA FRERE
EERNEAREeEEEANEZIHEERELER
i o FFE R PEIDY & AR K 1B & 51H6M
FEEEG MR EMEEE M F
TETFARERNE BB ERENRERE
ERIEEER FTRERAREEEERHES
NEEFERER-

RIZ—tEAET-__F+—AHf =
SERERTEEEZRBRAD (—BRBRFR
FRETMZAB BRMBATE 1 1259) ZIERITE
FoFERER_EELtENRBEE—ZTE+T
BEEER TSN (PE) BRABEESE
B EMIBLIE RN E—SE+ZRE
T ——F+— A BIET-RARERE
W EH AT FEEIR o

PR EXFIIREEESN FRENBE=ZFUENE
AEM EHATREREEERF -

FXBEE (TFEE)) 515 BRMOBILIE
HITES-

FRER-NANEFERHBEREE  BIEXER
TR -REBR-ANNFEREEAMASE
BRWEBBRLIEM -HE—ANNFE—ES
T B R 0 R A AR AY N PR TR e MR A AR BT RO
FERBRE - RITAEBSE AL EM-

FREBAEELIRETECR - RA_SZTTHF
E—EEZMN BRZSREEREMITAE 8
RERMEDF SREEMIT ZERMOFH
P B« ERRRMEBR - FARERKRE
BRRZEEEBA -RERHESTREROES
PR &R RENEHRZEB A



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Lee advises on a broad range of transactions, including equity
offerings and listings (in particular, U.S. IPOs and Hong Kong IPOs with
a Rule 144A tranche), private equity and venture capital, cross-border
mergers and acquisitions, and general corporate and banking. Mr. Lee’s
experience includes representing issuers and underwriters in IPOs and
private placement of equity and debt securities and in connection with
the structuring, issuance, and distribution of fixed and floating rate bonds,
high-yield bonds, perpetual securities, convertible debt securities, asset-
backed securities and derivative financial products. Mr. Lee has also
represented listed companies in securities law compliance matters and
buyers and sellers in merger and acquisition transactions and drafted
corporate documents, including contracts, royalty agreements and license
agreements for start-up companies, as well as other documentation for
general corporate and banking transactions.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lee was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

Mr. Jiang Guoliang (B R % 4) (“Mr. Jiang”), aged 47, is our
independent non-executive Director.

Mr. Jiang graduated from Peking University with a bachelor’'s degree in
law in 1997.

Mr. Jiang is an independent director of Zhejiang Chengchang Technology
Co., Ltd.* GV ERIZRIDBRAF]), the shares of which are listed
on the Shenzhen stock exchange in the People’s Republic of China (stock
code: 001270). Mr. Jiang was an independent non-executive director of
Weigang Environmental Technology Holding Group Limited from January
2019 to September 2022, the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1845).

Mr. Jiang is the managing partner of Zhejiang T&C Law Firm. Before that,
he was an associate of Zhejiang T&C Law Firm from 1999 to 2007. Mr.
Jiang was the vice president of BOCGI Zheshang Capital Co., Ltd.* (Ff
SCEMEEEXESEEARATE) from 2010 to 2012, a partner of the
Hangzhou branch of King & Wood Mallesons from 2008 to 2010.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Jiang was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

* For identification purposes only
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERaREIEERENE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Shi Shaoming (G/VERSEH) (“Mr. Shi”), aged 42, is the company
secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”’), and financial
controller of the Group.

Mr. Shi graduated from Nankai University with a bachelor's degree in
management in 2003. Mr. Shi is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales and The Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Also, Mr. Shi is an associate member of both The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute (HKCGI) and The Chartered
Governance Institute in the United Kingdom (CGl).

Mr. Shi has more than 10 years of experience in financial management,
financial reporting and corporate governance matters. Mr. Shi worked for
China Finance Online Co. Limited from 2007 to 2017 and his last position
with China Finance Online Co. Limited was deputy financial controller. He
was employed in Shing Wing Certified Public Accountants from 2006 to
2007.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in provision of foundation, building construction works and
ancillary services, digital assets related businesses, technology services
and other businesses.

During the Year, the Group has presented classified the operations related
to the construction wastes handling services as discontinued operation
for the year ended 31 March 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Year is set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 8 to 24 of this
Report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS,
CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Connected transactions

On 22 December 2023, Campbell Chain Limited, a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, as the vendor, and Colour Trend Holdings
Limited as the purchaser entered into a sale and purchase agreement.
Pursuant to the agreement, the Vendor agreed to sell and the Purchaser
agreed to acquire the three (3) ordinary shares of Joint Wealth, being the
entire issued share capital of Joint Wealth for a consideration of HK$45.0
million.

In addition, as of the date of the Sale and Purchase Agreement, the
Purchaser was directly wholly-owned by Mr. Chan, who is the director of
each of the member of Joint Wealth Group. Therefore, the Purchaser is a
connected person of the Company at the subsidiary level under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Disposal also constitutes a
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Details of the Disposal are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 22 December 2023.

Report of Directors
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS,
CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the Year, the Group had some de minimis continuing connected
transactions with the companies controlled by OKC. As all the
transactions were conducted on normal commercial terms or better
to the Group, and all the percentage ratios were less than 5% and the
total consideration per annum is less than HK$3 million, such continuing
connected transactions were fully exempted from announcement,
reporting, annual review or independent shareholders’ approval
requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules.

During the Year, the Group also received financial assistance in the form
of digital assets from a company controlled by OKC, with a balance
of approximately HK$868.8 million as of 31 March 2024 (the “Digital
Assets Loan”). As the Digital Assets Loan was also conducted on normal
commercial terms or better to the Group and has not been secured by
the assets of the Group, pursuant to Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules, the
Digital Assets Loan received by the Group was also fully exempted from
reporting, announcement, annual review or independent shareholders’
approval.

Related party transactions

Details of significant related party transactions undertaken in the usual
course of business are set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements. None of these related party transactions constitute a
notifiable connected transaction as defined under the Listing Rules.

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2024 Annual Report

HEMERS

MRARFERN > REBHEOKCEFIN AT ETHE
RERBKTNFEBERS -BARFAARZH
NEEBERRABAEERANS BEEBFR
BT MAAEBD LERAENE%  BESFEN
BERIRSEEET HILRE EHRAIE14A.76
1 ZEREMEXZETE2HRRAE FR

FEERIBIIRRMERNRE

RAFERN > ANEMIFBOKCESHIN A BER
FEERANGEEN BE_T_NE=A
—+—HiEHNA6.sEBET (MFXEEE
) HRNHFEEERINEEEEEERTH
AEEMSBEENGENET BEURER
BEFIRT RIE EmRBIE14A.000% 0 A&EE
EENEFEEERNERRHBRHAER A5
FEFEMIB IR ENRE

FESLRX S
BB AR T I B A B 3 B B

HN A MHBRERMEAIZ - ZEBEARF T
B EHRAIFF R EN AT AMBEERLS -



RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the section headed
“Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive
Income” of this Report.

The Board has resolved not to declare any final dividend for the Year
(2023: Nil).

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operation, business and
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. The
following are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group:

The Group has a concentrated customer base
and any decrease in the number of projects
with the Group’s top five customers would
adversely affect the Group’s operations and
financial results

A significant portion of the Group’s revenue was derived from a small
number of customers during the two financial years ended 31 March
2024. The Group’s top five customers’ revenue contribution for the
Year was approximately 77.8% (2023: 46.8%) of our revenue, while the
Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately 51.3% (2023:
22.6%) of our revenue. The Group did not enter into any long-term
service agreement or master service agreement with its customers.
Furthermore, the Group’s service contracts for all foundation works and
ancillary services projects are on a project-by-project basis. As such,
there is no assurance that the Group will be able to retain its customers
upon expiry of the contract period or that they will maintain their current
level of business with the Group in the future. If there is a significant
decrease in the number of projects or size of projects in terms of contract
sums awarded by the Group’s top five customers to the Group for
whatever reasons, and if the Group is unable to obtain suitable projects
of a comparable size and quantity as replacement, the Group’s financial
conditions and operating results would be materially and adversely
affected. Besides, if any of the Group’s top five customers experiences
any liquidity problem, it may result in delay or default in settling progress
payments to the Group, which in turn will have an adverse impact on its
cash flows and financial conditions. The Group cannot guarantee that it
will be able to diversify its customer base by obtaining significant number
of new projects from its existing and potential customers.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(continued)

The Group determines the price of its tender
or quotation based on the estimated time

and costs to be involved in a project, yet the
actual time and costs incurred may deviate
from the Group’s estimate due to unexpected
circumstances, thereby adversely affecting its
operations and financial results

The Group determines the price of tender or quotation based on its
cost estimate plus a certain mark-up margin. The actual time and costs
incurred by the Group, however, may be adversely affected by various
factors, including (i) the specifications, underground conditions and
difficulties of the potential project; (i) the duration of the potential project;
(i) the site location and the conditions and adjacent risk of building
structures nearby; (iv) the resource availability; and (v) our previous
experience with the customer. Significant changes in any of these or
other relevant factors may lead to delay in completion or costs overrun
by the Group, and there is no assurance that the actual time and costs
incurred by the Group would match its initial estimate. Such delays, cost
overruns or mismatch of actual time and costs with the Group’s estimates
may cause its profitability to be lower than what the Group expected or
may expose it to litigation or claims from customers in case of delays.
The Group normally sets an extra mark-up margin on top of its estimated
costs to cater to the possible unfavourable factors above, yet too high a
margin may render the Group’s tender or quotation uncompetitive. There
is no assurance that the Group will always be able to price its tender or
quotation competitively, and if the Group fails to do so, its customers
may opt for the Group’s competitors, thereby resulting in a decrease in
the number of projects awarded to the Group. Even if such a mark-up
margin is accepted and agreed by the Group’s customer, there can be no
assurance that the Group can be fully compensated for the occurrence of
the unfavourable factors above. This would adversely affect the Group’s
operations and financial results. Meanwhile, if the mark-up margin set by
the Group is too low, the gross profits may not be able to cover other
potential loss arising from any unfavourable circumstances during project
implementation. The Group’s profitability in the project would hence be
adversely and materially affected.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(continued)

The Contractual Arrangements may not be
as effective in providing operational control
as direct ownership. Beijing OKG or its
Registered Shareholders may fail to perform
their obligations under the Contractual
Arrangements.

Neither the Company nor Shenzhen OKG Network Technologies Co., Ltd.
(“Shenzhen OKG”) has any equity ownership interests in Beijing OKG
Network Information Co., Ltd. (“Beijing OKG”). Through the Contractual
Arrangements that Shenzhen OKG has entered into with Beijing OKG,
the Company and Shenzhen OKG exercise effective control over Beijing
OKG and obtain substantially all of the economic benefits. However, the
Contractual Arrangements are not as secure as direct ownership over
Beijing OKG and may not be as effective in providing control over Beijing
OKG as direct ownership.

Beijing OKG has the Internet Content Provider (“ICP”) license to
provide internet content, to operate the portals and to provide value-
added telecommunications services in PRC. If Beijing OKG violates
the Contractual Arrangements, we might have to take legal action to
compel them to perform their respective contractual obligations. Any
legal proceedings could result in the disruption of our business in PRC
and result in substantial costs to us. There can be no assurance that the
results of such legal proceedings would be satisfactory to us.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(continued)

If the PRC government determines that these
Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG
do not comply with applicable PRC laws and
regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, our
business could be materially and adversely
affected.

We believe that the Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG do not
infringe existing PRC laws, regulations, or other mandatory requirements
under PRC law. However, there can be no assurance that the Contractual
Arrangements will be deemed by the relevant governmental or judicial
authorities to be in compliance with the existing PRC laws and regulations
or the relevant governmental nor judicial authorities may in the future
interpret the existing laws or regulations with the result that such
Contractual Arrangements would be deemed to be in compliance of the
PRC laws and regulations.

PRC regulations currently limit foreign ownership in PRC companies that
provide value-added telecommunication services (excluding on-line data
processing and transaction processing services, also called operating
e-commerce), which include operating the Internet content platform,
to 50%. In addition, foreigners and wholly-foreign owned enterprises
are currently not eligible to apply for required licenses for operating
the Internet content platform in the PRC (excluding a limited number
of sectors for wholly-foreign owned enterprises located in Shanghai
Free Trade Zone). We are a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands. We and Shenzhen OKG are foreigners and wholly-
foreign owned enterprises under PRC laws and accordingly are ineligible
to apply for the relevant licenses to operate the internet content. In
order to comply with foreign ownership restrictions, we hold our ICP
license and provide internet content through Beijing OKG. As a result of
the Contractual Arrangements, the Group can govern the financial and
operating policies of Beijing OKG and to obtain substantially all economic
benefits from the activities conducted by it. Accordingly, the financial
position and operating results of Beijing OKG are included in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements as if it was the Group’s subsidiary.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(continued)

If the PRC government determines that these
Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG
do not comply with applicable PRC laws and
regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, our
business could be materially and adversely
affected. (continued)

In addition, in July 2006, the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology of the PRC (the “MII”) issued the Notice Strengthening
the Administration of Foreign Investments in Value-added
Telecommunications Services (the “MIl Notice”). The MIl Notice requires
that ICP license holders or their shareholders directly own the domain
names and trademarks used by such ICP license holders in their daily
operations. The MIl Notice further requires each ICP license holder to
have the necessary facilities for its approved business operations and to
maintain such facilities in the regions covered by its license. In addition,
all the value-added telecommunication service providers are required
to maintain network and information security in accordance with the
standards set forth under relevant PRC regulations. The MIl Notice
prohibits ICP license holders from leasing, transferring or selling its ICP
license to any foreign investors in any form, or providing any resource,
sites or facilities to any foreign investors for their illegal operation of
telecommunications business in the PRC. The MIl Notice has imposed
a more stringent regulatory environment on foreign investment in value-
added telecommunication business, which introduces an increased risk
of the Contractual Arrangements being challenged by the relevant PRC
regulatory authorities. Therefore, we cannot rule out the possibility that
the relevant PRC regulatory authorities may require that we unwind the
Contractual Arrangements as a result of their increased attention on
companies such as ours following the introduction of the MIl Notice.

In addition, there are substantial uncertainties regarding the interpretation
and application of current or future PRC laws and regulations.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(continued)

If the PRC government determines that these
Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG
do not comply with applicable PRC laws and
regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, our
business could be materially and adversely
affected. (continued)

If the Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG and its Registered
Shareholders are adjudicated to be in violation of any existing or future
PRC laws or regulations, the relevant regulatory authorities would have
broad discretion in dealing with such violations, including:

° require the nullification of the Contractual Arrangements;
° revoke the ICP license of Beijing OKG;

° require us to discontinue the business operations of Beijing OKG
or place restrictions or onerous conditions on such business

operations;
° shut down our oklink.com website;
° levy fines on us and/or confiscate the proceeds generated from the

operations under the Contractual Arrangements;

° impose additional conditions or requirements which we may not be
able to comply with;

° require us to restructure the relevant ownership structure or
operations; and

° take other regulatory or enforcement actions that could be harmful
to our business.

The imposition of any of the above-mentioned consequences could result
in a material and adverse effect on our ability to conduct our business.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(continued)

Substantial uncertainties exist with respect
to the interpretation and implementation of
the Foreign Investment Law of the PRC (the
“FIL”) and how it may impact the viability of
our current corporate structure, corporate
governance and business operations.

On 15 March 2019, the Standing Committee of National People’s
Congress promulgated the FIL, which became effective on 1 January
2020. However, there remains substantial uncertainties regarding
the interpretation and the implementation of the FIL and the relevant
government authorities may have broad discretion in interpreting the law,
especially, among other things, the nature of contractual arrangements,
the promulgation schedule of both the “negative list” under the FIL
and specific rules regulating the organization form of foreign-invested
enterprises within the five-year transition period.

The contractual arrangements have been adopted by many PRC-based
companies, to obtain necessary licenses and permits in the industries
that are currently subject to foreign investment restrictions in the PRC.
While the FIL and its implementation regulations do not define contractual
arrangements as a form of foreign investment explicitly, we cannot assure
you that future laws and regulations will not provide for contractual
arrangements as a form of foreign investment. Therefore, there can be
no assurance that our control over Beijing OKG through the Contractual
Arrangements will not be deemed as foreign investment in the future.

Our ICP license and the provision of internet content are subject to
foreign investment restrictions or prohibitions and are currently on the
Negative List. If our Contractual Arrangements are deemed as foreign
investment, our Group may not be able to operate Beiing OKG through
the Contractual Arrangements and we would lose our rights to receive
the economic benefits of Beijing OKG. As a result, the financial results of
Beijing OKG would no longer be consolidated into the Group’s financial
results and we would have to derecognise their assets and liabilities
according to the relevant accounting standards. We may recognise an
investment loss as a result of such derecognition.

Report of Directors

EETHRS

FERBEFEERE @

(REAREMEINFGREZE) AT
BEIOMEIREZR)) 2R RERU
REAGEMAIZEXRFARITARR
BEEXEAREHEENATITHS
HEFEETEATHEEL-

RIZZ-—NF=ZRA+HEH 2HARKEKREE
BEEERMUINEREZ) RTEZF—F
—HEEEN AT OINEREZE) ZRERE
DEERETREERZE MR AT sEHE
BEZONBEEREZ A LHE HPa)
BHREIZME OMEREZ)ETZTEHA
B RN AEBEREREIERECEAGT
A2 ARERAEME X

BREPEABBRAGNRH UERRE R
BRFISNEIRETEMDBZRRREFAIRE -
BEOIMERER) REEREO L ERRER S
NZBERERIINBREN—ER L BRAEE
M BETRE BREERRERETIERES
WLBERINBREN BN - AL A5
RERFIZBEHOLHHIERERR Z 5~ 1ZF)
EHRIERERIIERE

HANICPERAEHEBMBENT AR BKEA
PR EE L AR PR R IR HI R B A B o R AIBY
BNZHRRRIIERE  AREERAEREEE
BENRHEELRBENERRRZMARREY
EUIE B R R A o =~ R o UL > IERER
MERZVHEEERTIBRAEBZMBEEA
RS ARKRRMSARBERR S 5 ERBUH

REBRE-

BR ERERERAT
S MFEER

39



40

Report.of Directors
EEEHRES

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(continued)

We may lose the ability to use and enjoy the
benefits of the assets held by Beijing OKG that
are important to the operations of our business
if it goes bankrupt or becomes subject to a
dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

Beijing OKG holds our ICP license that is material to our business
operations. The Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG contain
terms that specifically obligate their Registered Shareholders to ensure
the valid existence of Beijing OKG and that Beiing OKG may not be
voluntarily liquidated. However, should the Registered Shareholders
breach this obligation and voluntarily liquidate Beijing OKG, or should
Beijing OKG declare bankruptcy, the ICP license may be revoked and
its assets may become subject to liens or rights of third-party creditors,
we may be unable to continue some or all of our business operations in
the PRC, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Company and the Group during the Year are set out in Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements of this Report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the Year in the share capital of the Company
are set out in Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements of this
Report. No new share has been issued by the Company during the year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are set
out in the section headed “Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity”
of this Report.

As at 31 March 2024, the Company has reserves available of
approximately HK$72.9 million (as at 31 March 2023: approximately
HK$79.6 million).
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of this
Report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Ren Yunan (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zhang Chao

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tang Yue
Mr. Pu Xiaojiang

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Zhouxin

Mr. Lee Man Chiu

Mr. Jiang Guoliang

Pursuant to the Article 108 of the Amended and Restated Articles of
Association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”), at each
annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if
their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest
to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Mr. Tang Yue, Mr. Lee Man Chiu and Mr. Jiang Guoliang will retire by
rotation from the Board in accordance with Article 108 of the Articles of
Association at the forthcoming 2024 annual general meeting (the “2024
AGM”).

CHANGE IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in the
information of the Directors during the Year and up to the date of this
Report are as follows:

(@  Mr. Tang Yue has been appointed as a director of OKC with effect
from 10 April 2024.

(b)  The annual remuneration of the following Director has been revised
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Mr. Zhang Chao 2,636

SRIBITE

Save as disclosed in this Report, there is no other information that is
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
BY INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules, and the Company considers each of the independent
non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

As at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors, including those to be
re-elected at the 2024 AGM, has a service contract which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without the payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2024.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company and their respective associates in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
C3 of the Listing Rules, were as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (continued)

Long positions in the shares of associated
corporation of the Company

E
18
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Approximate
percentage of

Number of interest in
Shares held associated
Name of Capacity/ Position in associated corporation
Name of Director associated corporation Nature of Interests (Long/short) corporation (Note 2)
Bfi RiEGEE  RREEE R
EENA HECEE R TR g/ eEtE (F8/%8) RHENRMEE BRI WiH2)
Mr. Tang Yue Mo 7 OKC Holdings Corporation Interest of a controlled Long 8,578,654 7.39%
corporation ordinary shares
RS W) OKC Holdings Corporation REFAEER HE 8,578,6545% 7.39%
Notes: g3
1) Mr. Tang Yue is deemed or taken to be interested in 8,578,654 shares of (1) A R E 2 E A BPurple Mountain Holding Ltd.
OKG, the substantial shareholder of the Company, by virtue of the fact that his RARNB Z FERREOKC3,898,103/% & 3@ %
wholly-owned company, Purple Mountain Holding Ltd., holds direct interest in 3,068,40008 & F R FB LA 1,612,142 SR E
3,898,108 ordinary shares, 3,068,409 series seed preferred shares and 1,612,142 {B0.0001 =T ZA-1BwmEBAKRPIHFEEEER  EE
series A-1 preferred shares of par value of USD0.0001 each of OKC, representing HROKCE BT AL7.39% MR AIEEER
approximately 7.39% of the total issued share capital of OKC. Each series seed OKCHI8,578,654 & R A R e - ST RIE
preferred share and series A-1 preferred share could be convertible into one SR RA B ER A —RZER
ordinary share.
Thus, Mr. Tang Yue is deemed or taken to be interested in approximately 7.39% RHit RBEFSFRPE CEHAEWRAN
of the shares in OKC, an associated corporation of the Company pursuant to the WEER AR E) 2 EEH /f OKC HRRDFERD
SFO. 7.39%x ©
©) As at 31 March 2024, the total number of issued shares of the Company was  (2) RIZZOF=A=+—8B AARAZB&ETR?%

5,370,510,000 shares.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executive of
the Company or any of their associates had, or were deemed to hold,
any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code as at 31 March 2024.

#881735,370,510,0008% ©
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
AND OTHERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2024, so far as was known to the Directors, the following
persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) held
interests in the relevant securities (as defined under Note 4 to Rule 22 of
the Takeovers Code), or had interests or short positions in the Shares and
underlying Shares which are required to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to

1

A R E L

A — 5B

\TETME=ZRA=+—H > MEFFRM T
AL WFEFEHAABEBTEAL) AR
B (EERWHETRIRR22EE ) FE#E
FR RN RBRERD T HEREES AR
BISEXVER 5252353 BR 5 SR A 4 B 2 82 BY 1
DK B > RBLBNRAERDRBESKRAE

155 553361R AF EME L MAR DI AN

K

%l)::

Section 336 of the SFO, were as follows: S e
Approximately
Number of percentage
Capacity/ Position Shares held/ of the total
Name of Shareholder Nature of Interests (Long/Short) interested issued shares
B HE/BAEG HE&TkRG
BRMES, 4R afn/ Eamntg (138 %R) EUE G BYBAEAL
OKGC Holdings Corporation "o (W a Beneficial owner Long 3,904,925,001 72.711%
OKC Holdings Corporation (% BaEAA #aE
Mr. Xu Mingxing "o (” Interests in a controlled corporation Long 3,904,925,001 72.711%
REBE K w0 REfEET "E
Notes: Vg

(1) Mr. Xu Mingxing (‘Mr. Xu”) is deemed to be interested in the 3,904,925,001
shares of the Company held by OKC pursuant to the SFO. Mr. Xu holds an
aggregate interest of approximately 74.01% in OKC through: (i) his wholly-owned
companies named OKEM Services Company Limited and StarXu Capital Limited
(“StarXu Capital”), which holds a direct interest in OKC of approximately 43.89%
and 29.26%, respectively; and (i) SKY CHASER HOLDINGS LIMITED (“SKY
CHASER”) in which StarXu Capital has an interest of approximately 73.52%. As
SKY CHASER directly holds approximately 1.17% interest in OKC, accordingly,
Mr. Xu holds approximately 0.86% indirect interest of OKC through SKY CHASER.

2) As at 31 March 2024, the total number of issued shares of the Company was
5,370,510,000 shares.

Save as disclosed above, no other person (other than the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company) held any interests or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO or according to information available to the Company as at 31 March
2024.
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PLEDGE OF SHARES BY
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

During the Year, the Group did not have any pledge of shares by
controlling shareholder.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this Report, at no time during the Year
were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in
or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their respective
spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company and any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors, or their respective
spouse or children under 18 years of age, to acquire such rights in any
other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement and contract of significance, to which
the Company, any of its subsidiaries, its parent company, or its parent
company’s subsidiaries were a party, and in which a Director and entity
connected to a Director had a material interest, whether directly and
indirectly, subsisted as at 31 March 2024 or any time during the Year, nor
was there any other transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
in relation to the Group’s business between the Company or any of
the Company’s subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.8 of the Corporate Governance Code as
set out Appendix C1 (the “CG Code”) of the Listing Rules and subject
to the provisions of the Companies Ordinance, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has maintained appropriate directors and officers liability
insurance and such permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the
Directors currently in force.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier and the five largest suppliers in aggregate accounted for 23.3%
and 61.5% respectively of the Group’s total purchases for the Year.
Revenue attributable to the Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers in aggregate accounted for 50.9% and 77.1% respectively of
the Group’s total revenue for the Year.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had any material beneficial interest in the
Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH
EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

Employees

The Group recognises employees as its valuable assets. The Group
provides competitive remuneration package to attract, motivate and retain
appropriate and suitable personnel to serve the Group. The Group has
also adopted an annual review system to assess the performance of its
staff, which forms the basis of the Group’s decisions with respect to salary
raises and promotions.

Customers

A majority of the Group’s five largest customers have good business
relationship with the Group and the Group will therefore endeavor to
accommodate their demands for the Group’s services to the extent its
resources allow in order to capture more opportunities for larger scale
projects in the future. The Group’s experience as a quality subcontractor
in handling foundation works also give business advantage to the Group’s
customers to ensure projects are executive in accordance with their
quality standard.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH
EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS (continued)

Suppliers and subcontractors

The Group encompasses working relationships with suppliers and
subcontractors to mest the Group’s customers’ needs in an effective
and efficient manner. The Group has set up an approved list of suppliers
and it selects the suppliers from the list based on the quality of materials,
timeliness of delivery, previous experience and length of partnership with
the supplier, competitiveness of the price offered and reputation of the
supplier.

Subject to the Group’s capacity, resources level, types of construction
works, cost effectiveness and complexity of the projects, the Group may
subcontract certain works to other subcontractors. The Group maintains
an internal list of approved subcontractors and carefully evaluate the
performance of its subcontractors and selects them based on the
experience, quality of works, timeliness of completion for past projects,
reputation in the industry, past performances, cost and the Group’s
relationship with them.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules throughout the
financial period under review and up to date of this report.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION
OF THE COMPANY'’S LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Year and up to the date of this Report, none of the Directors
are considered to have interests in a business which competes or is likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 12 August 2015. The terms of the Share Option Scheme
are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
A summary of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are as

follows: —

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The main purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to motivate eligible
participants to optimise their performance efficiency for the benefit of the
Company and to attract and to retain the best available personnel.

Participants of the Share Option Scheme

Under the Share Option Scheme, the directors of the Company may at
their absolute discretion and subject to the terms of the Scheme, grant
options to any employees (full-time or part-time), directors, substantial
shareholders, consultants or advisors, distributors, contractors, suppliers,
agents, customers, business partners or service providers of the Group,
to subscribe for shares of the Company. The eligibility of any participant
to the grant of any options shall be determined by the directors from time
to time on the basis of the directors’ opinion as to their contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
Maximum number of Shares available for issue

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not in aggregate exceed
the maximum number of shares permissible under the Listing Rules,
currently being 10% of the total number of shares in issue as at the date
of the 12 August 2015 (being 5,262,000,000 ordinary shares).

Maximum entitlement of each eligible
participant

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share Option
Scheme must not, during any 12-month period, exceed the maximum
number of shares permissible under the Listing Rules (which 1% of the
total number of shares in issue as at the date of the 12 August 2015,
being 526,200,000 ordinary shares).

Acceptance of options

The offer of a grant of share options might be accepted in writing within 7
days from the date of the offer. An option may be exercised in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period
as the directors may determine which shall not exceed ten years from
the date of grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof. A
nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of
an option with a remittance in favour of the Company within such time as
may be specified in the offer (which shall not be later than 7 days from the
date of the offer).

Exercise price

The exercise price shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing price
of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant; and (i) the average of the closing prices of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for
the five (5) business days immediately preceding the date of grant. The
exercise period of share option granted under the Share Option Scheme
is determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, and shall expire
no later than the 10th anniversary of date on which the share option is
granted.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
Duration of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten
(10) years from the date of the adoption unless otherwise terminated in
accordance with the terms stipulated therein.

During the Year, no option of the Company was granted, exercised,
cancelled or lapsed. As at the date of this Report, there was no
outstanding share options under the Share Option Scheme. The total
number of shares available for grant by the Company under the Share
Option Scheme as at 1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 was 195,100,000
shares, which represents approximately 3.63% of the Company’s issued
shares as at 31 March 2024.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this Report relating to the Share Option Scheme, no
equity-linked agreement was entered into for the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association and the laws of Cayman Islands.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefits schemes are set out in Note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements of this Report.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to approximately HK$492,000 (2023: approximately
HK$174,000).
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EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of our Group are set out in Note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements of this Report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

Remuneration Committee is set up for reviewing the Group’s emolument
policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior
management of the Group, having regard to the Group’s operating results,
individual performance of the Directors and senior management and
comparable market practices.

The Company has adopted Share Option Scheme as incentive to eligible
employees, details of the schemes are set out in the section headed
“Share Option Scheme” of this Report.

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Shenzhen OKG has entered into a series of contractual arrangements (the
“Contractual Arrangements”) with Beijing OKG, pursuant to which the
Company would gain effective control over, and receive all the economic
benefits generated by, the businesses operated by Beijing OKG.

The principal businesses of Beijing OKG is engaged in the provision
of internet content, the value-added telecommunications services
and holding the ICP license which businesses are either restricted
or prohibited for foreign investment in accordance with the Special
Administrative Measures (Negative List) for Foreign Investment Access
(the “Negative List”). Beiing OKG is significant to the Group as it holds
the requisite licenses, approvals and permits that are material for the
Group’s business in the PRC, including the ICP license.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
(continued)

Information on the Contractual Entities and
their Registered Owners

Beijing OKG was established as a limited liability company in the PRC
on 23 April 2019. The registered shareholders of Beijing OKG were
Ms. Luo Min and Mr. Li Guangpeng, holding 99% and 1% of its interest,
respectively. On 21 April 2020, Ms. Luo Min and Mr. Li Guangpeng
transferred all their interests in Beijing OKG to Mr. Ren Yudong and
Ms. Xi Ling. Mr. Ren Yudong and Ms. Xi Ling, holding 99% and 1% of its
interest, became the new registered shareholders of Beijing OKG (Ms. Luo
Min, Mr. Li Guangpeng, Mr. Ren Yudong and Ms. Xi Ling, collectively, the
“Registered Shareholders”).

Through the Contractual Arrangements, the results of operations and
assets and liabilities of Beiing OKG are consolidated into the results of
operations and assets and liabilities of the Company under HKFRS as if it
was subsidiary of the Group.

Beijing OKG has not yet generated revenue during the year ended
31 March 2024, and its total assets as at 31 March 2024 was
approximately HK$160,000 (31 March 2023: approximately HK$212,000).

Summary of the Contractual Arrangements

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement

Shenzhen OKG and Beijing OKG entered into an exclusive business
cooperation agreement (the “Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement”) on 23 April 2019 pursuant to which Beijing OKG
agreed to engage Shenzhen OKG as its exclusive provider to provide
Beijing OKG with technical consultation and services, including but not
limited to, network information technology management and support,
technical consultation, promotion planning and market promotion,
technology and software research and development, management
consultancy necessary for the operations of Beijing OKG and Beijing OKG
agreed to pay service fees to Shenzhen OKG according to the Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement. Without the prior written consent of
Shenzhen OKG, during the term of the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreements, Beijing OKG shall not directly or indirectly accept from any
third party services which are the same or similar to the services under the
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
(continued)

Summary of the Contractual Arrangements
(continued)

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement (continued)

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements may be terminated by
Shenzhen OKG by giving Beijing OKG 30 days prior written notice of
termination and shall be terminated upon the transfer of the entire equity
interests in Beijing OKG to Shenzhen OKG or its designated person
pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement.

Exclusive Option Agreement

On 28 April 2019 and 21 April 2020, Shenzhen OKG, Beijing OKG and
the Registered Shareholders entered into the exclusive option agreement
(the “Exclusive Option Agreement”) pursuant to which Shenzhen OKG
has the irrevocable, unconditional and exclusive right to purchase, or to
designate one or more persons/entities to purchase, from the Registered
Shareholders all or any part of their equity interests in Beiing OKG and
from Beijing OKG all or any part of the assets of Beiing OKG at any time
in Shenzhen OKG’s absolute discretion in accordance with the provision
of the Exclusive Option Agreement and to the extent permitted by the
PRC laws and regulations. The consideration in relation to purchasing
shares or assets from the Registered Shareholders shall be RMB1 or the
lowest price as permitted under the applicable PRC laws and regulations.

The rights may be exercised at any time within effective period of the
Exclusive Option Agreement. The Exclusive Option Agreement became
effective upon execution and shall remain effective during the continuance
of Beijing OKG. The Exclusive Option Agreement shall be terminated upon
the transfer of the entire equity interests in Beijing OKG to Shenzhen OKG
or its designated person pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
(continued)

Summary of the Contractual Arrangements
(continued)

Equity Pledge Agreements

On 23 April 2019 and 21 April 2020, Shenzhen OKG, Beijing OKG and
the Registered Shareholders entered into the Equity Pledge Agreement
(the “Equity Pledge Agreement’) pursuant to which the Registered
Shareholders granted a first priority of security interest in their respective
interests in the registered capitals of Beijing OKG as collateral security
for securing the performance of their obligations under the Contractual
Arrangements or for any and all of the secured indebtedness under the
Contractual Arrangements. During the pledge period, Shenzhen OKG is
entitled to receive any dividends arising from the equity interests in Beijing
OKG held by the Registered Shareholders.

The Equity Pledge Agreements shall remain effective until all the
agreements (other than the Equity Pledge Agreements) underlying the
Contractual Arrangements have been terminated.

Power of Attorney

On 23 April 2019 and 21 April 2020, Shenzhen OKG and the Registered
Shareholders executed a power of attorney (the “Power of Attorney”),
pursuant to which the Registered Shareholders irrevocably authorised
Shenzhen OKG to exercise their shareholders’ rights in Beijing OKG,
including without limitation, the rights to () attend shareholders’ meetings,
(i) exercise voting rights, (i) appoint directors, supervisors and senior
management, (iv) sign and file documents with relevant governmental
authorities or regulatory bodies, and (v) authorise to exercise any of the
shareholders’ rights on the winding-up or dissolution of Beijing OKG.

The Power of Attorney became effective upon execution and shall remain
effective during the continuance of Beijing OKG. It shall be terminated
unilaterally by Shenzhen OKG by giving prior notice.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
(continued)

Summary of the Contractual Arrangements
(continued)

Spouse Undertakings

The spouse of each of the Registered Shareholders, where applicable,
has signed an undertaking on 23 April 2019 and 21 April 2020 (the
“Spouse Undertakings”). Pursuant to the Spouse Undertakings, each of
the spouses of the Registered Shareholders irrevocably undertakes that:

(i) the spouse has been made fully aware of and unconditionally
and irrevocably consented to the entering into the Contractual
Arrangements among the respective Registered Shareholders,
Shenzhen OKG and Beijing OKG;

(ii) the spouse will not claim any interests or rights in the equity of
Beijing OKG and the Registered Shareholder shall be entitled to
dispose of the equity interests in accordance with the Contractual
Arrangements without his/her consent;

(i) the spouse shall be bound by the Contractual Arrangements and
take all necessary actions to ensure the appropriate implementation
of the Contractual Arrangements; and

(iv) in the event that the spouse obtains any interests in Beijing OKG,
he/she will be subject to and abide by the terms of the Contractual
Arrangements as if he/she was a signing party to such Contractual
Arrangements, and at the request of Shenzhen OKG, he/she will
sign any documents in the form and substance consistent with the
Contractual Arrangements.

Reasons for adopting the Contractual
Arrangements

The Company and its indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary, Shenzhen OKG,
as foreign investors, are prohibited from holding equity interests in the
Beijing OKG, which provides internet content and holds ICP license for
which foreign investment is prohibited or restricted. In order to conduct
the business in China through Beijing OKG, the Group, through its
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary, Shenzhen OKG, entered into the
Contractual Arrangements.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
(continued)

Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are certain risks that are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements, including:

(i) The Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in providing
operational control as direct ownership. Beijing OKG or its
Registered Shareholders may fail to perform their obligations under
the Contractual Arrangements.

(ii) If the PRC government determines that these Contractual
Arrangements with Beijing OKG do not comply with applicable
PRC laws and regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, our business could be
materially and adversely affected.

(i) Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation
and implementation of the Foreign Investment Law of the PRC (the
“FIL" (P E AR HEMEINFIRE L)) and how it may impact the
viability of our current corporate structure, corporate governance
and business operations.

(iv)  We may lose the ability to use and enjoy the benefits of the assets
held by Beijing OKG that are important to the operations of our
business if it goes bankrupt or becomes subject to a dissolution or
liquidation proceeding.

For further details, please refer to the section headed “Key Risks And
Uncertainties” of this Report.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
(continued)

Actions taken by the Group to mitigate the
risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

The Group has adopted following measures to ensure the effective
operation of the Group with the implementation of the Contractual
Arrangements and the Group’s compliance with the Contractual
Arrangements:

(i) major issues arising from the implementation of and compliance
with the Contractual Arrangements or any regulatory enquiries from
government authorities will be submitted to our Board, if necessary,
for review and discussion as and when they arise;

(ii) the relevant business units and operation divisions of the Group
will report regularly, to the senior management of the Company
in relation to compliance and performance conditions under the
Contractual Arrangements and other related matters;

(i)  External legal advisers or other professional advisers will be
engaged, if necessary, to assist the Board to deal with specific
issues arising from the Contractual Arrangements and to ensure
that the operation and implementation of the Contractual
Arrangements as a whole will comply with applicable laws and
regulations;

(iv)  the Board (including the independent non-executive Directors) will
ensure that Beijing OKG shall retain and continue to hold all relevant
intellectual properties, required for the purpose of maintaining and
renewing its operating licenses and permits as required by relevant
PRC government authorities, and going forward and to the extent
permissible under PRC laws and regulations;

(v)  the Board (including the independent non-executive Directors) will
ensure the Contractual Arrangements had been entered into in
the ordinary and usual course of business of our Group, are on
normal commercial terms and are fair and reasonable so far as our
Group is concerned, and in the interest of our Company and its
Shareholders as a whole; and

(v  independent non-executive Directors will continue to play
an independent role on the Board by reviewing the effective
implementation of the procedures and controls referred to above
and compliance with the Contractual Arrangements.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group’s operations at work sites are subject to certain environmental
requirements pursuant to the laws in Hong Kong. The laws and
regulations which have a significant impact on the Group include, among
others, Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), Air Pollution Control (Non-road Mobile Machinery) (Emission)
Regulation (Chapter 311Z of the Laws of Hong Kong), Noise Control
Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Water Pollution
Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Waste
Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Disposal
(Charges for Disposal of Construction Waste) Regulation, Dumping at Sea
Ordinance (Chapter 466 of the Laws of Hong Kong, Environmental Impact
Assessment Ordinance (Chapter 499 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
Boilers and Pressure Vessels Ordinance (Chapter 56 of the Laws of Hong
Kong).

In order to comply with the applicable environmental protection
laws, we had implemented an environmental management system
which was certified to be in compliance with the standard required
under 1SO14001:2004. Apart from following the environmental
protection policies formulated and required by our customers, we
have also established our environmental management policy to ensure
proper management of environmental protection and compliance of
environmental laws and regulations by both our employees and workers
of the subcontractors on among others, air pollution, noise control and
waste disposal.

During the Year, our Group did not record any non-compliance with
applicable environmental requirements that resulted in prosecution or
penalty being brought against our Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” of this Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

During the Year under review, there was no material breach or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operation of Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established with written terms of reference which are in line with the CG
Code and comprises three independent non-executive Directors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2024.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
have been audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited who will retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for
their re-appointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming 2024 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Ren Yunan

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
Hong Kong, China

27 June 2024
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EXERHRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Board of the Company is committed to upholding a high standard
of corporate governance practices and business ethics in the firm belief
that they are crucial to improving the efficiency and performance of the
Group and to safeguarding the interests of the Shareholders. The Board
reviews the Company’s corporate governance practices from time to
time in order to meet the expectations of stakeholders and comply with
increasingly stringent regulatory requirements, and to fulfill its commitment
to excellence in corporate governance.

During the Year, to the best knowledge of the Board, the Company has
applied the principles of and complied with the applicable code provisions
of the CG Code contained therein except for the following deviations:

The code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

Mr. Ren Yunan serves as an executive Director, the chairman of the Board
(the “Chairman”) as well as the chief executive officer of the Company
(the “Chief Executive Officer”). The Board believes that vesting the roles
of both Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in the same person provides
the Company with strong and consistent leadership, allows for effective
and efficient planning and implementation of business decisions and
strategies, and is beneficial to the business prospects and management
of the Group. Although Mr. Ren performs both the roles of Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer, the division of responsibilities between the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer is clearly established. These two
roles are performed by Mr. Ren distinctly.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Management Functions

It is the responsibility of the Board to determine the appropriate corporate
governance practices applicable to the Company’s circumstances and to
ensure processes and procedures are in place to achieve the Company’s
corporate governance objectives.

The duties of the Board in performing its corporate governance functions
under the CG Code include:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendation to the Board;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the Company;

S8 to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors of
the Company; and

5 to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclose in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” in
this Report.

The Company continues to review and enhance its corporate governance
practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

Roles and Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, oversees
the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business and performance.
The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-day
management and operation of the Group to the senior management
of the Group. It also gives clear directions as to the powers of senior
management, in particular, with respect to the circumstances where
senior management must report back and obtain prior approval from
the Board before making decisions or entering into any commitments on
behalf of the Company. These arrangements are reviewed periodically
to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Company.
To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has
established three Board committees including the Audit Committee,
the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and
the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) (together,
the “Board Committees”). The Board has delegated to the Board
Committees’ responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board Composition

As at the date of this Report, the Board currently consists of two
executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors.

The Board comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors
Mr. Ren Yunan (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zhang Chao

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tang Yue
Mr. Pu Xiaojiang

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Zhouxin

Mr. Lee Man Chiu

Mr. Jiang Guoliang

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this Report.

As at the date of this Report, to the best knowledge of the Board, there is
no financial, business or family relationship among members of the Board.

Board Independence

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its
efficient and effective functioning. Independent non-executive Directors
are invited to serve on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board Independence (continued)

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure that independent views
are available to the Board. During the Year, the Board also reviewed and
considered the mechanisms in place to ensure independent views and
input are available to the Board. These mechanisms include:

. the Board ensures the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors and at least one-third of its members being
independent non-executive Directors (or such higher threshold as
may be required by the Listing Rules from time to time), with at least
one Independent Non-executive Director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise. Further, independent non-executive
Directors will be appointed to Board Committees as required under
the Listing Rules and as far as practicable to ensure independent
views are available;

° the Nomination Committee strictly adheres to the Nomination Policy
(as defined below) and Board Diversity Policy (as defined below)
with regard to the nomination and appointment of independent
non-executive Directors, and is mandated to assess annually the
independence of independent non-executive Directors to ensure
that they can continually exercise independent judgments;

° the Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are
entitled to obtain further information from the management on the
various matters to be discussed at Board meetings and, where
necessary, independent advice from external professional advisers
at the Company'’s expense; and

. the Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors. The
Company is of the view that all of the independent non-executive
Directors meet the guidelines for assessing independence as set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers them to be
independent.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board Independence (continued)

The independent non-executive Directors are considered by the Board to
be independent of the management and free of any relationship that could
materially interfere with the exercise of their independent judgments. The
Board considers that each of the independent non-executive Directors
brings their own relevant expertise to the Board and its deliberations.
None of the independent non-executive Directors has any business or
financial interests with the Group nor do they have any relationship with
other Directors.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Board, led by the Chairman, sets the overall direction, strategy and
policies of the Company.

Presently, Mr. Ren Yunan serves as an executive Director, the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer. He is responsible for formulating
corporative and business strategies and making major operational
decisions. With the support of the executive Directors and the Company
Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly
briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and received adequate and
reliable information in a timely manner.

Appointment, Re-election and Retirement

In accordance with Article 108 of the Article of Association, one-third
of the Directors will retire from office by rotation for re-election by
shareholders at the general meeting and every Director is subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Furthermore,
in accordance with Article 112 of the Article of Association, any new
appointment to the Board is subject to re-appointment by shareholders at
the next following general meeting.

The non-executive Directors (as well as all other Directors) are not
appointed for any specific terms according to their service of contracts
and/or letters of appointment. However, they are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election once every three years in accordance with the
Articles of Association.

Mr. Tang Yue, Mr. Lee Man Chiu and Mr. Jiang Guoliang are due to retire
by rotation from the Board in accordance with Article 108 of the Articles
of Association at the forthcoming 2024 AGM. The retiring Directors, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions with terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules.

Having made specific enquiries of the Directors, each of the Directors has
confirmed that he has complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code during the Year and up to the date of this Report.

Supply of and Access to Information

For regular Board meetings, and Board committee meetings, the agenda
and accompanying Board papers are sent in full to all Directors or Board
committees members at least three (3) days before the intended date of a
Board meeting and Board committee meetings.

The Directors may seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses. The Company will, upon
request, provide separate independent professional advice to the
Directors to assist the relevant Directors to discharge their duties to the
Company.

The Board is supplied with relevant information by the senior management
pertaining to matters to be brought before the Board for decision as well
as reports relating to operational and financial performance of the Group
before each Board meeting. Where any Director requires more additional
information from the management (other than the management provide
proactively), each Director has the right to access to the Company’s
senior management separately and independently to make further
enquiries if necessary.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Directors’ Training

Each newly appointed Director shall receive formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations
under the common law, the Listing Rules, legal and other relevant
statutory requirements and the Company’s business and governance
policies.

Directors are continuously updated on the statutory and regulatory
regime and the business environment to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities. Directors are also encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. The Company Secretary shall update the Directors on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements from time to time, to ensure compliance and enhance their
awareness of good corporate governance practices.

As at the date of this Report, all Directors have participated in appropriate
continuous professional training to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills in relation to their contribution to the Board.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Directors’ Training (continued)

During the Year, the Directors have participated in the continuous
professional development and the details are set out below:
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board Proceedings

The Board has four scheduled Board meetings during the Year. Additional
meetings would be arranged as required.

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in drawing the agenda of
each meeting and each Director may request inclusion of matters in the
agenda. Generally, at least 14 days’ notice of a regular Board mesting
is given and the Company aims at giving reasonable notice for all other
Board meetings. The Company also aims at sending the agenda and the
accompanying board papers, which are prepared in such form and quality
as will enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed
before it, to all Directors at a reasonable time before the intended date of
a Board meeting.

All Directors have accessed to the Company Secretary who is responsible
for ensuring that Board procedures are complied with and all applicable
rules and regulations are followed.

The Company Secretary is responsible for taking minutes of Board and
Board Committee meetings, drafting and final versions of which would be
sent to Directors for comments and records respectively, in both cases
within a reasonable time after each meeting. Minutes are recorded in
sufficient detail the matters as considered by the Board and decisions
reached, including any concerns raised by Directors or dissenting views
(if any) expressed. Minutes of the Board and Board Committees meetings
are kept by the Company Secretary and are opened for inspection by any
Director or Board Committee member.

If a substantial shareholder of the Company or a Director has a conflict
of interest in a matter (including material transaction with connected
persons) which the Board has determined this matter to be material, a
Board meeting will be held instead of by way of resolution. Independent
non-executive Directors, who have no material interest in the transaction
should be present at the Board meeting.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board Proceedings (continued)

Attendance records

During the Year, a total of four Board meetings and a general meeting
have been held and the attendance records are as follows:
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CORPORATE STRATEGY, BUSINESS
MODEL AND CULTURE

The Board has established the Group’s purpose, value and strategy, and
is satisfied that these are aligned with its corporate culture. The Directors
have acted with integrity, led by examples, and promoted the desired
culture and value across the Group.

During the Year, the Group has adopted anti-corruption policy and code
of conduct (the “Anti-Corruption Policy”) and whistleblowing policy (the
“Whistleblowing Policy”) to provide the platforms for reporting issues
and concerns on any misconduct, and to uphold business integrity in
the operations. These two policies are the core of establishing a healthy
corporate culture and promoting high ethical standards in the Group.
The Group will continuously oversee the day-to-day implementation of
these policies, and consider and approve changes to these policies, if
necessary. The Group believes that a healthy corporate culture is very
important for good corporate governance, which is essential for achieving
the long-terms success and fostering the sustainability of the Group.

Details of the Group’s strategy, business and financial review in the
Year are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this Report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises three members, namely Mr. Li Zhouxin

(the chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr. Lee Man Chiu and

Mr. Jiang Guoliang, all of them are independent non-executive Directors.

The main responsibilities of Nomination Committee shall be:

to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships;

to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee takes

into account various aspects as well as the factors concerning the Board

diversity as set out in the board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity

Policy”), as follows:

Board Diversity Policy

@

(i1)

Purpose
This policy aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the
Board of Directors.

Vision
The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

Board Diversity Policy (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Policy Statement

A truly diverse board includes and makes good use of differences
in the skills, regional and industry experience, background, race,
gender and other qualities of directors. These differences have been
taken into account in determining the optimum composition of the
Board. All Board appointments are based on merit while taking into
account diversity (including gender diversity).

Measurable Objectives

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually
measurable objectives for implementing diversity on the Board and
recommend them to the Board for adoption.

The Company aims to build and maintain a Board with a diversity
of Directors, in terms of skills, experience, knowledge, expertise,
culture, independence, age and gender.

Monitoring and Reporting

The Nomination Committee will report annually, in the “Corporate
Governance Report”, on the Board’s composition under diversified
perspectives, and monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy.

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development,

the Company believes increasing diversity at the Board level is an

important element in achieving its strategic objectives and its sustainable

development.

When determining the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been

considered from a number of perspectives including, but not limited

to, gender, age, culture and educational background, ethnicity, skills,

language, background, education knowledge, industry experience

and professional experience. All Board appointments will be based on

meritocracy and candidates will be considered against objective criteria,

having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Nomination Committee (continued)

Board Diversity Policy (continued)

The Board has actively identified individuals that are suitable and
qualified to become Board members to fulfill the Board Diversity Policy
and enhance gender diversity on the Board. As to develop a pipeline of
potential successors for the Board, the Company will also proactively
provide internal trainings to our senior management and will take into
account the factor of gender diversity when accessing suitable candidates
for our senior management in the future.

The Company may also engage with recruitment agencies to identify
potential successors for the Board and enhance gender diversity in the
coming years, if necessary.

As at 31 March 2024, the Board comprised seven male Directors, and the
percentage of male and female employees of the Group are approximately
65% and 35% respectively. While the Board has a domination of male
composition, the Company will appoint at least one female director on
or before 31 December 2024 to achieve a female representation in the
Board in compliance with Listing Rules.

The Board considers that the Group’s workforce (including Directors) are
diverse in terms of gender. The Group will continue to apply the principle
of appointments based on merits with reference to the Board Diversity
Policy as a whole, and we have also taken, and will continue to take steps
to promote gender diversity at all levels of our Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted a nomination policy which sets out the following

nomination procedures, criteria and process in the nomination and

appointment of Directors (the “Nomination Policy”).

1.

Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee shall consider the following criteria
in evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships (the
“Selection Criteria”):

character and integrity;

qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy;

willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as
a Board member and other directorships and significant
commitments;

requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules (as amended from time
to time) and whether the candidates would be considered
independent with reference to the independence guidelines
set out in the Listing Rules;

Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Company for achieving diversity on the
Board; and

such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Nomination Committee (continued)

Nomination Policy (continued)
2. Directors Nomination Procedures

The Board has the relevant procedures for Directors’ nomination
which are pursuant to the Listing Rules and the Articles of
Association as below:

(@) Appointment of New Director(s)

(i) the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new
director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out in the Selection Criteria
to determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship;

(ii) if the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall rank
them by order of preference based on the needs of
the Company and reference check of each candidate
(where applicable);

(i) the Nomination Committee shall make recommendation
to the Board in respect of the appointment of
appropriate candidate for directorship; and

(iv)  for any person that is nominated by a shareholder
for election as a director at the general meeting of
the Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board shall evaluate such candidate based on the
criteria as set out in the Selection Criteria to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship and
where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or
the Board shall make recommendation to shareholders
in respect of the proposed election of director at the
general meeting.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

Nomination Policy (continued)

2.

Directors Nomination Procedures (continued)

(b)  Re-election of Director(s) at General Meeting

(i) the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall
review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director including his/her
attendance of Board meetings and, where applicable,
general meetings, and the level of participation and
performance on the Board;

(ii) the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall
also review and determine whether the retiring
director continues to meet the criteria as set out in the
Selection Criteria; and

(i) the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall
then make recommendation to shareholders in respect
of the proposed re-election of director at the general
meeting.

Based on the formalised process and procedures of nominating a
director regulated under the Nomination Policy, the management
team led by the Chairman will identify a wide and diverse range of
candidates from various backgrounds that would be attributable
to the business needs and carry out a due diligence on the
candidates. A comprehensive review will be presented to the
Nomination Committee members who will further discuss and
assess the suitability of the candidates against a range of criteria
from an independent perspective in accordance with the Board
Diversity Policy, and make recommendation to the Board.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the
qualifications, experience, background and the core competencies
in the field of relevant industry knowledge of the Directors in
accordance with the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity
Policy. The Nomination Committee and the Board are satisfied that
the Board has appropriate mix of diverse, experience and skills, and
recommend the Shareholders to re-elect Mr. Tang Yue, Mr. Lee Man
Chiu and Mr. Jiang Guoliang as Directors at the forthcoming 2024
AGM.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Nomination Committee (continued)

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting. The
attendance records of each member of the Nomination Committee are set
out below:

Nomination Committee

RREEE
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Committee Meetings Attended/
Eligible to Attend
HE HeEREEZEERERNRY

Mr. Li Zhouxin (Chairman)
EEMEE (F/E)

Mr. Lee Man Chiu
EXBEE

Mr. Jiang Guoliang
BERSEE

During the Year, the Nomination Committee has (i) reviewed the size,
structure and composition of the Board; (i) reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy; (iii) reviewed the director
nomination procedures of the Company; (iv) reviewed terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee; (v) assessed the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors; and (vi) reviewed the re-election of
retiring Directors at the annual general meeting of the Company held on
22 September 2023 (the “2023 AGM”).

During the Year, the Nomination Committee was provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties and responsibilities and at the Company’s
expense to seek independent professional advice, where and when
necessary.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, namely
Mr. Lee Man Chiu (the chairman of the Remuneration Committee),
Mr. Li Zhouxin and Mr. Jiang Guoliang, all of them are independent
non-executive Directors.

The main responsibilities of Remuneration Committee shall be:

o to consult the chairman of the Board and/or chief executive about
their remuneration proposals for other executive Directors. The
Remuneration Committee should have access to independent
professional advice if necessary;

° to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy;

° to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

o to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management.
This should, include benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment;

° to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

° to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Company and its subsidiaries;

° to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors
and senior management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms
and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

° to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they
are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable
and appropriate;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Remuneration Committee (continued)

° to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in
deciding his/her own remuneration;

° to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may
from time to time be contained in the memorandum and Articles of
Association or imposed by the Listing Rules or applicable laws; and

° to review and/or approve matters relating to shares schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee may consult the Chairman about their
proposals relating to the remuneration of other executive Directors. The
Remuneration Committee takes into consideration industry practices and
norms in compensation, in addition to the performance relative to the
industry and the performance of the individual Directors. The Company
reviews the remuneration package annually taking into consideration
of the market practice, competitive market position and individual
performance.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting. The
attendance records of each member of the Remuneration Committee are
set out below:

Remuneration Committee

HINEEE
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Committee Meeting Attended/
Eligible to Attend
HE HMEeEREEZESERNRY

Mr. Lee Man Chiu (Chairman)
EXBBEE (FF)

Mr. Li Zhouxin

ETEMEE

Mr. Jiang Guoliang
BERSEE

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee has (i) reviewed performed
by the Remuneration Committee the remuneration policy and structure of
the Directors and the senior management of the Group, including those
retired and re-elected at the 2023 AGM. The Company has adopted the
model to make recommendations to the Board in remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management; (i) reviewed the
performance-based remuneration package of each individual executive
Directors, and his/her terms of services contracts and recommending to
the Board; (jii) reviewed matters relating to share schemes under Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules; and (iv) reviewed the terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee.
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BOARD COMMITTEE (continued)
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three members, namely Mr. Li Zhouxin
(the Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Lee Man Chiu and
Mr. Jiang Guoliang, all of them are independent non-executive Directors.

The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee shall be:

° to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the
Company'’s external auditors, and to approve the remuneration and
terms of engagement of the Company’s external auditors and any
questions of its resignation or dismissal;

° to review and monitor the Company’s external auditors’
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable standards; The Audit
Committee should discuss with auditor the nature and scope of
the audit and reporting obligations before the audit commences.
Should there be more than one auditor firm participating, the Audit
Committee shall ensure the coordination between them;

° to develop and implement policy on engaging the Company’s
external auditors to supply non-audit services. For this purpose,
external auditors includes any entity that is under common control,
ownership or management with the audit firm or any entity that a
reasonable and informed third party knowing all relevant information
would reasonably conclude to be part of the audit firm nationally
or internationally. The Audit Committee should report to the Board,
identifying and making recommendations on any matters where
action or improvement is needed;
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BOARD COMMITTEE (continued)
Audit Committee (continued)

° to monitor the integrity of financial statements and the annual report
and accounts and half-year report, and to review significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them;

° to develop and review our Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board
and monitor our Group’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements; and

. to review the whistleblowing policy and system, and to investigate
the concerns raised by the whistleblower.

The Audit Committee has explicit authority to investigate any activity
within its terms of reference and the authority to obtain outside legal or
other independent professional advice if it considers necessary. It is given
access to and assistance from the employees and reasonable resources
to discharge its duties properly.

All members of the Audit Committee possess appropriate professional
qualifications and experience necessary to give advice on the Board’s
strategies and other related matters. All members of the Audit Committee
have completed and unrestricted access to the external auditors of the
Company and all employees of the Company.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board the re-appointment
of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited as the Company’s external
auditors subject to the Shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming AGM.

During the Year, the Board had no disagreement with the Audit
Committee’s view on the re-appointment of the external auditors. The
financial statements for the Year have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.
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BOARD COMMITTEE (continued)
Audit Committee (continued)

During the Year, the Audit Committee held three meetings. The
attendance records of each member of the Audit Committee are set out
below:

Audit Committee
BZEEY

B

“EET (@)
BREEE W)

RAEFE BRZEGRIT=REH -BHREE
BENERNHERHN T XET

Committee Meetings Attended/
Eligible to Attend
HE HMeEREEZEERRNRY

Mr. Li Zhouxin (Chairman)
EEMEE (F/E)

Mr. Lee Man Chiu
EBEE

Mr. Jiang Guoliang
BERSEE

During the Year, the Audit Committee has (i) reviewed together with senior
management and external auditors of the Company, the annual audit
plan, the risk management and internal control system, the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and other financial
matters; and (i) considered and approved the Company’s annual financial
results and annual report for the year ended 31 March 2023 and the
interim results and interim report for the six months ended 30 September
2023 of the Group, and confirmed that the preparation of such complied
with the applicable accounting standards and practices adopted by
the Company, the requirements of the under the Listing Rules and
other applicable statutory and regulatory requirements and adequate
disclosures has been made.

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2024 Annual Report

3/3

3/3

3/3

REEERN BERESEENERRTSREE
BRINEZEEI—REREESZE - ARE
BRANEEERG FAERRMNETRAILE
MUK EMMBERIR ; K(i)EBRAERAFE
ETZT-F-RA=-+T—HILEEENEEMH
EERFERS RAEEBE_ZT_=FNA
=+ BENERNTEEGE kPR S WS
HRNG AR AR RMNER S ERER
LHRAMNERUARHMBRNEZEREEE
KoM BIFRFEDIEE



AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities for consolidated financial statements is set out in the
section headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” of this Report.

Annual audit fees of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the Year payable to the external auditors are approximately HK$1,400,000
(for the year ended 31 March 2023: approximately HK$1,400,000). In
addition, approximately HK$350,000 (for the year ended 31 March 2023:
HK$300,000) was incurred for other non-audit services.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors’ responsibilities for the financial statements of the Company
and the responsibilities of the external auditors to the shareholders of the
Company are set out on pages 147 to 155 of this Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full-time employee of the Company and
reports to the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer while all Directors
have access to the advice and services of her to ensure that Board
Procedures, and all applicable law, rules and regulations, are followed.
The Company Secretary is also responsible for supporting the Board by
ensuring good information flow within the Board and that the Board policy
and procedures are followed, advising the Board through the Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer on corporate governance matter and facilities
induction and professional development of Directors.

During the Year, Mr. Shi Shaoming, the Company Secretary, has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.
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RISK - MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has delegated its responsibilities (with relevant authorities)
of risk management and internal control to the Audit Committee, who
oversees management in the design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control systems on an ongoing basis.

Main features of the risk management and
internal control systems

The risk management framework of the Group and main responsibilities of
the members in the framework are described as follows:

[ Bz E IR R A BB 4= 1

EEeNd HegRREERNEHEH S E R
BT HA NI - RETZFHET A EEMIEHRF
EREMEFEERNERER  BEENERERM
M EBIR SR E X IFBHE 2 (ReE o

EFTERERRBREERANBEGMNRE (B8
D) R FTEREZES BEREEERERF
BREEEEEEERNREAREERABIZES
FIERRT B RER-

[ B E IR R BRI R E B4 RE

AEENEREEERARERNMEN T2
BT :

Exg

Board of Directors

Audit Committee
BZEEY

Board level

EXEEE

Senior management level

SHREEEBET

Management of subsidiaries
MiE AT EIE
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL REERRAIBES @)

CONTROL (continued)

Main features of the risk management and REEERATERNTENEEHE
internal control systems (continued) (4&)
Member Main Responsibilities
4= FERE
The Board ° Set up goals for risk management strategy, assess and determine the nature and
558 extent of risk acceptable to achieve the strategy goals;
RUBABEEREER It REECERBEERUAZTHNEARMEERREE ;
° Establish and maintain a proper and effective risk management and internal control
systems; and
BURMFBERANNEREERAEIERIFIE ; K&
° Review the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems annually.
S RREERASERTENE L -
Audit Committee ° Assist the Board in overseeing the risk level and the design and performance of the risk
BZEEg management and internal control systems;

WEIEEGERRRKT U R EE RN IEGFIENRARATER

Discuss the risk management and internal control systems with the management,
ensure the management has fulfilled its responsibility of establishing effective systems;

HEEENREREERAENFE BREZECETHERLAMNHE ;

Ensure that the internal audit function has sufficient resources for operation and has a
proper position, review and supervise its performance;

HERABSSEAHEABRENEREFREZNMA EEREEHRR ;

Keep updated of various major risks confronted by the Group and the risk
management status, make decisions for effective risk control;

BPHAERHEENSHEEARBGREREERER R (FHBBERIZEGFIRE ;

Report the risk status of the Group and issues to be concerned or improved to the
Board on a regular basis;

ERREFTREAEEANRRARIRBEFAIHNTEME

Facilitate risk management and assessment, regularly appoint relevant accountable
persons to implement risk assessment;

REREEE R ERBEEMEE NETRRT
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RISK- MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL R ERRAIBES @)
CONTROL (continued)

Main features of the risk management and REEERATERTENEEHE
internal control systems (continued) (&)

Audit Committee (continued) ° Organise and promote the establishment of the risk management system at the group
BREEE (B level;

EREDEREENRREEBRER

o Review material risk assessment report and various risk management reports;

BEEEARBTIMLBREASBRREERS

° Review major risk management measures, rectify and deal with the decisions made or
actions adopted by relevant organisations or individuals beyond the risk management

system;
EEEAEMREIERE - U EREIERRAAMSEAN R EEERE R UIMEEAA
HHITE ;

° Engage relevant persons to organise and coordinate various departments and projects

to carry out identification and assessment of significant risks at the group level,
summarise and analyse such information, submit risk assessment and various risk
management reports; and
*Eﬁﬁ%ﬁ)\%%ﬁ%ﬁk%%ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁlﬁﬁéﬁ%lEE@E?(HB@ E1T BRI B 5T o
MERDMER EXERTME RS ERREIERS

° Carry out risk management for other major issues.
HEMBEARBETRRER

Management of subsidiaries ° Ensure that the subsidiaries carry out the risk assessment in compliance with the risk
EAREE assessment manual formulated by the Group;

B R P B A B #% PR A< 52 [ 1) B9 L IR 5T 0 T 17 EL R AT A4

° Review and approve the risk assessment results of the subsidiaries in respect of the
business;

BRRAENBADHEBNRERTEER ;

° Ensure that the subsidiaries implement effective risk management;

HERIBABBHAMMEARERE ;

° Monitor the principal business risks confronted by the subsidiaries and the
effectiveness of relevant risk management measures; and

EEMBAREENEIEZXFRARKERAREEERBERME ; &

o Allocate resources such as fund and workforce to the subsidiaries for implementation
of the risk assessment projects.
BB ASEEER AR HEENER NBEERASIE-
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL REERRAIBES @)

CONTROL (continued)

The process used to identify, assess and BARHEN R EEERRARNER
management of principal risks

The risk management process of the Group is described as follows: AEBNREEERZFMUNT .

Risk identification -

R\ B 38 )

Risk analysis -
=l

Risk response -
BB FE

Control measures -
ErHIEr= il

Risk control -

JR B 1

Risk management report -
R ERRE

identify the current risks confronted.
i B R EERAY R o

conduct analysis on the risk including the impact extent and possibility of occurrence.
HEERE REEND M ETRE DT

choose a proper risk response method and develop a risk mitigation strategy.
BRI B2 A 3 b FE 5 UG T PR R B Y SR B o

propose up-to-date internal control measures and policy and process.
B 3 25 55 B PO B 428 1) 48 T R IR BRUR AR ©

continuously monitor the risks identified and implement relevant internal control
measures to ensure the effective operation of the risk response strategy.
FHE RN B 58 51 B B b 22 1 AR 1 B P B 22 1) 48 T e o JRL D P S SR B RV B AT o

summarise results of risk assessment and analysis and internal audit, formulate and
report an action plan.
ks BT A AT R RO BB BB 5 BUAS SR o SFIREAT B 1 800 0 LU P 3R o

BR ERERERAT
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

The process used to review the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control
systems and to resolve material internal
control defects:

The Group establishes a risk management information and
communication channel that is functional within the whole basic risk
control procedure, connects different levels in the reporting system and
different departments and operation units, so as to ensure timely, accurate
and complete communication of information, laying a solid foundation for
the monitoring and improvement of risk management.

Different departments and business units of the Group regularly inspect
and examine their own risk management process in order to locate
the shortcomings and remedy the situation if possible. Their inspection
and examination reports are delivered to the Group’s risk management
department in time.

The Board further considers that (i) there was no material issue relating
to the Group’s risk management and internal controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions of
the Group; and (i) that there were adequate staff with appropriate and
adequate qualifications and experience, resources for accounting, internal
audit, financial reporting functions as well as those relating to the ESG
performance and reporting, and adequate training programmes had
been provided during the Year. The Board concludes that adequate and
effective risk management and internal control systems are maintained.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

The procedures and internal controls for
the handling and dissemination of inside
information:

Regarding the procedures and internal controls for handling inside
information, the Group:

° is well aware of its statutory and regulatory obligations to announce
any inside information.

° makes reference to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” issued by the Securities and Futures Commission in
June 2012.

° has implemented policy and procedure which strictly prohibit
unauthorised use of confidential information and insider trading, and
has communicated to all staff.

The Group requires all employees who have access to the inside
information to maintain strict confidentiality of the inside information until it
is announced.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY AND
WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Group has established the () policy and measures to support
anti-corruption laws and regulations; and (i) Whistleblowing Policy
and measures for employees, suppliers and business partners to raise
serious concerns, in confidence and anonymity, with the Board about
possible improprieties in financial report or other matters of the Group.
These policies can promote high probity standards and ethical business
practices.

Further details of the Group’s Anti-Corruption Policy and Whistleblowing
Policy, please refer to the Company’s website.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board approved and adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) which outlines general principles for the determination and
payment of dividend to its shareholders. Dividends or distributions by
the Company shall be determined and declared in accordance with
the applicable laws and regulations, the Articles of Association and the
Dividend Policy. The Board may amend any provision in the Dividend
Policy if it considers necessary.

Pursuant to the Dividend Policy, that, in recommending or declaring
dividends, the Company may declare and pay dividends to the
Shareholders by way of cash or by other means that the Board considers
appropriate. It is the policy of the Board, in recommending dividends, to
allow the Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits, and at the
same time, to ensure the Company to retain adequate reserves for future
growth. The Company’s decision to declare or to pay any dividends in
the future, and the amount of such dividends will depend upon, among
other things, the current and future operations, financial condition, liquidity
position and capital requirements of the Group, as well as dividends
received from the Company’s subsidiaries and associates, which in
turn will depend on the ability of those subsidiaries and associates to
pay a dividend. In addition, any final dividends for a financial year will
be subject to the approval of the Shareholders. The declaration and
payment of dividends by the Company is also subject to any restrictions
under the laws of Cayman Islands, the laws of Hong Kong, the Articles of
Association and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Whilst this Dividend Policy reflects the Board’s current views on the
financial and cash-flow position of the Group, the Board will continue to
review this Dividend Policy from time to time and the Board may exercise
its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify this
Dividend Policy at any time as it deems fit and necessary. There is no
assurance that dividends will be declared or paid in any particular amount
for any given period. The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a
legally binding commitment by the Company that any dividend will be
paid in any particular amount and/or in no way obligate the Company to
declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.
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COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board is committed to maintaining an on-going and open
dialogue with current and prospective, both individual and institutional
shareholders of the Company. A shareholders’ communication policy
(the “Shareholders Communication Policy”) was adopted throughout
the Year pursuant to the CG Code which aims at establish two-
way relationship and communication between the Company and its
Shareholders. The Board has the responsibility to review the policy
regularly to ensure its effectiveness.

In summary, the Shareholders Communication Policy set out the
provisions with the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders re provided
with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable
information about the Company in order to promote effective
communication with the Shareholders so as to enable them to engage
actively with the Company and exercise their rights as Shareholder in an
informed manner. The Shareholders Communication Policy is available on
the Company’s website (www.okg.com.hk) and set out the maintenance
of an effective ongoing communication with the Shareholders.

The Board strives to encourage and maintain constant dialogue with
its shareholders through various means includes: (i) financial reports
and other corporate communications. The publication of the financial
reports (interim and annual reports) and other corporate communications
including but not limited to announcements, circulars, notices, proxy
forms and other regulatory disclosure will be provided to Shareholders
in accordance with the Listing Rules and any other relevant laws and
regulations to facilitate Shareholders’ understanding; (i) Shareholders’
meetings. (i.e. annual general meeting, extraordinary general meeting or
any other Shareholders’ meetings); and the members of the Board, in
particular, either the chairman of Board committees or their delegates,
appropriate management executives will attend annual general meetings
to answer Shareholders’ questions in normal circumstances; and (i)
Company’s Website. The availability of latest information of the Group on
the Company’s website which is an effective communication platform to
the shareholders and the investors as well as the general public.

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of transparency
and employs a policy of open and timely disclosure of relevant information
to its shareholders and investors and discloses information in compliance
with the Listing Rules, and publishes periodic reports and announcements
to the public in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations.
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COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

During the Year, the Board has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders Communication Policy for enhancing
the investors relations, and the investors understanding of the Group’s
business performance and strategies.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, the Board can
convene an extraordinary general mesting (‘EGM”). The EGM shall also
be convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholder holding, on
the date of deposit of the requisition, ordinary share(s) in the capital of the
Company representing not less one tenth of the paid-up capital of the
Company which carry the right to vote, on a one vote per Share basis,
at general meetings of voting at general meetings the Company. Such
Shareholder(s) shall be entitled to add resolutions to the agenda for the
extraordinary general meeting concerned.

Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the Company
Secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition.

Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself(themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company, provided that any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of a period of three months
from the date of deposit of the requisition.

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a
Person for Election as a Director

Pursuant to Article 111 of the Articles of Association, subject to the
Articles of Association and the applicable law, the company may by
ordinary resolution elect any person to be a Director either to fill a casual
vacancy or as an additional Director.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a
Person for Election as a Director (continued)

Pursuant to Article 113 of Articles of Association, no person other than
a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the Board for election,
be eligible for election to the office of Director at any general meeting,
unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that person for election
as a Director and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be
elected shall have been lodged at the head office or at the registration
office. The period for lodgment of the notices required will commence no
earlier than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting
appointed for such election and end no later than seven (7) days prior to
the date of such general meeting and the minimum length of the period
during which such notices to the Company may be given will be at least
seven (7) days.

Procedures for Shareholders to Put Forward
Proposals at General Meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the
operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to be discussed
at Shareholders’ meeting. There is no provision allowing Shareholders to
make proposals or move resolutions at the general meetings under the
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands other than to
propose a person for election as a director. Shareholders who wish to
make proposals or move a resolution may, however, follow the procedures
set out in the paragraph headed “Procedures for Shareholders to
Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting” under the section of
“Corporate Governance Report” of this Report written requisition to the
Board or the Company Secretary to convene an extraordinary general
meeting for putting forward proposals at the Company’s head office and
principal place of business in Hong Kong, presently at Unit 902-903, 9th
Floor, Sino Plaza, 255-257 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

Shareholders’ enquiries

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the Company Secretary or relevant personnel by mail
to the Company’s headquarters and principal place of business in Hong
Kong at Unit 902-903, 9th Floor, Sino Plaza, 255-257 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong, by post for the attention of the Company
Secretary.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

An amendment was made to the constitutional documents of the
Company during the Year. The Shareholders approved the amendment
to the memorandum and articles of association of the Company at the
2023 AGM and also adopted the amended and restated memorandum
and articles of association of the Company in order to (i) reflect the
amendments to Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules regarding the core
shareholder protection standards (the “Core Shareholder Protection
Standards”), which became effective on 1 January 2022, and to conform
to the Core Shareholder Protection Standards; and (i) make some house-
keeping changes.
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INTRODUCTION

The Group is principally engaged in foundation, building construction
works and ancillary services; digital assets related businesses; and
technical services and other businesses. During the year, the Group has
presented the operation relating to the construction wastes handling
services as discontinued operation.

While striving for performance, the Group pursues business sustainability
by being a responsible corporate citizen and is committed to maintaining
high standards of business practices in relation to environmental
protection, social responsibility and corporate governance.

ABOUT THE REPORT

This report is the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”
(collectively “the ESG Report”) published by the Group, which discloses
the Group’s measures and performance on sustainable development
topics in a transparent and open manner, in order to increase
stakeholders’ confidence and understanding on the Group.

Reporting Standards

The ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (the “ESG Guide”) of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) set out
in Appendix C2 of Main Board Listing Rules. The ESG Report provides
a simplified overview on the environmental, social and governance
(“ESG”) performance of the Group. The information in the ESG Report
is derived from the Group’s official documents and statistics, as well as
the integration and summary of monitoring, management and operational
information provided by subsidiaries of the Group.

Reporting Year

All the information in the ESG Report reflects the performance of the
Group in environmental management and social responsibility from 1 April
2023 to 31 March 2024 (the “Reporting Period”). This ESG Report is
released annually by the Group for public review so as to improve the
transparency and responsibility of information disclosure.
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ABOUT THE REPORT (continued)
Reporting Scope

The ESG Report focuses on the Group’s key business activities carried
out in Hong Kong, which include the headquarters in Hong Kong (the
“headquarters”) and segments of foundation, building construction
works and ancillary services, digital assets related businesses, and
technical services and other businesses, which represent the Group’s
major source of revenue and income. For section of employment related
to social aspect, it also covers the operation in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”). After the comprehensive completion of data collection
system and the Group’s deepening in its ESG work, the Group has
identified certain environmental, social and governance issues (‘ESG
issues”) relevant to the Group, which have been assessed by considering
their materiality and importance to the Group’s principal activities and
stakeholders as well as the Group. Those identified ESG issues and Key
Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) have been disclosed in the ESG Report.

ESG Governance

The Group has developed its internal strategies and policies with aims
to create sustainable values to its stakeholders, thereby to large extent
minimising the Group’s adverse impact on the environment. In order
to carry out the Group’s sustainability strategy from top to bottom, the
Board has ultimate responsibilities for ensuring the effectiveness of the
Group’s ESG policies. The Group has established dedicated teams
composed of staff from main department to manage ESG issues within
each business division of the Group and kept monitoring and overseeing
the progress against corporate goals and targets for addressing climate
change. Dedicated teams with designated staff for management of ESG
issues has been assigned to enforce and supervise the implementation
of the relevant ESG policies cascading through the Group. The dedicated
team would at least annually report on ESG issue to the Board. With
the forward-looking guidance and well-designed plans of action to
address underlying ESG matters, the management and responsible
teams keep reviewing and adjusting the Group’s sustainability policies to
satisfy the ever-changing needs of its stakeholders on a regular basis.
For instance, through the assignment of the responsibility of progress
tracking to different management-level positions, the Group is committed
to achieving an excellent performance in ESG management while also
remaining competitive compared with its peers. Details of the Group’s
management approaches in both the environmental and social aspects
are elaborated in different sections of this ESG report.
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ABOUT THE REPORT (continued)
Stakeholder Engagement

The Stock Exchange has set forth four principles for reporting in the
ESG Guide: Materiality, Quantitative, Balance and Consistency, which
should form the basis for preparing the ESG Report. As The Stock
Exchange emphasises, stakeholder engagement is the method by which
materiality is assessed. Through stakeholder engagement, companies can
understand wide-ranging views and identify material environmental and
social issues.

The Group believes that effective feedback from stakeholders not
only contributes to comprehensive and impartial evaluation of the
environmental, social and governance performance, but also enables the
Group to improve the performance based on their feedback. Therefore,
the Group has engaged in open and regular communication with
the stakeholder groups including shareholders and investors, clients,
employees, suppliers, subcontractors and government. Over the years,
the Group has continued to fine-tune our sustainability focus, addressing
pressing issues. The table below shows how the Group communicates
with key stakeholder groups and their respective concerns.
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ABOUT THE REPORT (continued)

Stakeholders and engagement methods

Stakeholders
BnE

Shareholders and
Investors

RRRGEE

Clients

xR

Employees

B8

Suppliers
HRERE

Sub-contractors

S

Government

B

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Interests and concerns

Fl i K B

Return on investment and dividends
BERBHRMER

Corporate strategy and governance
ERERER

Risk mitigation and management

R B R e B

Robust operation management
BROKEEE

Full compliance with laws and regulations
EHETERRER

Sustainability performance of operations
EENFFERIR

Technical capability

g s

Security control

22

Compliance and risk control
SREEEERE

Compensation and benefits
BN B f2 A

Occupational health and safety
BERRREZD

Career development opportunities
BEEEES

Corporate culture and well-being
rEIAL @At

Long-term partnership
RHSEBHREIR

Ethical business practices
BEEEER

Supplier assessment criteria
AR T AR E

Effective project management
BMIEEEE

Occupational health and safety
BEREREREZE

Ethical business practices
BEEHEER

Sub-contractors assessment criteria
DA AR

Laws and regulation compliance

ERERAR
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Engagement channels
BHRE

Annual General Meeting

RRBERS

Interim and annual reports, corporate
websites

FRERRR SR R~ (R AL
Announcements, notices of meetings,
circulars

RE-KGBEBX

Interim and annual reports, corporate
websites

PRI E R ER  BEIE

Regular meetings and communication
EHREH A EE

Mail, email and telephone communication

5 BH R BB

In-house training programmes

A EBE I 5T S

Performance reviews and appraisals
RIS K sTE

Promote career development and
enhance competence at all levels
EFREEEMESEEBENZRE

Procurement processes
REETMAZ

Audits and assessments
Bz E

Annual health, safety and environment
seminars

FERR -ZE2KIREME

Training sessions

HEEIER2

Regular progress meetings

EHREE S

Audits and assessments

BTG

Regularly inspection

EREE

Statutory filings and notification

VA TE G KB R

Written or electronic correspondences
EHEHEFER

BN TR AR AR
S MFEER
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ABOUT THE REPORT (continued)

Stakeholders and engagement methods
(continued)

The business of the Group affects different stakeholders, and
stakeholders have different expectations on the Group. The Group will
maintain communication with stakeholders continuously, collect opinions
from stakeholders through different forms and more extensively, and make
substantive analysis more comprehensively. At the same time, the Group
will enhance the reporting principles of materiality, quantification, balance
and consistency, in order to define the content of the ESG Report and
presentation of the information that is more in line with the expectations of
stakeholders.

Materiality Analysis

By reviewing the Group’s operations and identifying relevant ESG issues,
the Group assesses the importance of related matters to the Group’s
businesses and stakeholders. Based on the material ESG issues
identified, feedback is collected from the relevant internal and external
stakeholders of the Group by conducting survey. The result of the
assessment is as below:
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Materiality analysis outcomes

ERE R

HERE

Community investment
HAEEEE
Supply chain management
Charity Q\

BEREE
Energy management

SHiTs

2
Z

HiFhER
Influence on stakeholder assessments

BERERR
Occupational health & safety

ANES

Human capital

o

®\
®\

Development and Training

N
Human rights
£

EEREREAERRE

Information Security and

HIER Protection of Personal Data
Labour practices A RELEE
Compliance and Business Ethics
EERY

Customer Service

HHERE RS
Intellectual property protection
RES
Anti-corruption
o\ HREE
Quality management
e TIERE

Green Working Environment

BEEMEASEYEE

Waste & hazardous management

FAKRISKER
Water & wastewater management

Y

HAERSE RRERTERENEAN

Significance of economic, environmental, & social impacts to the Group
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The Group has identified several material issues such as information
security and protection of protection of personal data; compliance and
business ethics; and occupational health and safety that were deemed
as the most important by the stakeholders. The Group will continue to
manage these critical issues by adopting policies and guidelines to further
enhance the Group’s ESG performance.

ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group is aware of its responsibility and required commitment to the
environmental sustainable development of its on-going operations. The
Group supports “Green Environment” ideas, comply with the requirements
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (‘HKSAR”) laws,
and specific guides in the industry, and are committed to the social
responsibility of protecting the environment as a responsible corporation.
The Group has implemented policies and taken measures to ensure the
business and operation to be energy, water and resources saving.

The Group had not been subject to any reported violation in relation to its
emissions and waste discharges or other environmental issues during the
Reporting Period. The Group did not note any material non-compliance
with environmental laws and regulations during the Reporting Period.

A1. Emission and waste

The Group understands that construction projects may generate
pollution and impact to the environment undoubtedly. In order to
govern the environmental management and minimise the impact
caused by the Group’s operations, the Group has formulated
relevant policies relating to environmental management and
established an environmental management system in accordance
with ISO14001, which has been integrated into our daily operations.
The Group is strictly committed to complying with requirements
stipulated in the relevant local environmental laws and regulations.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A1. Emission and waste (continued)

The Group has a dedicated department to coordinate and
implement environmental protection measures and objectives, and
to address environmental issues. The Group carries out a series
of environmental management measures at construction sites,
covering planning, materials procurement and various construction
procedures. The Group has also adopted measures concerning
noise, dust, pollution discharge, waste, energy, carbon emissions
and biodiversity to ensure that all business activities are strictly in
compliance with local laws and regulations.

In specific, the Group has also adopted the relevant procedures
and guidelines relating to construction waste management, in order
to govern the management and disposal process of construction
wastes and maximise the reuse and recycling.

The Group strives to constantly improve its environmental
management system, in order to minimise negative impacts on the
environment.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
would have a significant impact on the environment or on the
Group.

Exhaust Gas Emissions

Exhaust gas emissions from construction sites may cause nuisance
to both construction workers and communities nearby. During
the construction and demolition process, air pollutants including
Nitrogen Oxides (“NOx”), Sulphur Oxides (“SOx”) and Particulate
Matter (“PM”) are generated by construction machines and
vehicles, which consume diesel and other fossil fuels.
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IRIR (&)

A1. Emission and waste (continued) Al. HEBY B EEY) (48)

Exhaust Gas Emissions (continued) EERBER (48)
Exhaust Gas Emission Performance Summary BRI R IE

2024 2023
Type of Exhaust Gas Unit Quantity Quantity

ZE-E ===

EEmiEsy B g2 #H2
NOx kg 11.62 62.40
KEEY T
SOx kg 0.05 0.37
TR (et T
PM kg 1.04 5.45
FEpR ) T

The overall level of exhaust gas incurred by the Group has
decreased comparing to FY2023, due to the decrease in vehicles
usage following by the cessation of operation of construction
wastes handling services..

For the construction business, air pollution is one of the key
concerns on environment protection. Related operational procedure
is established to control air pollution and emissions of dust, fumes,
smokes, obnoxious gases and other air-borne particulates within
the legal limits and tolerable limits of the affected persons.

For dust emission control, vehicles carrying sand, debris or other
materials likely to generate dust are fully covered with canvas before
leaving the site. Besides, all vehicles are jet-washed prior to leaving
the site. Wet work method should be used during cleaning of higher
units/floors to reduce dust. The storage areas for sand, cement and
aggregates are located as far as possible from sensitive receptors
such as public housing, school, hospital and hostel etc. Stockpile
of sand and aggregates etc. at concrete batching plant is sheltered
with canvas if possible to prevent dust pollution. To control the
emission of fumes, obnoxious gas, proper disposal and removal
of unwanted air-conditioner is needed and use of halon-containing
fire-extinguishers is prohibited. All gas cylinders should be kept at a
safe place and all the precaution should be taken during hot work/
activities. Air quality of sites is monitored to ensure the effectiveness
of the mitigation measures.
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RIR MERERRS

ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A1. Emission and waste (continued)

Exhaust Gas Emissions (continued)

Exhaust Gas Emission Performance Summary (continued)

To further manage exhausts gas emissions, construction related
plants and vehicles are properly maintained to ensure compliance
with related standards. All applicable machineries are certified with
Non-Road Mobile Machinery (‘NRMM”), which are recognised as
more environmental friendly and emission-compliant operations.
The Group has also installed air pollution control equipment on gas
discharge ports of compressors, crawler cranes and generators.
Designated employees are employed to conduct regular
maintenance and monitoring work on machines and vehicles to
ensure no heavily polluted black smoke are emitted. Marked Ultra—
Low-Sulphur Diesel (“MULSD”) are used for the diesel-operated
constructional plant on site. Random testing of sulphur content
is performed for the plant. Records of MULSD consumption and
testing are properly kept.

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions

The Group is committed to maintaining the quality of the
environment, using clean energy, reducing pollution and waste
during operation to reduce and even eliminate the adverse impact
on the environment from operation activities and emissions.
Over the years, the Group has been committed to environmental
protection and has adopted a number of appropriate measures
and monitoring methods to ensure that its responsibility for
environmental protection has been fulfilled.

In the business operation, the Group actively advocates energy
conservation and emission reduction by continuously increasing
investment in environmental protection. Through the use of clean
energy and other measures, the Group reduces the generation of
exhaust pollutants from the source to avoid environmental pollution.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)
A1. Emission and waste (continued) A1l.
Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions (continued)

GHG Emissions Performance Summary BEREHNFRBEE

2024 2023
2024 Intensity’ - 2023 Intensity1 -
GHG Scope Unit Quantity  unit per project Quantity unit per project
—T-mE “E”-fF
—EomE BE - . BE1—
RERBEE Bl He SEERE ¥E SEEBEREMQ
Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)
ERREREYH (BE1)
- Diesel and petrol consumption Tonnes 9.45 1.18 66.96 6.70
- R RUBHFE Mg
Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2)
ERRE R (8E2)
— Electricity consumption Tonnes 166.38 20.80 4713 4.7
- BNH® g
Other indirect GHG emissions (Scope 3)
B ERE RN (BER)
— Electricity for processing fresh water, Tonnes 36.26 4.53 25.20 2.52
sewage and others
- BB SR EMAERRNE N WE
Total GHG emissions Tonnes 212.09 26.51 139.29 13.93
RERBESNE WE

With the peak season for certain Group projects that required
intensive electricity consumption, the GHG emissions intensity
per project in FY2024 has increased compared with FY2023.
Additionally, the increase travel frequency after the COVID-19
outbreak has also contributed to the increase in Scope 3 emission.
The Group has initiated a target of 1% emission reduction in term of
intensity by FY2027, compared with the baseline year of FY2022.

Note:

1. As at 31 March 2024, the total number of the completed and ongoing
construction projects of the Group was 8 (2023: 10 projects), which would

also be used for calculating other intensity data.

In addition, climate change has been an increasing concern for
parties including the Government of HKSAR, general public and
investors. The Group has thereby responded through limiting
carbon footprints of its construction activities. The Group also
strives to use regionally sourced materials produced within 800km
from the construction sites, where applicable, in order to reduce
exhaust gas and GHG emitted from freight transportation.
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BEEHRTZ T =—GFRLEAREMe it
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RIR MERERRS

ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A1. Emission and waste (continued)

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions (continued)

GHG Emissions Performance Summary (continueq)

Consumption of electricity is proved to cause indirect GHG
emission through its generation process. The Group has
implemented measures as stated in section A2 “Energy Efficiency”
below in order to reduce energy consumption, and thereby
minimising carbon footprint.

Hazardous wastes

Due to the nature of the projects being participated during
the Reporting Period, the Group does not generate significant
hazardous wastes. However, the Group still strives to mitigate the
hazardous wastes generated from the operation process as much
as possible.

Sewage Disposal and Management

Wastewater generated from different construction sites without
proper treatment may block nearby drains and cause pollution.
As a result, the Group takes further necessary steps to monitor
and maintain wastewater quality. The amount of wastewater
consumption during the Reporting Period is stated at Aspect A2
“Water Efficiency Management”.

The sewage produced from construction sites that need to be
discharged would first be treated at the sewage treatment tank, to
ensure it meets the requirements of the sewage discharge license
and would subsequently be discharged through sewage drains.

Nonpoint source water pollution is often caused by land runoff,
seepage and drainage after precipitation and construction works.
To avoid leakage of wastewater to nearby communities, temporary
drainage network has been established on site to systematically
collect all discharges. Designated workers are appointed to
properly manage the drainage system and ensure that there are no
blockages of drains and sewers caused by debris and sediments.
Sandbags are placed along the site boundary to prevent any
leakage of surface runoff where possible.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)
A1. Emission and waste (continued)

Waste Disposal and Management

Wastes are well managed on-site. To ensure waste management
process is both environmentally acceptable and in full compliance
with statutory and contractual requirements, waste handling,
transportation and disposal procedures are implemented. The
Group provides guidance and instruction on waste management
to its site staff. The Group has adopted a number of measures to
manage the disposal process of the waste, including but not limited
to:

- According to the relevant waste management policies
of the Group, all departments and workshops classify
the solid wastes generated and take measures for their
comprehensive utilisation to reduce disposal pressure. For
example, inert and non-inert waste are identified before any
disposal;

- The subsidiaries of the Group engage qualified waste
collectors to collect all kinds of construction waste. These
wastes collected are disposed at the designated landfill and
treatment facilities; and

- Non-hazardous waste should be recycled and utilised as
much as possible. Non-hazardous waste and hazardous
waste that cannot be reused and recycled will be entrusted to
a qualified waste disposal company for disposal.
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RIR MERERRS

ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A1. Emission and waste (continued)

Waste Disposal and Management (continued)

In its operation, the Group inevitably generates waste. However,
with effective waste disposal strategies and policies, the Group
has minimised the environmental risks and impacts caused by
the waste. During the Reporting Period, the consumption volume
generated by the Group is set out as below:

IRIR (48)

Al. BER¥ R BEH) (@)

BEYEERERE (8)

EREBER > NEBR AR Rt ELRE
) o 2R > IRFE R RUAY BE ) BE 2 SR BE Ko Y
B AEEERBEYAI S RNIRE B R K
FERERM -NKRSHERN AEHE
ERUHFEEHINNT ¢

2024 2023
2024 Intensity - 2023 Intensity -
Types of non-hazardous waste Unit Quantity  unit per project Quantity unit per project
—EmE “EC=E
—ZZmE BE- “EBT=F BE-
mEEWES Efi ¥ SEEBEQ HE SEBEEEM
Inert construction and demolition (‘C&D") Tonnes 72,649 9,081.13 48,298 4,829.80
waste disposed to public fill facilities
(including sands, bricks and concrete)
EATERR R ENEERE () i
BV (B1ER) BARRL)
Non-inert C&D waste disposed at landfill Tonnes 543 67.87 1,085 108.50
(bamboo, plastics, glass, wood and
other organic materials)
REDRIEE 55 BRI IR R 2 EEY) ]
(77~ BB IRIB ~ AW R B A )
Mixed construction & demolition waste Tonnes 31 3.88 - -
RETEEY ]
Total non-hazardous waste Tonnes 73,223 9,152.88 49,383 4,938.30
BEENES i

According to the figures above, the intensity of non-hazardous
waste has increased compared with FY2023. It is mainly due to the
Group’s certain projects had involved more deep excavation works
which incurred much larger quantities of non-hazardous waste.
The Group has initiated a target of reducing waste level in term of
intensity by 1% by FY2027, compared with the baseline year of
FY2022.

The Group has been proactively looking for solutions to minimise or
even avoid generation and disposal of wastes. The Group has then
applied the 4R principles of waste reduction — i.e. reduce, reuse,
recycle and replace — where feasible. For example, to reduce waste,
all construction activities are specially planned by professionals
to minimise and avoid unnecessary resources input throughout
the piling process. To reuse materials, construction workers are
directed to reuse construction materials whenever possible in the
same project or in other projects of the Group. For example, extra
steels are reused to produce construction materials and to support
temporary construction works on site.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A1,

Emission and waste (continued)

Waste Disposal and Management (continued)
Other measures for handling wastes include:

- Placing recycle bins around the Group’s offices, properties
and construction sites to collect general wastes such as
cardboards, metals and plastic containers, and hence
encouraging recycling practices.

Use of Resources

The Group continues with initiatives to introduce resource
efficiency and eco-friendly measures to the Group’s operations,
and is committed to optimising the use of resources in all of its
business operations. With a view to enhance efficiency of the
use of resources, the Group had incorporated the concept of
environmental protection into the process of site construction
operations and office administration.

Regarding usage of conservation material, employee in sites
should:

Prevent overflow or spillage when transferring diesel;

- Keep timber, rebar, cement and other materials in good
condition;

- Reduce, reuse and recycle papers, timber and other
materials where possible;

- Power off compressors, generator sets, bar-bending
machines, etc. when not in use and regular maintenance of
equipment/machinery is required to increase the efficiency;

- Switch off air-conditioners, lights, fans and radios etc. when
not in use to reduce electricity consumption. Water at the
vehicle-washing bay shall be reused and re-circulated.
Workers/sub-contractors shall switch off the pump and turn
off the running hose when not in use; and

- Use ECO mode of all applicable construction machines.
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IRIF (48)
A2. BEFIRA (&)

ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A2. Use of Resources (continued)

In addition, the Group also promotes to its employees in office the
concept of efficient use of resources, included but not limited to:

Keep doors and windows closed when air conditioners are
in operation, and maintain the optimal temperature at 25.5
Degree Celsius;

- Encourage the staff to save water and reduce domestic
sewage in toilet;

- Turn off all lights, computers, office equipment and air
conditioners when no one is in office;

- Use double-sided printing instead of single-sided printing;

- Implement the 4R principle, which is “reduce, reuse, recycle
and replace”; and

- Make use of scanned or electronic copies, in the ordinary
course of business.

Energy Efficiency

Energy policy has been developed to set energy conservation
as one of the Group’s fundamental policies. All employees must
implement the adopted measures, including the purchase of
energy-efficient products and services, and assume responsibility
for the Group’s overall energy efficiency. By building up an energy
management system, the Group develops and regularly reviews its
energy objectives and targets to continuously enhance the Group’s
energy performance.

The Group’s energy management system is applicable to:

- The construction of buildings;

- Construction of site formation, roads and drainage and
foundation works; and

- Building activities to keep, restore and improve the facilities of
buildings and surroundings.
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IR (48
A2. EiRFIMA @)

ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A2. Use of Resources (continued)

Energy Efficiency (continued)

The energy management system is implemented with annual review
to assist in achieving its energy saving objectives and targets.

Moreover, monthly monitoring of the usage of electricity and water
and other materials is implemented. Unexpected high consumption
of electricity will be investigated to find out the root cause and take
preventive measures.

Other energy use efficiency initiatives include:

- Managing fuel and electricity usage through deployment of
high efficiency equipment; and

- Using Lighting Management System to control power voltage
and save energy.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s consumption in electricity,
non-renewable fuel (“NRF”) including diesel and petrol were:

AEIRSE ()

I REERR TG EET
£ ﬁﬁEEE&?E’f?

5 UG B i

Esh » A EE S A B RIKEREMAT B
EABR - WHRFIINSERE BHZ
BRETRE  SHWRARE LKA
B o

HR R EAMERERE

- BRZESHRE BEMNKE

HER &

— FRARBEERGERISERERE

RBEMEN > FEENEN KBRS

HEIFBEEME (FEBEMEL) FHFER
T

2024 Intensity - 2023 Intensity -

2024 Unit per 2023 Unit per
Energy Type Unit Quantity project Quantity project
ZECME ZE_NERE- ZEI=F ZSICERE-
AeiREER B ¥E SEEREQ g BEERSQ
Electricity KWh 326,240 40,780.00 92,415 9,241.50
BN FRE
NRF KWh 35,306 4,413.25 245,368 24,536.81
B TRE
Total 361,546 45,193.25 337,783 33,778.31
485t

B LG KEEENERHERE

According to the figures above, the intensity of energy consumption

per project has remained stable as the increase in electricity
consumption has been offset by the effect of decrease in vehicles
usage following by the cessation of operation of construction
wastes handling services. The Group is committed to maximising
energy conservation in its office and construction sites by
promoting efficient use. The Group has initiated a target of 1%
energy consumption reduction in term of intensity by FY2027,
compared with the baseline year of FY2022.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

IRIR (48)

A2. Use of Resources (continued)

Water Efficiency Management

The Group strives to use water efficiently in every aspect of
business. The Group takes water management very seriously and
closely monitors water use at construction sites. Hence, the Group
sets up water recycling systems at most construction sites. During
the Reporting Period, the water consumption volume (is also being
treated as the amount of sewage discharge) of the Group’s office
and project site offices is set out as below:

2024 Intensity -

A2. BEFIRA (&)

AkHmEE

BN BRI - AEETDER
KEREE BY)GRERETIHAK-A
> REBAEABMHREREIHREKER
BRARK -NREHEN AEFBRLE
REEMENEENAKE TFREAS
KEERE) BT

2023 Intensity -

2024 unit per 2023 unit per

Water Consumption Unit Quantity project Quantity project
ZEINE ZENERE- ZC-F TR CERE-

Ak Efi ¥= SEEREQ ¥E SEBEEM
Water cubic meters 33,259 4,157.38 27,529 2,752.90

K IHK

According to the figures above, the intensity of water consumption
per project has increased when comparing with last Reporting
Period. The reason was that certain number of projects in which
the site water consumption borne by the Group has increased
consumption compared with FY2023. The Group will keep on
monitoring the water consumption volume and strive to remain the
intensity at a low level. The Group has initiated a target of 1% water
consumption reduction in term of intensity by FY2027, compared
with the baseline year of FY2022.

Packaging material
The Group does not produce any finished products. Therefore, the

Group does not consume significant amount of package materials
for product packaging.
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IRIE (@)
A3. IRIERBARER

ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A3. Environment and Natural Resources

Although the Group has minimised the impact on the environment
and natural resources, as an ongoing commitment to good
corporate citizenship, the Group endeavours to minimise negative
environmental impact of the business operations and its investment
portfolios, in order to achieve a sustainable development for
generating long-term values to stakeholders and community as a
whole.

The Group regularly assess the environmental risks of the business
and adopt preventive measures as necessary to reduce the risks
and ensure the compliance of relevant laws and regulations.

Noise abatement

Noise nuisance is often caused by construction works, especially
during foundation piling operations. Therefore, the Group strictly
monitors and controls noise levels, and complies with such relevant
laws and regulations.

The Group will carefully identify any Noise Sensitive Receiver
(e.g. hospitals, educational institute, court of law, etc.) before
commencement of any construction works. Due care is exercised
by implementing more noise abatement measures and maintaining
more stringent noise control standards.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A3. Environment and Natural Resources

(continued)

Noise abatement (continued)

Due to the nature of percussive piles which involve the driving of
piles by percussive means (e.g. hammering), this type of piling
works is perceived to generate a substantial amount of noise and
vibration while the machines are in operation. Careful scheduling
of noisy piling works during less sensitive hours is engaged to
minimise noise nuisance to nearby neighbourhood. The hours of
operation which allow to perform foundation works are set out in
the Construction Noise Permit issued by the government. Under
certain circumstances, the Group may apply for special extension
to carry out works during prohibited hours but such special
extension would only be granted on the basis that the works
carried out will not disturb others, e.g. for construction sites located
at remote areas with no nearby residents. Although the Group
strictly adheres to the restricted hours of operations stipulated in
the Construction Noise Permit, complaints from nearby residents
regarding disturbances caused by operation of the machinery may
be received. Under such circumstances, the Group will work with
the relevant authorities and the person making the complaint with
the aim of introducing measures (e.g. installing sound proofing) to
mitigate the disturbances caused.

Machinery and equipment with Quality Powered Mechanical
Equipment (“QPME”) labels recognised by the Environmental
Protection Department are proved to be quieter, more
environmental-friendly and efficient as opposed to standard
equipment. The Group ensures that QPME labelled machineries
and equipment to lawfully operate in every construction site.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)
A4. Climate Change

Climate change is one of the most complicated challenges faced
by mankind’s in the new century. Global warming gives rise to
more frequent extreme weather conditions including changes in
precipitation mode, droughts, floods and bushfires. Rise in sea
level will make tens of thousands of people in densely populated
coastal areas and island countries homeless. Faced with all sorts
of problems, individuals, corporations and governments must take
immediate actions to tackle climate change.

Over-emission of greenhouse gases is the main factor in causing
global climate change. To achieving a low carbon economy, the
Group is committed to reducing its greenhouse gas emissions
through the approaches of mitigation and adaptation. For example,
the Group has strived to mitigate the risks brought by climate
change through the adoption of various environmental policies and
measures; and promoting energy saving measures and habits in
office.

The Group are focused on reducing emissions in its operations,
engaging suppliers to reduce emissions in supply chains,
strengthening the resilience of its business and using its voice to
advocate for collective action.
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RIR MERERRS

ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A4. Climate Change (continued)

The Group reviews and identifies the climate-related risk annually
while conducting the risk assessment. We have considered the
potential climate-related risks which have impacted and/or may
impact on the Group’s operations and summarised as below:

Physical Type
BIRLER

Physical Risk
— Acute risk
BIRER

— = R b

Physical Risk
- Chronic risk

BRERE
— 181 m A

Transition Risk
- Policy and
legal risk

B
—HERKRER
e

Transition Risk
- Market risk

iR E
— S A

Description of Risk

[ B et

Extreme weather such
as typhoon, torrential
rain and sandstorm
IRiH R R ANEE & ~ &=
MR ER

Continuous high
temperature, drought,
etc.

+ 4= =52 =
BEs R HEE

The government

may introduce more
stringent policies and
regulations to mitigate
climate change

AT T BB ¥ 1 B8 R A%
BERER R RE
g1t

Consumer demand

for green low-carbon
products

HEENEGMHRE
mAvER
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Impact on the Group

HEEEZE

Extreme weather events such
as storms, floods, fires or
landslides may cause damage
to construction site facilities
and public transportation
systems.

FEFMR K  KKH AR
Z G R R D] AEIR S TR
I B2 A TR A SR AE B F 4 o
Under the extreme weather
conditions, the supply chain
will be affected due to
transportation interruption.
Rikim KR ARG T FHE#R
FRETMEHERS R

High temperature will
badly affect the working
environment and efficiency;
and cause possible health
issues such as heat stroke.
SRBREXETFIRIE MW
WA BEE R ERME > W
HZo

High temperature will lower
the lifespan of equipment,
and eventually increase the
operating cost.
=RMERREBEASZS T
BB INEEMA -

[t would increase our
compliance workload or
subject us to litigation or
claims.

I EMAEEEGRTEE
HEAEFREZHFARHR

o

Failure to meet the demand
may lead to changes in
customer preference.

REEMEEZRFEEEREZR
fRiFos-

s
R\ > 1

FERGFETRBNGFIEIEEERH
AREERER FEBEEECFER
EFEAEBEENEERIZIRRE
RBEWT

Risk Response Measures

2 % FE 4 HE e

Formulating emergency
response plans to handle the
relevant issues arising from
extreme weather

Il FE 2 5T 2 BRIRARIE X
REIBNIERSEE

Adopt flexible working
arrangements in case of
adverse weather conditions
BB R T ERAWEE
Te&Hr

Perform periodic equipment
inspection and maintenance
TEHIEITRBERD it
Maintain comprehensive
insurance coverage on assets

HREEZERR

Monitor the updates
in environmental laws,
regulations and policies, and
respond to them in a timely
manner

BAIRIB AR AR KRR
BT MR B (R R

Introduce the latest energy-
saving technology and
equipment in workplace if
applicable.

R ITIESFRSI AR EIAE R
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SOCIAL
B1. Employment and labour practices

The Group is convinced that employees are the vital factor for the
success of an enterprise. The Group treats all employees as the
most valuable assets of the Group and also the most intimate and
reliable partners of the Group in promoting sustainable development.
Through establishing a comprehensive employment management
system, the Group provides employees with a competitive, attractive,
fair and inclusive working environment. The Group makes every effort
to let all employees fully unleash their value, and create a workplace
where employees feel satisfied and relaxed.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with employment-related laws and
regulations including the “Employment Ordinance” in Hong Kong,
the “Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China” and the
“Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China” in the
PRC that would have a significant impact on the Group.

Recruitment and Remuneration

The Group strictly follows relevant employment laws of Hong Kong
through the establishment of Human Resources Policy. The Group
offers an array of benefits on top of those required by laws and
regulations in Hong Kong to cater for the personal needs of the
Group’s employees and care for their physical and psychological

development.

Working environment o

TEIRIR AR T AR
Benefits °

w@mH medical care, etc.;
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FEBBBFIEANERBRBEEETE
AREEBRZR -AEREHREREER
ERRELOINNZREEF Lime R EH
BENBAZZ BOEENSOEE-

Provide site worker with shower rooms and common rooms;
NHAKREE ;

Provide meal allowance, business trip allowance, overtime compensation,

RHERR - LEMY - TEER#HE BERRES ;

Physical and psychological development e
of employees and

BESLER

Regularly host various sports activities, book sports venues for workers;

EHAABSEREERE RETEIESHHE, &

e Host cultural and sports events; and
MBI EREEES &

e Conduct training course such as emotional management, occupational

safety, etc.

BMEREE BELZESIEIRRE

The Group hires employees through open recruitment, fair
competition and strict appraisals and recruits workers on a selective
basis. The Group also continues to strengthen local young talent
recruitment in Hong Kong by selecting suitable fresh graduates
through recruitment activities and employment fairs in universities.

FEEBBARBE A THRFRBEET
EARBEEEREEENE L - ~&H
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RIR MERERRS

SOCIAL (continued)

B1. Employment and labour practices

(continued)

Promotion and Career Development

The Group cherishes and care for the employees. Therefore, the
Group attracts outstanding talents to join the workforce through
establishing a comprehensive promotion system so that the
workforce can thrive and grow from strength to strength.

The Group regularly conducts industrial benchmarking evaluation
and salary surveys for adjusting our remuneration level and
decisions on promotion in a timely manner. The Group adopts a
responsibility system for operational and management objectives,
and have developed systematic business indicators as an important
basis for annual performance and career development assessment.
Supervisor also discusses the performance with employee in
facilitating an effective 2-way communication for advancement.
Based on the evaluation result, the Group offers rewards to
employees in encouraging continuous improvement.

Communication Channels

The Group pays great attention to communicate between the
management and employees at all levels as the Group believes
that good communication will help enhance the employees’
sense of belonging, boost work morale and create a harmonious
workplace. The Group maintains regular communication with
employees through overall progress reporting, career development
assessment, seminar for new joiners, mailbox for recommendation,
and employee satisfaction survey. Survey forms are distributed
in understanding employees’ opinions on work responsibility,
working environment, organisation and employee relationship,
compensation and benefits, etc. The Group also encourages
employees at all levels to contribute valuable insights on the
Group’s business operations and corporate culture through various
channels to their respective superiors, the person-in-charge or the
human resources departments of their respective entities or the
officers-in-charge at all levels.
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SOCIAL (continued)

B1. Employment and labour practices

(continued)
Gender Equality and Anti-discrimination

Equal opportunities and anti-discrimination are one of the core
parts of the Group corporate culture. The Group strives to establish
and maintain a diversified, inclusive and non-discriminatory work
environment as the Group appreciates different backgrounds and
professional experience of all employees. In Employees’ Handbook,
the Group undertakes that all employees, regardless of gender,
age, nationality and race, are entitled to equal job opportunities and
benefits, covering training, promotion, transfer, dismissal, layoff,
employment conditions, etc.

The Group has also formulated the policies to provide clear
and specific guidelines on prohibition of any direct or indirect
discrimination and harassment concerning gender, marital status,
pregnancy, disability, family status, race, etc. Employees are
welcome to report any suspected cases through the whistleblowing
mechanism to protect the rights and interests of each employee.

Employment Key Performance Indicators (Employee)

Total workforce structure as at 31 March 2024
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2024 2023
Ratio of Ratio of
number of number of
Number of male to male to
Age employees by  Total number female female
Region Gender below 30 Age 30-50  Age over 50 ender of employees em£loyees emgloyees
eIk [Pl ZZImE 2T -E
HE MR 0FEUT 30Z505% 505 & BEAH BEAY ZBuEBLA BRESLAH
Hong Kong Male 1 19 13 33
&E S 54 16:1 2111
Female 4 14 3 21
gy
PRC Male 15 21 - 36
HE il 52 2.3:1 16:1
Female 9 6 1 16
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Total Male 16 40 13 69
fast ol 106 1.9:1 181
Female 13 20 4 37
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Total 29 60 17 106
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SOCIAL (continued)

B1. Employment and labour practices

(continued)

Employee turnover rate in the Reporting Period

BEREERKLLE

2024 2023
Employee total turnover rate BEMEMRKLEE 30%? 64%2
By age group R Ee A RE
Age below 30 305 AT 45%? 82%°
Age 30-50 30E505% 27%2 66%°
Age over 50 5058 A & 18%3 25%°
By gender RIS D
Male Bt 32%:3 75%°
Female Z% 27%? 42%3
By region e 8o
Hong Kong 548 15%3 21%?3
The PRC & 46%° 110%?°
Note 2: Employee total turnover rate = Total number of employees leaving Hizte | REERKEE=-FNEBETEY §Z
employment during the year/Total number of employees as of 31 March TERCNE=A=+—HEBEIRH100%"°
2024*100%.
Note 3: Employee turnover rate by category = Total number of employees leaving BiaE3 ¢ REER B DR E R AL ==12 4858 DI

FENBEBETAY HE_T_MNF=A4
=+—BZEE D E T4LE100% °

employment during the year by category/Total number of employees as of
31 March 2024 by category*100%.
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SOCIAL (continued)
B2. Health and Safety

HE @
B2. BEKR%ZRE

The Group is committed to providing a safe and healthy working
environment. Therefore, the Group has adopted an occupational
health and safety system in accordance with relevant occupational
health and safety laws, rules and regulation. It is managed by
safety department for the benefit of employees and subcontractors’
employees. In order to recognise the potential risk in the daily
operation, the Group conducts regular risk assessment to provide
employees with a safe and healthy working environment.

With effect from March 2015, the Group’s occupational health and
safety has been implemented in compliance with the requirements
of OHSAS18001:2007 international standards.

The Group strictly follows the corresponding measures under
extreme weather conditions in accordance with the Guide on
Safety at Work in Times of Inclement Weather and Code of
Practice in Times of Typhoons and Rainstorms issued by the
Labour Department, and the Guidelines on Site Safety Measures
for Working in Hot Weather issued by the Construction Industry
Council to ensure safety of employees.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with health and safety-related laws and
regulations including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance in Hong Kong, the “Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, the “Labour Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China” and the “Law on Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases of the People’s Republic of China” in the
PRC that would have a significant impact on the Group.

Every case of injury (if any) is required to be reported to the
Group and be assessed individually under the internal guideline
procedures set. The Group is pleased to report that the rate of
accidents and injuries during the Reporting Period was extremely
low with zero fatal accident, similar to last financial year.

Health and safety key performance indicators (Employee)
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2024 2023 2022
—EMmEFE “BT=HF kS
Number of work injuries THEAE 0 3 8
Rate of work injury (per hundred TITEX (EERES N/A
employees) FiEH 2.8 5.67
Number of loss days due to work ATHEBELATEHH 89* 7134 1,789
injuries

Note 4: The number of loss days due to work injuries in FY2024 and FY2023 is
because of the work injury happened in previous period.
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SOCIAL (continued)
B2. Health and Safety (continued)

Safety Management

The Group has developed the policies for safety and health
management, and formulated specific work guidelines according
to various scopes and procedures of construction to guarantee the
safety and health of all employees, sub-contractors and the people
affected by any relevant construction works.

The Group has formed corporate safety management committee
which chaired by the Directors to formulate safety policies and
to supervise its implementation. Top and senior management are
also required to attend safety conferences to discuss about safety
policies.

The Group’s safety officer is responsible for setting up safety plans
for workers before carrying out their duties in construction sites,
inspecting machines and equipment to ensure they are safe to be
used. The Group also carries out regular safe walks in order to
maintain safe working environment and site tidiness, handles safety
incidents and keeps safety records properly.

The Group also arranges regular internal safety audit. For example,
the Group offers equipment which comply with safety requirements.
The Group also monitors and supervises its compliance with
health and safety systems to ensure compliance with statutory and
contractual requirements. Appropriate improvements for the existing
system are also considered and implemented if necessary.

Safety Training

The Group provides regular safety training to the staff, including but
not limited to:

Providing appropriate safety training and instructions for the use of
new production methods and equipment;
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SOCIAL (continued)
B2. Health and Safety (continued)

Safety Training (continued)

Providing safety and health training, which covered the Group’s
safety and health policy, organisational structure for construction
site safety, safety code of conduct, engineering characteristics
and potential risks, emergency response procedures and other
relevant guidelines on safety management to all new employees at
construction sites; and

Carrying out safety hazard clearance, emergency drills, safety
advocacy and other related activities on the construction sites.

Employee Health Management

The Group offers comprehensive health care coverage for entire
employee such as health benefits. The Group also organises
work-life balancing activities for employees, implemented green
projects at office and carries out other activities to promote healthy
living practices. Health and safety communications are provided to
employees to present the relevant information and raise awareness
of occupational health and safety issues.
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RIR MERERRS

SOCIAL (continued)
B3. Development and Training

The Group believes that fostering and retaining talent is a core
part of ensuring sustainable development and strengthening its
competitiveness and regards staff as a strategic partner. Therefore,
the Group strives to provide support for employees’ career
development and personal value enhancement through systematic
training programmes.

Training and Development Policies

In order to improve employees’ level of skills and knowledge and
maximise their potentials, the Group has organised workshops,
seminars and training programmes for employees covering various
aspects. Employees are also encouraged to enrol in external
study opportunities and job-related courses to enrich themselves
through acquiring higher professional skills and qualifications.
Training courses and seminars designated by the Company are fully
sponsored. Employees are also supported by granting special fully-
paid leave for training.

Training Management

The Group has developed relevant policies in controlling the training
related procedures to ensure the effectiveness of the training
program. A training plan is developed by management based on
the requirements from various departments and employees and
special technical employees are granted the necessary training for
acquiring the related technical licences. Management examines
the effectiveness of training programs, and provides improvement
plans. The facilitators should acquire the required qualifications in
delivering the training, for example, understanding the knowledge
and procedures of the operating sectors, and related laws,
regulations and standards.

Training Programmes
The Group provides sufficient training to employees on quality,

environmental rules, and occupational safety to enhance
employees’ awareness, skills, and knowledge.
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SOCIAL (continued)

B3. Development and Training (continued)

Training Programmes (continued)

New employees shall undergo an orientation by the various
department heads to ensure that they are familiar with the
management system for quality, environmental, health, and safety
issues:

- Consequences of their work activities on workplace safety
and health including identifiable hazards, possible accidents/
incidents;

- Importance of conforming to the site staff manual (quality,
environmental, health, and safety) to prevent potential
consequences including accidents or incidents due to
deviation from specific procedures such as safe work
procedures; and

- On-the-job training under the guidance of senior staff for a
period to be decided by the respective department heads will
be provided for the new employees.

Furthermore, the Group provides different forms of training, not only
internal training, but also external special courses to equip staff
with professional skills and abilities to cater for the actual needs
of different departments and individuals. Safety induction course,
risk assessment and safe work procedure briefing are included in
internal training. External courses include occupational first aid,
safety and health management and equipment operation courses
etc. Course contents include ISO140001, ISO9001 trainings,
construction laws and good industry practices, etc.
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SOCIAL (continued)

B3. Development and Training (continued)

Training and Development Key Performance Indicators in

Hong Kong (Employee)

g @
B3. BERKEI @

REREINRERARERIER (BEB)

2024 2023
Percentage Overall Overall
of employees percentage percentage
Managerial receiving  of employees  of employees
level or Supervisory General training by receiving receiving
Trained staff above® staff® staff® gender® training® training®
kbl ZEIME ZEZ=
FES LR NZHIES ZilEE TilES
ZHET FULAES EX-UN-E —|RET® B BETMS BEAAS
Male 13% 13% 7% 33%
Bt 14% 7%
Female 0% 0% 67% 67%
pegi
Overall 13% 13% 74% 100%
BB
Note 5: Percentage of employees trained in relevant categories = Employees KiaEs5 : BRAMERNZ IR E T D LE=4E5 R 2 miEl
in the category who took park in training/Employees who took part in HREEAZ,2MiElEE AZ X100
training x 100
Note 6: Percentage of employees trained = Employees who took part in training/ Kizt6 @ ZHlREE D=2 NEIIRE NS B8

Total number of employees x 100 48 N#1x100
2024 2023
Average Overall Overall
Managerial training average average
level or Supervisory General hours by training training
Average training hours above’ staff’ staff’ gender’ hour? hour®
RIERIR 2 ZEIME ZEZ=
R RS 2R BRTY
FHZ FULAE TEAE —®RET’ (53 g 53l 153l
Male 0.5 hours 0.6 hours 0.1 hours 0.4 hours
Bt 0.5/\B 0.6/)\B 0.1/)\B 0.4/)\B 1.4 hours 0.3 hours
Female - - 4.5 hours 3.3 hours 1 4B 0.3/\F¥
#it 4518 3B
Overall 0.4 hours 0.5 hours 2.6 hours 1.4 hours
B 0.4/1\Bf 0.5/1\B 2.6/1\E 1.4/0\B

Note 7: Overall average training hour= Total number of training hours of the

category/Number of employees in category

Note 8: Average training hours per employee= Total number of training hours/Total

number of employees

WizE7 | BRI H=5a5 2R 5 585

BEAH

Hisz8 . B8R RETFHZINHU=2E5H RS

REAB
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SOCIAL (continued)

B4.

BS.

Labour Standards

Prevention of Child Labour and Forced Labour

A set of procedures has been established to prevent employment
of child labour or forced labour through carefully reviewing the
personal information of job candidates and clearly explaining the
employment conditions to them.

The Group is well aware of the Group’s responsibility of monitoring
the compliance of sub-contractors in their employment of
construction workers. The Group has assigned officer responsible
for labour relations on each site to check the identities of workers
through an electronic access control system to ensure that each
worker meets the statutory requirements for on-site construction.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with child and forced labour-related laws
and regulations (i.e. Employment of Children Regulations, The
International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, Employment
Ordinance, etc.) in Hong Kong that would have a significant impact
on the Group.

Supply Chain Management

The Group understands the importance of supply chain
management in mitigating the indirect environmental and social
risks. The Group is aware of the environmental and social practices
of the suppliers/sub-contractors, and tries to engage suppliers/sub-
contractors with responsible acts to the society in view of green
supply chain management.
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RIR MERERRS

SOCIAL (continued)

B5. Supply Chain Management (continued)

Supply Chain Management Structure

In order to ensure that the Group suppliers and sub-contractors
have met clients’ and the requirements regarding quality,
environmental and safety standards, the Group formulated standard
and stringent procedure in selecting suppliers and sub-contractors.
The Group procurement manager maintains an approved list of
suppliers and subcontractors. Assessments are carried out for
suppliers and sub-contractors at least on an annual basis by
contract managers and project managers. Regular meetings will be
held with sub-contractors to introduce and remind them to meet all
necessary requirements. The materials purchased from suppliers
and works performed by subcontractors will be checked and
monitored on a regular basis. Suppliers or sub-contractors may be
suspended or removed from the approved list if they are failed to
fulfil the Group’s standards.

Environmental and Social Responsibility of Suppliers/Sub-
contractors

The Group works closely with its contractors and suppliers who
are committed to high quality, environmental, health and safety
standards. The Group strives to ensure that suppliers and sub-
contractors conform to the quality, environmental, occupational
health and safety requirements of the Company. In controlling the
purchasing system, potential suppliers and subcontractors who can
meet the qualification requirement to supply goods and services
will be identified by quantity surveyors or purchasers. The suppliers
or subcontractors should at least have a certified quality and
environmental, health and safety system (e.g. ISO9001, 1ISO14001,
OHSAS18001, etc.). Qualified suppliers will be maintained in an
approved supplier and sub-contractor list. The performance of
suppliers and sub-contractors will be reviewed annually by the
Group.

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2024 Annual Report

HE @
B5. HEHEIE (48)

HEEEEERNE

AERAEEHEERDHIFHEREE S
REMBE RERZERENER K
EEHEAMNEREE R DA EVER
RERERF FEBENRBEERAEH
ERHEERDHEHNLE KEREER
EEKEE DSFHHEER RO HBHET
At AEREREREDHERITEH
BN RREREREMALENER B#
FEE ROV R D H BT ETTH TER
EHETREREE - MHEEHHDHIE
BERERAEENRE AREGERES
RS HAE AR H R B ERbRo

MR, DHENIREREEEE

FEBMEENTEEE - RFR BEEZS
SENAOERHEARESE - AEE
SERGAHEBRSHEREERATNE
EVIRE - BERBHRZ2HRT - TIEHIK
ERAR THASMAREEFERE
MERBHRFSERERNBTHER X
D EmHE-HEFXDHEEZ/LVER
ERFEERRE - BEEAZZ2R2F @MW
ISO9001 ~1SO14001 ~ OHSAS18001%5) o &
EREREERARE T ENHEER K
DHHmBER AEBKSFEHHERK
DHENRIFETED -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIR - HERERRS

HE @
B5. HEHEIE (48)

SOCIAL (continued)

B5. Supply Chain Management (continued)

Environmental and Social Responsibility of Suppliers/Sub-
contractors (continued)

Suppliers’ and sub-contractors’ other environmental and social
performances are also considered as a selection criteria for
establishing long-term relationship. Suppliers and sub-contractors
should not violate any related environmental and labour laws in
Hong Kong. The termination of suppliers and sub-contractors
relationship may be incurred by any substantial violation of laws and
regulations. The performance of suppliers and sub-contractors are
examined through regularly with onsite inspection, and the Group is
willing to provide guidance on improving their current practices.

Fair and Open Procurement

The Group has also formed rules to ensure that the suppliers and
sub-contractors could participate in competitions in an open and
fair way. The Group should not have differentiated or discriminated
treatment on certain suppliers and sub-contractors; the Group
would strictly monitor and prevent all kinds of business bribery; and
employees or personnel having any interest relationship with the
supplier or sub-contractors should not be involved in the related
business activity.

Number of critical suppliers cooperated with the Group
during the Reporting Period

Mg, SHENRERMEEE (@
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B AEERERERARSENEEHN
53l

DERFRRE

REBE T EHIE RN EREER R H
BARATHBEGES - KEEREEH
HERETETHERRDHE ; AEH
BREERDEFAETLANEERR K
BMEEN O EATANERENES
HABTEESEFRER TS -

BEHRARKRERSENEEHERD
e

Region 2024 2023
& —E-mE = ——
Hong Kong 10 14
aE

BN TR AR AR
S MFEER

127



128

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIR MERERRS

SOCIAL (continued)
B6.1.Protection of Intellectual Property Right

g @
B6.1. R AN A R R B ALRE

And Consumer Privacy

The Group recognises the importance of the protection over
intellectual property right and consumer privacy. Proper licences for
software and information are obtained by the Group to use in its
business operation.

Meanwhile, the Group handles all information provided by clients,
employees and business partner in accordance with non-disclosure
agreement, Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance and related laws and
regulations to ensure those information is under proper protection.

B6.2.Product Responsibility

Achieving and maintaining high quality standard for projects
are utmost important for sustainable growth of the Group. The
Group believes completing works that meet or exceed employer’s
requirements is crucial not only for building safety, but also for
job reference and future business opportunities. In order to
ensure delivering high quality services and sustainable projects to
customers, the construction process of the projects is controlled
and monitored regularly. The Group has been in strict compliance
with related laws and regulation in Hong Kong.

During the reporting period, due to the business nature of the
Group, there were no recalls concerning the provision and use of
products for safety and health reasons within the Group. Besides,
there were no substantiated complaints received relating to the
provision and use of products and services that have a significant
impact on the Group’s operations.
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SOCIAL (continued)

B6.2.Product Responsibility (continued)

Quality Management

The Group has established a formal quality management system
in accordance with the requirements of 1ISO9001:2008, OHSAS
18001:2007 and 1SO14001:2004 to develop a sustainable
performance oriented culture to pursue continuous improvement
on quality rather than adopting a short-term and project based
approach. Process control procedures has also been established
to ensure that the works meet the contractual specification and the
environmental, health and safety requirements. To pursue further
improvement, the Group’s Quality Management System is reviewed
at least annually by the management.

To ensure the Group’s works meet the required standards, the
Group normally assigns a responsible officer on a full-time basis at
each of the construction sites to monitor the quality of works done
by our own staff at the front line and our sub-contractors (as the
case may be). The project manager who generally makes daily visits
to construction sites is responsible for monitoring works quality
and progress of works and ensuring that works are completed
according to schedule. Furthermore, weekly meetings are held by
project team with our management to monitor each of the projects’
progress and discuss identified issues. The Group’s management
monitors closely the progress of each of the projects to ensure the
works:

- are met with the clients’ requirements;

- are completed within the time stipulated in the contract and
the budget allocated for the project; and

- are complied with all relevant codes and regulations
applicable to the works.
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RIR MERERRS

SOCIAL (continued)

B6.2.Product Responsibility (continued)

Business Ethics

The tendering process must be done in a fair manner to protect
the interests of the Group and clients. Employees responsible
for tendering must comply with the Competition Ordinance by
refraining themselves from exchanging or communicating any
sensitive information with competitors, participating in price fixing,
imposing restrictions on customers and abusing the dominant
market position. Relevant requirements on confidentiality and
compliance with Competition Ordinance have also been set out in
the Group’s Code of Conduct.

Customer Service

The Group cares about clients’ feedback and their satisfaction
on the Group’s performances. In order to provide good quality of
service, the Group strives to understand the needs of customers.
The Group also strives to provide the best services in supporting
customers. Customer Service Officer offers the required assistance
to customers on the application of services with their professional
knowledge.

Quality Department continues to send official customer satisfaction
surveys to the Group’s clients for reviewing our performances.
The review covered the Group’s tendering and quantity surveying,
project management, material and resources control, workmanship,
environment, safety and security performances, etc. Through
regular interaction with clients, the project manager and engineer
will gather information on their perception of the services.

The Group also handles complaints from clients by amending
the non-conformity within targeted timeframe, by complying with
statutory regulations, clients’ requirements and internal rules and
policies.
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SOCIAL (continued)

B6.2.Product Responsibility (continued)

B7.

Customer Privacy Protection

The Group is committed to ensuring that all confidential or special
information provided by clients, employees and business associates
remains strictly confidential. The Group is entered into confidential
agreements with clients and sub-contractors. Without their
authorisation, such information will not be disclosed to any third
party or made available to public.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
incidents of non-compliance with laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group, concerning health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to services
provided and methods of redress.

Anti-Corruption

The Group does not tolerate any corruptions, frauds and all other
behaviours violating work ethics. The Group values and upholds
integrity, honesty and fairness in how the Group conducts business.

Internal Control

The Group has established a formal Code of Conduct to help
to define appropriate methods in handling conflict of interests,
accepting advantages, leakage of confidential information, etc.
to comply with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance and other
relevant laws and regulations. All employees should decline an
offer of advantage if acceptance of it could affect their objectivity in
conducting the Group’s business. Employees will be subjected to
disciplinary actions if they are found violating the Code of Conduct
after investigation. Disciplinary actions include verbal or written
warnings, demotion and dismissal, and the case may be reported
to law-enforcement authorities for possible prosecution, depending
on the situation.

To further mitigate business frauds, the Group appoints professional
consulting firm to evaluate the Group’s internal control effectiveness,
detecting potential deficiency, and identifying areas of improvement.
Internal Audit Report is distributed to the Group for remediation.
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RIR MERERRS

SOCIAL (continued)

B7.

B8.

Anti-Corruption (continued)
Whistleblowing Policy

In order to further achieve and maintain the highest standards
of openness, probity and accountability, the Group has also
implemented a whistleblowing policy. This policy allows all
employees of the Group as well as independent third parties (e.g.
clients, suppliers, sub-contractors, creditors and debtors) who
deal with any employees to report any possible improprieties,
misconducts, malpractices or irregularities in matters of financial
reporting, internal control or other matters to the Audit Committee
anonymously. Reports and complaints received will be handled
in a prompt and fair manner. Such policy also aims at protecting
whistleblowers from unfair dismissal, victimisation and unwarranted
disciplinary actions. Any person who is found to have victimised or
retaliated against those who have raised concerns under this policy
will be subjected to disciplinary sanctions.

Anti-Corruption Training

During the Reporting Period, 11 staff and 2 directors have
participated in the training sessions which covering the topics such
as code of conduct, whistleblowing, anti-bribery and corruption
organised by the Legal Compliance and Ethics Center. In the future,
the Group would keep looking for the opportunity to host training to
further enhance employees’ awareness on anti-corruption.

During the reporting period, the Group did not have any litigation
involving the allegation of corruption of the Group or its employees.
The Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations
regarding anti-corruption and money laundering including but not
limited to the “Prevention of Bribery Ordinance”, the “Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter Terrorist Finance Ordinance” in Hong Kong
and the “Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of
China” that would have a significant impact on the Group.

Community Investment

The Group is committed to emboldening and supporting the public
by the means of social participation and contribution as part of
its strategic development, and to nurture the corporate culture
and practices of corporate citizen in the daily work life throughout
the Group. The Group focuses on inspiring employees towards
social welfare concerns. The Group would embraces the human
capital into the social management strategies to sustain the
Group’s corporate social responsibility as a part of the strategic
development of the Group.
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SOCIAL (continued)

B8. Community Investment (continued)

Maintaining a Good Relationship with Our Neighbours

The Group understands that any construction project will have an
impact on the surrounding environment and the lives of nearby
communities. The Group cares about the communities adjacent to
our projects. Hence, the Group aims to reduce the impact of the
construction process on the surrounding communities by carrying
out environmental management on our sites. Public relations
management projects are also carried out on the Group’s sites by
communicating with the residents, businesses and passers-by near
projects to maintain a harmonious relationship with neighbours.
A list of the site staff and their contact details are posted on the
hoarding panels of the Group’s sites to facilitate stakeholders’ direct
contact with the site staff in handling inquiries and complaints on a
timely manner.

Community Participation

The Group participates in community activities, for example,
donations, volunteering services, sponsorships, etc. With the active
participation in community events to help the needy. The Group
also regularly communicates with local charities to understand
community’s needs. The Group believes it helps to connect the
Group with the local community, and maintain a mutually beneficial
relationship to the society as a whole.

Raising Awareness of Employees

The Group’s employees are encouraged to donate to recognised
charitable institutions in order to help grass-roots community or
those in need, so that they can gain education and care. The Group
also encourages employees to suggest areas of contribution based
on their personal experiences in the community.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS

Aspect A1: Emissions

A1EE : B

Performance indicator

BRIER

Emissions Total NOx emissions (kg)

IR BAEACHNONBERE (F572)

Total PM emissions (kg)
AR YIPMBERE (F52)

Total SOx emissions (kg)

BIREEMSONBERE (F52)

Total GHG emissions (tonnes)
RERBEHHRE (F)

Intensity of GHG emissions per project
(tonnes)
SEEENAREREBHNZE (W)

Non-Hazardous waste Inert C&D waste (tonnes)

BmEEY B FEREY) ()

Intensity of inert C&D waste per
project (tonnes)
SEEENEERFEEYEE ()
Non-inert C&D waste (tonnes)
JETEMEIR R Y (W)

Intensity of non-inert C&D waste per

project (tonnes)
SEBEENFEEEIREENEE (M)
Mixed C&D waste (tonnes)
RETIEEEY (M)

Intensity of mixed C&D waste per
project (tonnes)
SEEENRESIHFEEYEE (M)
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2024 Data 2023 Data
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67 g
11.62 62.40
0.05 0.37
1.04 5.45
212.09 139.29
26.51 13.93
72,649 48,298
9,081.13 4,829.80
543 1,085
67.87 108.50
31 =
3.88 -

HKEx ESG
Reporting
Guide KPI
EARHRFR
RIE-HER
B EIESI
FRSREIEIE
KPI A1.1
RESEAE RN
FEIEATA
KPI A1.1
RERER
FE1ZA1 .1
KPI A1.1
REREN
S1ZA1.1
KPI A1.2
FEIEA1.2
KPI A1.2
RESEAE RN
S1ZA1.2

KPI A1.3
RARAEN
S1ZA1.3
KPI A1.3
}51ZA1.3
KPI A1.3
RASEAE N
51ZA1.3
KPI A1.3
RASRAEN
FEIZEA1.3
KPI A1.3
RARAEN
S1ZA1.3
KPI A1.3
}51ZA1.3
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ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE IRIERIVIGIE (@)
INDICATORS (continued)

Aspect A2: Use of resources
A2EHE : BiRfEA

Performance indicator 2024 Data 2023 Data HKEx ESG
Reporting
Guide KPI
ERIEIR ZEIWmEF ZEI=F BB
i gE  IRIRHER
EiamEiEsl
RRS AR MIEIR
Electricity Total electricity consumption (kKWh) 326,240 92,415 KPI A2.1
Bh MBS (TRE) BSR4
E1RA2.1
Intensity of electricity consumption 40,780.00 9,241.50 KPI A2.1
per project (KWh) RABRAAR
BEEENEEEEE (TRE) 15RA2.1
NRF Total NRF consumption (kWh) 35,306 245,368 KPI A2.1
JEBEMR WIEFLIMELERES (TR RASRAER
15RA2.1
Intensity of NRF consumption per 4,413.25 24,536.81 KPI A2.1
project (kWh) RERERN
SREEBEENFEFEEMEHEERE 512A2.1
(FEE)
Water Total water consumption (cubic 33,259 27,529 KPI A2.2
7k meters) RABRAAR
BEKE GI7HK) 1E1EA2.2
Intensity of water consumption per 4,157.38 2,752.90 KPI A2.2
project (cubic meters) RERERN
SREEENAKERE QLFK) §1ZA2.2

B B ERARAS
THEIEEAEER 135
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RIR MERERRS

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Aspect B1: Employment
B1EE : &

Performance indicator

EREIR

Number of employees as at
31 March
R=A=+—HEEA¥

Employee turnover rate

EEMRALLER

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2024 Annual Report

Gender:
R

- Male

- B

— Female

-t

Age
BEH
— Below 30 years old
- 30 AT
— Between 30 to 50 years old
- 30E508%
— Over 50 years old
- 50 &

Region

&
- HK
i
—The PRC
-

Gender
R

— Male (%)

- B1%(%)

— Female (%)

- ZE(%)

Age
ey
— Below 30 years old (%)
— 305k LA (%)
— Between 30 to 50 years old (%)
- 30E505%(%)
— Over 50 years old (%)
- 507% LA _E(%)

Region
&
- HK (%)
— a%;%(%)
— The PRC (%)
- HRE(%)

Ratio of employee turnover to total
number of employees

EERRABIGEEBH LXK

= xhy +E 4FE
L FEBIER

2024 Data 2023 Data

—TomE —TC=F

Bt 26

69 69

37 38

29 34

60 53

17 20

54 56

52 51

32 75

27 42

45 82

27 66

18 25

15 21

46 110

30 64

Stock
Exchange
ESG
Reporting
Guide KPI

B AT FRIRIR
HERER
b= o] Lk
BMIER

KPI B1.1
RSB ARIE R
B1.1

KPI B1.1
RESRAE ISR
B1.1

KPI B1.1
ISR
B1.1

it

ke

/

KPI B1.2
B AR IR
B1.2

KPI B1.2
R SRR ISR
B1.2

KPI B1.2
B AR IR
B1.2

KPI B1.2
R SRR 5 1R
B1.2



SOCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

(continued)

Aspect B2: Health and safety
B2EME : BEEER2

Performance indicator 2024 Data
BYIER “EMmE
g
Number of work injuries (per person) -
TEHE BA)
Rate of work injury (per thousand employees) N/A
IEX B TRES
Number of loss days due to work injuries 89
RAITHEEEIIERH
Aspect B3: Development and training
B3EM : & REKRIEI
Performance indicator
BMIER
Percentage of Gender
employees trained 2R

ZiEEE AL - Male (%)

- B 1% (%)

— Female (%)

- 1% (%)

Employee category
#ZRE1EH(%)
— Managers or above (%)
- RRIBF LA (%)

— Supervisors staff (%)
-FEBEI(%)

— General staff (%)

- —RET(%)

Overall (%)
(%)

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIR - HERERRS

HEEBER @

2023 Data 2022 Data Stock
Exchange
ESG
Reporting
Guide KPI
“ET=F TEBITF KRARIRE
ik EE HERER
HREIESIRRE
BMIER
3 8 KPI B2.1
RAR G IISIR
B2.1
2.8 5.67 KPI B2.1
RAR G IISIR
B2.1
713 1,789 KPI B2.1
RAR G IISIR
B2.1
2024 Data 2023 Data Stock
Exchange
ESG
Reporting
Guide KPI
—TMmE TET=F Hﬁ"“‘FﬁiEiﬁ~
E67 B HERER
HREISS| R
nﬁﬂ?ﬁ*ﬁ
33 28 KPI B3.1
RAR G IISIR
67 72 B3.1
13 14 KPI B3.1
RAR G IISIR
13 14 B3.1

74 72

14 7

FF' 7’E NG
SNRSZEEEEY 1
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RIR MERERRS

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

(continued)

Aspect B3: Development and training (continued)

B3[BT : 58 KRz ()

Performance indicator

BRI

Average training hours
completed per employee

SHESETFHIETMEINRE

Gender
R
— Male (hours)
- B (NE)
— Female (hours)

A UNS)

Employee category

#EE 585!
— Managers or above (hours)
- I E VN
— Supervisors staff (hours)
-FEBT (N
— General staff (%)
- —HRET (%)

Overall
Fpe
AE AR

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

BSEE : fifEHEERE

Performance indicator

ERIEIR

Number of critical suppliers

EERMERYE

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2024 Annual Report

Hong Kong
aE

2024 Data

kS0 = 5
Big

0.4

3.3

0.4
0.5

2.6

1.4

2024 Data

—ENEF
i

10

HEERIER @

2023 Data

—xo=g

wE

0.2

0.4

0.7
0.3

0.4

0.3

2023 Data

=5

267

14

Stock
Exchange
ESG
Reporting
Guide KPI
B3 FRIRIR
HERER
HEIS5IRAR
BMIER

KPI B3.2
RSB AA ISR
B3.2

KPI B3.2
RS AR ISR
B3.2

KPI B3.2
RS IE 1R
B3.2

Stock
Exchange
ESG
Reporting
Guide KPI

B PRIRIR
HERER
HREIESIRRE
BMIER

KPI B5.1
RASRAE N IEIR
B5.1



THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF 1}

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

HONG KONG LIMITED BE5|

Subject Areas,

Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs
TEHB -EAE-

— IR IR R K R SR A IR AR
Aspect A1: Emissions
A1EME : HER4D

General Disclosure

— AR ER

KPI A1.1

B RAE IS IRAL A

KPI'A1.2

RISRIERIETRAL.2

KPI'A1.3

B IEIE1RA1.3

KPI A1.4

BRGNS IRA1.4

Description

Er::pus

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges

into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-

hazardous waste.

ERERMORERBEN MK RN -AER

BEBEVNELSZN !

(& KK

() BTFHEFETABBAZENEREREKRRO

&k} o

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

PR E L RARRA R B -

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse
gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

B (BE1) KisRERE FEER) REREHHE U
MEETE) K MNER) ZE WIS ES 81 §BER Mt
) o

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

FRE4BSEEMRE UWEETE) &k Q1B B) ZE WX
SESEM SERME) o

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

FRESRIEEYRE UETE) &k QIER) ZE WX
BESEN BEXRMH) o

IRIR - HERERRS

Section/Declaration

-y L:

Environmental

RIg

Environmental — A1. Emission
and waste — Exhaust Gas

Emissions
IRIE - A1 BEYI R EEY) - BE SR
BER

Environmental — A1. Emission
and waste — Greenhouse Gas
(“GHG”) Emissions

RIE - AV R EEY)—RE
wEE (GREERE)) BER

Environmental — A1. Emission
and waste — Hazardous wastes

R -A BRI REY—B S
BEY)

Environmental — A1. Emission
and waste — Waste Disposal and
Management

IRIR - ALBER Y R EEY) — BB Y
RERERE

BR ERERERAT
S MFEER

139
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RIR MERERRS

INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED (continued)

Subject Areas,

Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs
TEHB -EAE-

— IR R K R SR A IR AR
KPI A1.5

RS ERIEIRALS

KPI'A1.6

B RIAIEIRA1.6

Description

iR
Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

HIPRET LB S B IR R A BB L B ARFT IR ERAY 2
Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
are handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set
and steps taken to achieve them.

i ERIE A SR BB EEYN T A REIPAET LA A
BE B R R REDE L B IRFTEREAY P R o

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

A2EHE : EiRfER
General Disclosure

—RRE

KPI A2.1

AR ERIEIRA2.1

KPI'A2.2

B RARRIEIRA2.2

KPI A2.3

B AR IEIRA2.3

KPI A2.4

R REIEIRA2.4

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2024 Annual Report

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy,
water and other raw materials.

BUERER (BIEER - K REMRAE) BIEES -
Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in *000s) and intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

RN DNERE RS EEER WE  RIUh RS
UFEFEEE) REE MUASES B 818K
MEETE) °

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them

P T LA RE AN @ B R R AER B L B IR
ERAY BR o

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them.

#h21 SR BV AR KOIR £ P B 1R 1R » UK PR 5T LAY AR OK
W B AR K A E EiE L B AR PR ERER AV 5 BR 0

iRt E

BR3¢

Section/Declaration

=885

Environmental — A1. Emission
and waste — Greenhouse Gas
(“GHG") Emissions

RIE - A BRI R EY —RE
FEe (DREERER)) BER
Environmental — A1. Emission
and waste — Waste Disposal and
Management

IRIR - ALBERY) R BEY) — BB W)
BREREE

Environmental — A2. Use of
Resources

IB1E - A2. B RAIAB
Environmental — A2. Use of
Resources — Energy Efficiency

RIE - A2BRA A RWE

Environmental — A2. Use of
Resources — Water Efficiency

Management
IRIR - A2 B RA A — Ak
=5

Environmental — A2. Use of
Resources — Energy Efficiency
IRIE - A2 BRT A —fER
WE

Environmental — A2. Use of
Resources — Water Efficiency
Management

IRIR - A2 B RA B — Ak

B2
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IRIR - HERERRS

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT &
INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF B - (12 REALKREIESIR
HONG KONG LIMITED (continued) =

Subject Areas,
Aspects, General

Disclosures and KPIs Description

TEHB -EAE

—RIRBERARENIEE

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in
tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced.

RASRAB IS IRA2.5 S mPrAEEMEIRNAS UMt HE) Kk WER) 84
EBfhE-

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

ASEE : RIERXRAER

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on
the environment and natural resources.

— R BIREITABRERRAEREMERZENBER -

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken
to manage them.

A SR AR RFE 1RAS. 1 I ER T HRIER R AERNEATERERNE
EBEEETENTH -

Aspect A4: Climate Change

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant
climate-related issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer.

— AR ER AR EHEERFISEEHETAEELENERRE
HRASEERER-

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which
have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer,
and the actions taken to manage them.

A SR AR RIS 1RAL. 1 BB R APIEEHET AELERENEARRIEERSE
B REHTE

Section/Declaration

=8 BEA
Environmental — A2. Use of
Resources — Packaging material

IR - A2 BRI B-8&ME

Environmental — A3. The
Environment and Natural
Resources

IR - ABIRIE R BARER
Environmental Protection —
The Environment and Natural
Resources
RRRE-RIERBERAER

Environmental — A4. Climate
Change

BIE - ALRIREL

Environmental — A4. Climate
Change

B - AL IR

BN TR AR AR
S MFEER

14
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RIR MERERRS

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT &EH &3 5 FERARIR
5

INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF 1}

HONG KONG LIMITED (continued) @??,IEE

Subject Areas,

Aspects, General

Disclosures and KPIs Description

TEHB -EAE-

—RIRBERARENIEE

Aspect B1: Employment

B1EE : &

General Disclosure Information on:
(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that

have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare

— AR B BRI RE BREREN  TIEFE - B 5%
St RERUREMEFBRENN
(@ KK
) BTFHEFEGTABBAZENHEREREKRRM
K&k} o

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example,
full- or part-time), age group and geographical region.

RASRAE IS 1B .1 MR RIEEE N2 B TR  FiER Rt E 5
HNiEEMRE -

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

RASRAE RIS 1RB1.2 MR FEAER R E B DR RE ML

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

B2EE : REREER

General Disclosure Information on:
(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that

have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards

— iR BRRHZ2THRRERREEEBRBELREN :
@ B
(o) BFHETABEAZENERER LR
ko

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each

of the past three years including the reporting year.

i SR B X5 1RB2.1 BE=F QEERFE) SFRTTHROABKRLE

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2024 Annual Report

Section/Declaration

-y :

Social — B1. Employment and
labour practices

HE-B1EERFELER

Social—B1. Employment and
labour practices
HE-BlLEBREILER
Social—B1. Employment and

labour practices
HE-BlLEBRFIER

Social — B2. Health and Safety

HE-B2ERKREZERE

Social — B2. Health and Safety

HE-BRERREZR



THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIR - HERERRS

HONG KONG LIMITED (continued)

Subject Areas,
Aspects, General

Disclosures and KPIs Description

TEHB -EAE

—RIRBERARENIEE

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.

RASRAE IS 1RB2.2 RITEERTIEHE-

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.

RASRAE WIS 1RB2.3 H 2 PTER A B0 BB 2 R R B 2 4R T LU ABRE BT K R
BHEe

Aspect B3: Development and Training

B3[EM : ERKIE

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.

— R BRIRAEERETT IIERE R # i e B EER - fi it
= H PEEIK

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management).

A SR AB WIS 1EB3.1 BEREERER ESREEE -PREER 9N
ZilfEEB DL

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employee category.

RS AB IS 1RB3.2 B REEHERE D 8L EETME TR
2o

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
B4/EE : 55 TR
General Disclosure Information on:
(@  the policies; and
(o)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour

—fRiREE BREBHIEE T e 555 ThY
@ BX;&
) BEBTFHETABEAZENEREREALRD
B o

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to

avoid child and forced labour.
R AW IGEIEB4.1 iR B F B M LA o & T ReaR s T o

Section/Declaration
=101

Social - B2. Health and Safety
HE-B2REREZSR

Social — B2. Health and Safety

HE-B2REREE

Social - B3. Development and
Training
18 - B3. EFR&IE

Social - B3. Development and
Training

18 - B3. ER&IE
Social - B3. Development and

Training
18 - B3. ER&IE

Social — B4. Labour Standards

HE- B4 TIZAE

Social — B4. Labour Standards

HE-B4 B TRE

BN TR AR AR
S MFEER

143
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RIR MERERRS

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT FHEKSXZFRERL
INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF =
HONG KONG LIMITED (continued) BE3| @

o]
[

Subject Areas,

Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs
TEHB -EAE-

— IR R K R SR A IR AR
KPI B4.2

RGN I51RB4.2

Description

iR
Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices
when discovered.

W EIRER B REHRE RIS PRI R T BR -

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

B5EMHE - {EFEREE
General Disclosure

—RRE
KPI B5.1

RS 4R 151RB5. 1
KPIB5.2

R SR AE X5 1RB5.2

KPI B5.3

R R AE 515653

KPI B5.4

B R IEXIE1RB5.4

0KG Technology Holdings Limited

2024 Annual Report

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the
supply chain.

B HEENIRR R EMREER

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

&S DHEREE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

it A B L R e AV IE 41> m E T A RIE ARV
A URABARITRERF A

Description of practices used to identify environmental
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

A B B R EIR S NIRIE Kt & R RAYIE
B> U ABRAIT R B8 7 7k o

Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers,
and how they are implemented and monitored.

HMT IR R E R 2 BIRIRE R RFBNIEE
DU ABRA T I BB 5 7% o

Section/Declaration

-y :

Social — B4. Labour Standards

18 -B4. BIIRE

Social — B5. Supply Chain
Management

& - Bo. HEEEIE
Social - B5. Supply Chain
Management

t1& - Bo. HEREIE
Social — B5. Supply Chain
Management

e - B5. HERERE

Social — B5. Supply Chain
Management

g - B5. HAEREE

Social — B5. Supply Chain
Management

& - B5. HEEERE
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IRIR - HERERRS

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT &
INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF B - (12 REALKREIESIR
HONG KONG LIMITED (continued) =

Subject Areas,

Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs
TEHB -EAE

— IR R K R SR A R AR

Description

Ei::pus

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

B6EH : EMEE
General Disclosure

— AR ER

KPI B6.1

B R AE X IE15B6.1

KPI B6.2

%5 B E1RB6.2

B6.3

B R AE X 515B6.3

KPI B6.4

B R IE X 515B6.4

KPI B6.5

R R 4E A5 1%B6.5

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and

privacy matters relating to products and services provided

and methods of redress.

ERFFREERIRSNERERZE EE BB KR
REEURERTTER
(@) HEHR; XK

) BTFHEFETABBAZENHEREREKRRM
&k} o

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons.
BENBEXEREHRR 22 EREEEAMER RSN
Batke

Number of products and service related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.
BREBANERMRBNRFEEUREH T ZE
Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.

R R RIEA B A A RIRIIE G

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.

B 218 T 818 & EmEIWEF

Description of consumer data protection and privacy
policies, and how they are implemented and monitored.

Y B E B RHERE R AABBEUR » U R AR 1T R B
Fike

Section/Declaration

-y L

B6.1 Protection of
Intellectual Property Right And
Consumer Privacy; B6.2 Product
Responsibility

Social —

8- B6.1MRENBER SN
BEE ;B62.EMETE

B6.2. Product
Responsibility
#HE-Bo2ERET

Social —

B6.2. Product
Responsibility

T E-Bo2ERET

B6.1 Protection of
Intellectual Property Right And

Social —

Social —

Consumer Privacy

HE- BoA fRER B AR KH
BETE

B6.2. Product
Responsibility

T E-Bo2ERET

B6.1 Protection of
Intellectual Property Right And

Social —

Social —

Consumer Privacy
HE- BoA fRER B AR KH
BETE

B BB PR A B
—EMEFR
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RIR MERERRS

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF 1 —
HONG KONG LIMITED (continued) BFE5|(

Subject Areas,

Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs
TEHB -EAE-

— IR R K R SR A IR AR
Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
B7EM@ : R&S

General Disclosure

—ARiRER

KPI B7.1

RS AR IEIRBT A

KPI B7.2

RS ARI51RBT7 .2
KPI B7.3

RRENIEIEBT.3

Description

it

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering

B RARA LEBARS ~ 8131~ BRER Rt R E2AY ¢

@ BE;XK

(o) ETHBTABEAXENERERRRO

&k} o

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt

practices brought against the issuer or its employees

during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.

RIREMAHBTAREESRE L EBENESHL
ZHNHE KSR

Description of preventive measures and whistleblowing
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored.
ML SIS R RIRAR T UL AERA T R B ER /5% ©
Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors
and staff.

HIREERETRHHNRETEI -

Aspect B8: Community Investment

BSEMHE : HtERE
General Disclosure

—RRE

KPI B8.1

B SR AR RNIE15B8.1

KPI B8.2

B IENIE1EB8.2

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2024 Annual Report

Policies on community engagement to understand the
needs of the communities where the issuer operates

and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.
BREAUHEZSHRTHREEMTHESEMBMREERS
EEEE B BRI HmAIBER

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).
HIEREE WHE BESE HIERK ERE X
£ 88) -

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus
area.

EFIHBFAFBER WEERERE) o

Section/Declaration

-y :

Social — B7. Anti-corruption

HE-B7.RES

Social — B7. Anti-corruption

#HE-B7.RES

Social - B7. Anti-corruption

#HE-B7.R&ES
Social — B7. Anti-corruption

HE-B7T.RES

Social - B8. Community
Investment

HE-B3HEBREE

Social — B8. Community
Investment
HtE-BHERE

Social — B8. Community
Investment
HtE-BHERE



Independent Auditors’ Report

B &30 F A R
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

TO THE MEMBERS OF OKG TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of OKG
Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 156 to 279,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (‘HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

WAL B AR S

31/F, Gloucester Tower 7 i

The Landmark IR

11 Pedder Street BT 119
Central B

Hong Kong AR LAT R E3 11

HER ERERERARNE
(RS EAEMALZBRAE)

ER

FAZBED (WUT 8 THFY)) BB ZH156E
2TOEFTEEBINERIZERARAR ((EAF) &
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

RSB EE

R Est S

FRESAFTEEREBERMINFEEAE  BHHK
MEAEPREUBRREABEENFR -ZF
FEDPREMBABEREEMHBRRRERRK
PMHENERFKETERE MAMIEHZEE
HEHEBEBENER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HAINEFA A HAREF FHETRE

Accounting for digital assets transactions and balance in
proprietary trading in digital assets
UFEEHEXRGPUFEERZ RBHI G5 B

Refer to Notes 2.10, 3.3, 3.4, 4, 5, 21 and 31 to the consolidated financial statements

HR TSR ERMEE2.1043.3-3.4 4521 %31

The Group’s digital assets business mainly includes
proprietary trading in digital assets.
EEEYFEEERFIEOREFEERER S -

Digital assets that the Group deals which are cryptographically
secured assets for which encryption techniques are used
to regulate the generation of units of currency. Supply and
demand determine the value of digital assets which can be
extremely volatile in this emerging industry.
EEEMEENBFEERNTLEE  BRINMEBRIM
ARG EEREANES HBERAETHFEENEE
T 7E LT B T ZE R BB RIRE ©

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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Our procedures on the Group’s digital assets transactions
and balances mainly included:

BMM EEENBFEERZRGHRITHERZE
BIE

° Understanding the key controls, including automated
and manual controls, and segregation of duties in the
execution of these controls, in the following areas:
THRUTHENREEES 0F88 Rk AFEH
RBTEGHNBELT :

o information technology general controls over
the accounting system and applications that are
considered relevant to the financial statement
reporting process;

Bl TR R A HMBRERER
ErFERNGTREERANMER ;

o) recorded of depositing, withdrawal, trading and
settlement transactions with counterparties in
the relevant platform; and
sCEx AR T BN FHETHNER  ZE
RAREE &

o) reconciliations of digital asset transactions and
balances between trade records on internal
operating and accounting systems with other
external source of data.
HFEERFRAERERZ L mMABEE
Fe & 51 R 32 Z 40 A0 H M 51 ER 2R B9 SR AV
Ao



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

HREHEE

Independent Auditors’ Report
I HEMR S

FIEESEIR @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HANBAMABNARES FRETRE

HKFRSs do not specifically address accounting for digital
assets. Accordingly, for the preparation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements, management needs to
apply judgements in determining appropriate accounting
policies based on the existing accounting framework and the
facts and circumstances of the Group’s digital assets.
*%%?ﬁiﬁ%iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁém EHERIE o A
IRH SEENGEMHHRERME  BEEBANRE
ﬁﬁﬁ FHERN BEEMNMFEENFTBERIERE
BB G st BUREE R FI

Given the business model of the Group, digital assets are
either accounted for as inventories measured at fair value
less costs to sell or financial instruments measured at fair
value on the consolidated statement of financial position.

1N BEENEBEN BFEERGESMBRRRE
ABEEAR UERAFTEBHEREAFTE HEAEHMT
BAR WA ESE-

Furthermore, in determining fair values, management needs
to apply judgement to identify the relevant available markets,
and to consider accessibility to and activity within those
markets in order to identify the principal digital asset markets
dealt with by the Group.

Lo REE QA TFER > S1EEHZE R ¥ Bk E 8
MBI BMS T BZE IS &% RES » UHE
E BEERENTIEHFTEEMS

Due to the complexity and evolving nature of blockchains
and technology associated with digital assets, the reliance
of the Group’s business thereon, and the management
judgements applied in accounting for the digital asset
transactions and balances described above, we considered
the risk of material misstatement relating to these
transactions and balances as significant and hence a key
focus of our audit.

FR7S 8 B A AR R (& R 98 e B 1T RV 4B FE 1 R R ER 2 R /Y
ﬂ&\%%i%FﬂEﬁi&ﬁ&ﬁmW%&iﬁﬁﬁ
BHBFEER S G FETS 5t EEIE FTIE RV FIE
BRI B ZE X5 K E A B R E A SE SR PR B f AR 7
B AR MEST 2B

° Understanding and evaluating the accounting policies
adopted by management for its digital assets based
on the contractual and business arrangements with
respective counterparties; and
RIBEEREFHETHNEOREB L TR
ML EEEMERTEEMRMNESEER ; &

° Performing substantive tests of details, on a sample
basis including the following:
ETEE MR E BEUTEE

o circularised independent audit confirmations
to counterparties to confirm account balances
at the year end and matched management’s
records of the digital assets balances as at year
end;
BEUBRAETNETHF A URBER
RPEGRITHEEEHEFRNUFTEES
BRaC 2R AR ULED

o) reviewed the appropriateness of management’s
assessment and determination of principal
market for each of the relevant digital assets.
Testing the fair value of digital assets adopted
by management to external data quoted in the
principal exchange market; and
B kEEEEENSHBAMFTEELTED
SNESTL A EEEERNBETERS
ﬁ%izﬁm%%ﬁ#ﬁ%m%%ﬁémﬂ
TE; &

o) checked digital assets trade transactions to the
statement obtained from the relevant platform.

REEHEBTARENREREERFEER
PR ZRIT e

BN EEERARAT
—EMEFR
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BB EE

FIEEStEIE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANEFNANRRESFRETERE

Recognition of revenue and costs from construction contracts and contract assets

BB R A EL I m R AR GAIEE

Refer to Notes 2.23, 4, 5 and 20 to the consolidated financial statements

F2RRE M HREMEE2.23~ 45520

We identified recognition of revenue and costs from
construction contracts and contract assets as a key
audit matter as significant management’s estimations
and judgements are involved in the determination of the
outcome of construction contracts and the progress towards
completion of construction works.
EMHERERSNEENRE R ARENEER
— RSB FE HTHRNEERRGNERAERT
BRREER Y RERNEIEE G5 A HE o

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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Our audit procedures in relation to recognition of revenue
and costs from construction contracts and contract assets
mainly included:

BMmmEsEEs
FREFFEEE

MEENWRD RN ARGNEENS

° Reviewing the contract sum and budgeted costs to
respective signed contracts and budgets prepared by
management;
BEREMERTT NN ENTERBEREAUKE
EEREMNTESR ;

o Understanding from management about how the
budgets were prepared and the respective progress
towards completion of construction works were
determined;

MERE T RNAGENEE RINMEEREREIRES
RREE ;

° Evaluating the reasonableness of progress towards
completion of construction works by obtaining
the certificates issued by customers or payment
applications confirmed by internal surveyor;
FIRRISE R LEE R AR 2RI
FAs TR TR TEREENSIEN ;

° Testing the actual costs incurred on construction
works;

AHBERTIREENERRE ;

° Assessing the reasonableness of the budgets by
comparing the actual outcome against management’s
estimation of similar contracts; and
ZBLERERERREEBHELUSHONMGE TG
FEENEEY &

o Assessing the appropriateness and adequate of
the disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements.

HMERGEMBRRFENKEEDEERTE
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Key audit matter

HREHEE
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FIEESEIR @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HANBAMABNARES FRETRE

Impairment assessment of trade and loan receivables and contract assets

B 5B ARAA R fER BRI R A B BY B (EE TS

Refer to Notes 2.9, 3.1, 4, 19 and 20 to the consolidated financial statements

FLRGREHMHREMEE2.93.14195%20

We identified impairment assessment of trade and loan
receivables and contract assets as a key audit matter due
to the involvement of subjective judgement and estimates of
the management of the Group in determining the expected
credit losses of the Group’s trade and loan receivables and
contract assets at the end of the reporting period.
EMETEEZRUIRRRBWERURENEENRE
SHMERMAREZEE DERBRSHRTEL SEENE
SEBERRRERERURENEENTEREEHER
Wk BEEEIEENTERFIE KRGS

Our audit procedures in relation to impairment assessment
of trade and loan receivables and contract assets mainly
included:

BMMEE SRR B ERURENEENHRE
HMLETEZNEFI2EE

° Discussing with management on the estimation
involved in determining the amount of expected
credit loss allowance regarding the trade and loan
receivables and contract assets;

BERE TR R BB SRR B E UL
RENEENTEREEHHEEHSENMGES

o Testing the working paper files prepared by
management’s expert to calculate the expected credit
loss and checking the information included in the
working paper files;

A EEBEERRRUAERREEHEN IR
EXHWIRE TIEREXHFTRER ;

o Assessing the appropriateness of the expected
credit loss provisioning methodology, examining the
key data inputs on a sample basis to assess their
accuracy and completeness, and challenging the
assumptions, including both historical and forward-
looking information adopted; and
SHMETEREEREBRESEZNEEN  UBEARE
iR ErREER A LG EERE KBS I
HEEMXARELRAEEEEERNRERRE DY
8 &

o Assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures
about the expected credit loss allowance regarding
trade and loan receivables and contract assets in the
consolidated financial statements.

T BEETASMBRRFENE S EUIEER
KEWEFUARENEENTEREEHERBNRE

BRERS-

BN TR AR AR
S MFEER
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EMPHASIS OF MATTER

We draw attention to Note 3.4 to the consolidated financial statements,
which describe the risks and uncertainties with respect to the Group’s
digital assets related business. These conditions in our view are of such
importance that they are fundamental to users’ understanding of the
Group’s digital assets related business and the consolidated financial
statements. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE
DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2024 Annual Report
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE
DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with our agreed term of engagement and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstaterment when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Independent Auditors’ Report
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2024 Annual Report
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Mr. Kwok Kin Leung.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Kin Leung

Practising Certificate Number: PO5769
Hong Kong, 27 June 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

e Rm R HMEEI R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E_ME TEBC=F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
i3 FAET FET
(restated)
(RE7)
(Note 11)
(BtaE11)
Continuing operations FBREET
Revenue Wi & 337,332 344,945
Cost of sales THE A (271,126) (190,969)
Gross profit EF 66,206 153,976
Other income, gains and (losses), net HhUr A~ Wsm K (B538) J$58 5] (902) (922)
Administrative and other operating expenses 1T B & H 4L = 5% (100,032) (80,756)
Impairment losses on intangible assets B BEEZ HERE = (1,646)
Impairment losses on financial assets and  &MEERSNEEZHE
contract assets, net B 18358 (7,841) (7,611)
Operating (loss)/profit & (B518) A (42,569) 63,041
Finance costs n?é B A 6 (2,500) (4,092)
(Loss)/Profit before income tax BREFSIEAT (B518) i&F 7 (45,069) 58,949
Income tax expenses FriSfi 10 - (9,673)
(Loss)/Profit for the year from continuing REFELSEEB ZFNRN
operations (B518) mF) (45,069) 49,276
Discontinued operation BARIEREER
Profit/(Loss) for the period/year from REBRIEREEE AR
discontinued operation S EWER (B518) 11 4,170 (6,956)
(Loss)/Profit for the year FR (B518) aF) (40,899) 42,320
Other comprehensive loss Hthz2mEEiE
ltem that may be reclassified subsequently H & BJFEEF D IEE18m 2
to profit or loss: EE
Exchange differences arising from MBI EBELCERE
translation of foreign operations 8 (112) (348)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, FRHEMSERE  NHFRRIE
net of tax (112) (348)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for F£RZE (B518) UWkZE4E%E
the year
(41,011) 41,972

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2024 Annual Report




Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

FEHREREMZEEER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-mF 2T =fF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Vg2 FAT FET
(restated)
(#= &%)
(Note 11)
(Hz%11)
(Loss)/Profit for the year attributable to ZSAF#H AEIEERN (55i8)
owners of the Company el
— From continuing operations —REFEREET (44,473) 50,447
— From discontinued operation —RE RIS 4,170 (6,956)
(Loss)/Profit for the year attributable to KABVHEB ANELEFEA (518)
owners of the Company Vvl (40,303) 43,491
Loss for the year attributable to non-  JEERRERELERNEIE
controlling interests
— From continuing operations —REFEREER (596) (1,171)
(40,899) 42,320
Total comprehensive (loss)/income UTALTEGR2E BR)
attributable to: A 4E%E -
Owners of the Company RABHEB A (40,213) 43,486
Non-controlling interests JEVERR = (798) (1,514)
(41,011) 41,972
Total comprehensive (loss)/income TATEEAEGLZE B518)
attributable to owners of the VA IN
Company:
— From continuing operations —RBIFEREER (44,383) 50,442
— From discontinued operation —REBARIEREER 4,170 (6,956)
(40,213) 43,486
HK cents #&fll  HK cents &l
(Loss)/Earnings per share attributable 7ZxAF]#HE AEEESR (B518)
to owners of the Company /B 12
From continuing and discontinued REFBERERBAR KRS
operations %
— Basic and diluted —EAR NS (0.75) 0.81
From continuing operations REFBREER
— Basic and diluted —EXR RS (0.83) 0.94
Details of dividends are disclosed in Note 14 to the consolidated financial B2 BB e & M RS RMTEE 14K EE

statements.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

Bz WEBZEGR M BREBRZ 80

BN EEERARAT

S MFEER
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

tRa SRR

As at 31 March 2024 PNZE=ZNE=H=+—H

2024 2023
“ENE —EI=F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
k= FAET FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment M~ BE KRS 15 4,431 14,357
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 1,949 5,661
Intangible assets mEEE 17 200 200
6,580 20,218
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 & Lt EUBRRR 19 52,339 54,075
Contract assets SHEE 20 45,957 42,132
Digital assets HFEE 21 1,123,081 649,487
Financial assets at fair value through profit AT Est AR 2 S/l
or loss BE 22 19,336 14,631
Amounts due from related parties FEUR RAE 5 =R I8 29 - 4,972
Tax recoverable B EIE ] - 2,371
Trust bank balance held on behalf of RERBEEIFEZ(EIRT
customers EER 23 24,047 226,683
Bank balances and cash RITHERKRIRE 23 61,954 90,625
1,326,714 1,084,976
Total assets BEEHAE 1,333,294 1,105,194
EQUITY R
Capital and reserves BERRGEE
Share capital PREN 24 26,853 26,853
Reserves = 138,832 178,701
Equity attributable to the owners of the KRB ER AL
Company 165,685 205,554
Non-controlling interests JEIE RS T 1,899 3,041
Total equity 4ERERE 167,584 208,595

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2024 Annual Report




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RAMBRAR

As at 31 March 2024 R_Z_ME=H=+—H

2024 2023
—EME —E-=F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Kzt FAET FET
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liabilities ERHERE
Lease liabilities HEaRs 16 108 1,685
Current liabilities Bt =Y
Trade and other payables B 5 e EMEM IR 27 112,630 76,174
Contract liabilities s8R 20 1,304 59
Liabilities due to customers AN ES=R=L= 28 24,047 226,683
Amounts due to former subsidiaries FERTRTHY B A B 8 29 16,942 10,641
Amount due to a related party FE (T — %A REE 5 FIE 29 18,585 18,087
Loans from related parties FERER 30 40,400 77,906
Borrowings R 31 940,261 471,560
Lease liabilities HEaE 16 1,892 4,263
Current income tax liabilities BREAFTIS R aE 9,541 9,541
1,165,602 894,914
Total liabilities BE4EEE 1,165,710 896,599
Total equity and liabilities Rk ERERE 1,333,294 1,105,194
Net current assets FBRENEE 161,112 190,062
Total assets less current liabilities EEBERRSHERE 167,692 210,280

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for 4R &EMBERENR S _MEB -+t HESZE

issue by the Board of Directors on 27 June 2024 and are signed on its

behalf by:

EIEBEE
Mr. Ren Yunan
Director

EF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

EEREREETE

SRBRLE
Mr. Zhang Chao
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

iRa e m S TR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

SAREEAER
Non-
Share Share Capital Merger ~ Translation ~Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests equity
iz
Bx  RAEE  EXHE AKEE BRGE  EiEE gt i34 G
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TEn TEn T TiEn TEn TEn T TEn
Note 24) Note g) Note b)
(Hizto4) (i) ()
Balance at 1 April 2022 RIBZ_ERE-ANER 26,853 239,372 7,922 1 1,181 (113,261) 162,068 4,585 166,623
Proft/{Loss) for the year FRER/ (5B - - - - - 43,491 43,491 (1,171) 42320
Other comprenensive loss for the year FREMRARE - S S S () = ) (343) (348)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the yearE 2 E (8548) /I 458 - - - - () 43,491 43,486 (1514) 4972
Balance at 31 March 2023 RZEZZE=B=+-BMER 26,853 239,372 7,922 1 1,176 (69,770) 205,554 3,041 208,595
Balance at 1 April 2023 RZB-_=EME-ANLER 26,853 239,372 7922 1 1,176 (69,770) 205,554 3,041 208,595
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - (40,303) (40,303) (596) (40,899)
Other comprenensive income/(oss) for the ~ EREM2EE/ (58
year - - - - 90 - 0 (202) (112)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) FR2ENE/ (BB 28
for the year - - - - 0 (40303 (40213 198 (@1,011)
Acquisition of non-controling interest BEMRBADEERER
of a subsidiary - - - - - 344 344 (344) -
Balance at 31 March 2024 RZEZME=B=1-AMEE 26,853 239,372 7,922 1 1,266 (109,729) 165,685 1,899 167,584
Notes: Bzt
a. The capital reserve represents the deemed capital contribution from the  a. BARBEEREARARREE  BRAREART
Company’s shareholder in relation to listing expenses reimbursed to the Company BEFEN EHEEZ
in prior years.
b. The merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of the  b. EHEBRERNASDARKMENBATRBEFESE

shares issued by the Company in exchange for the nominal value of the share

capital of its subsidiaries arising from the reorganisation in prior years.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

n‘7|' = Eﬁﬁ;ﬁiﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE_Z

“ME=R=+—HLFE

2024 2023
—E_ME TET=F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
23 FAET FET
Cash flows from operating activities & ZEFHREHRE
Net cash generated from/(used in) KE1R/ (FrA) IREFEE
operations 32(a) 1,300 (87,697)
Income tax refunded RIBPATSIR - 2,115
Income tax paid [=ENIRIRCT - (3,702)
Interest received BUF S 128 1,519
Net cash generated from/(used in) BEEHERE (FrA)
operating activities HEFE 1,428 (87,765)
Cash flows from investing activities REFHRERE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment &% B¥)% B R K& (1,440) (4,6006)
Net cash outflow from disposal of HEWB AR ZIREREF
subsidiaries, net of cash disposal BEoBREHERE 35 (670) =
Increase in non-pledged fixed deposit R=EA%BIH
maturing over three months IR E AL M (12) M
Purchases of financial assets at fair value ﬁ%ﬁ?ﬁ NEESTABEZ
through profit or loss SRIEE (10,437) (3,652)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets Hj’§}§@$fé FFABEmZ
at fair value through profit or loss SREEMSMRIE - 3,669
Distribution received 2Dk 272 133
Interest received 2UF 8 495 680
Net cash used in investing activities RETHFIAZREFEE (11,792 3,777)
Cash flows from financing activities MEEHRERE
Increase in amount due to a related party  FE{T—BAEE A RIBIE N 1,415 1,367
Repayment of loans from related parties RAESEEER (15,155) (18,550)
Proceeds from borrowings B FTE IR - 78,490
Repayment of borrowings BIEE - (8,881)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEAEAE (4,353) (4,124)
Interest paid on lease liabilities HEaBZzZBAHE (108) (237)
Net cash (used in)/generated from MEES FrA) ez
financing activities R HEE (18,201) 48,065
B BB PR A B

—EMEFR
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERTARER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &Z "2 " NF=B=+—HItFE

2024 2023
—_mE —E-=%F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Jiok= FAT FET
Net decrease in cash and cash RERREEEYRLFEE
equivalents (28,565) (43,477)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EEXREH s & (118) (1,454)
Cash and cash equivalents at FUVRERAEEEY
beginning of year 89,110 134,041
Cash and cash equivalents atend of FXIREKZESZEY
year 60,427 89,110
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents RERREEEBEW DR
Cash at banks RITIRE 23 52,489 73,313
Non-pledged fixed deposits maturing R=EARIHZ
within three months EIRRTHTER 23 7,825 15,791
Cash on hand FrERSe 23 113 6
60,427 89,110
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated FEMiZ Mzt BZ LM BRRERL Z —2p1) o

financial statements.

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2024 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR R MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION AND
BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
with effect from 2 September 2015. Its parent company is OKC
Holdings Corporation, a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability and controlled by Mr. Xu Mingxing. The
address of the Company’s registered office is Windward 3, Regatta
Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman
Islands. The address of the Company'’s principal place of business
in Hong Kong is Unit 902-903, 9th Floor, Sino Plaza, 255-257
Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in provision of foundation, building construction
works and ancillary services, digital assets related businesses,
technical services and other businesses. The Group was also
engaged in the construction wastes handling services which was
discontinued in the current year (see note 11).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”) which is also the functional currency of the
Company, unless otherwise stated. These consolidated financial
statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors
on 27 June 2024.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBEERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

2 'SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless

otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“‘HKFRSs”) (which is
a collective term includes all applicable individual HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards and related interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”). In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for certain financial instruments that are measured at
fair values and as otherwise stated in the accounting policies
below.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2024 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.1 Application of new and amendments to HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual period beginning on or after
1 April 20283 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including Insurance Contracts
the October 2020
and February 2022
amendments to
HKFRS 17)
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform-Pillar Two
model Rules
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

The application of the new and amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year has no material impact on
the Group’s financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBEERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

2 ‘SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.1 Application of new and amendments to HKFRSs
(continued)

The Group has not early applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?

Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements?
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability®

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to

be determined.

o Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all amendments to HKFRSs will have
no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries

2.2.1 Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity)

over which the Group has control. The Group controls

an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights

to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity

and has the ability to affect those returns through its

power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated

from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

@)

Business combinations

The Group uses the acquisition method to
account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any
asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The Group recognises any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree on
an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the recognised amount of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R EMBImRIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #ZE_—Z

“ME=ZR=+—HLEFE

2 ‘SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (continued)

@)

®)

Business combinations (continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value
of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
If the total
of consideration transferred, non-controlling

acquired is recorded as goodwill.

interest recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of
a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised
directly in the profit or loss.

Inter-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Transaction with non-controlling interests

The Group treats transactions with non-
controlling interests as transactions with equity
owners of the Group. For purchase of non-
controlling interests, the difference between
any consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying amount of net assets
of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or
losses on disposals to non-controlling interests
are also recorded in equity.

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (continued)

(b)  Transaction with non-controlling interests
(continueq)

When the Group ceases to have control or
significant influence, any retained interest in the
entity is remeasured to its fair value, with the
change in carrying amount recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount
for the purposes of subsequently accounting
for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition,
any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity
are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This
may mean that amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss account.

2.2.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBEERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

2 ‘SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent

with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating

decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who

is responsible for allocating resources and assessing

performance of the operating segments, has been identified

as the steering committee that makes strategic decisions.

2.4

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK$, which is the
Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
at year-end exchange rates are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

0] assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

(ii) income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates
of the transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of any net investment in foreign entities,
and of borrowings and other financial instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming
part of the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit or loss,
as part of the gain or loss on sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R EMBImRIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &Z "2 " NF=B=+—HItFE

2 ‘SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate assets is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance costs are charged to profit or loss
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives or lease term
where applicable, as follows:

— Leasehold improvements ~ Over relevant lease term
— Furniture, fixtures and office 20% — 33%
equipment
— Machinery and equipment  20%
— Motor vehicles 20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE_Z

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6

2.7

Intangible assets

Separately acquired intangible assets are shown at historical
cost. Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Intangible
assets have a finite useful lives are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation. Intangible asset with indefinite

useful life is stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost over their estimated useful lives or lease
term, where applicable, as follows:

Other intangible assets 3 years

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or
intangible assets not ready to use are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets
that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
which are largely independent of the cash inflows from
other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

2 ‘SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is
available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the following lease payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentive receivable;

° variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2 BEAREFHREE®

2.8 Leases (continued) 2.8 AE (&)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with
similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

° where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received;

° uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by
the Group, which does not have recent third party
financing, and

° makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable
lease payments based on an index or rate, which are not
included in the lease liability until they take effect. When
adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate
take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted
against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

2 ‘SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs; and

° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-
line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over
the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and all leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a
lease term of 12 months or less.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a
lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
underlying asset and recognised as expense over the lease
term on the same basis as lease income. The respective
leased assets are included in the consolidated statement
of financial position based on their nature. The Group did
not need to make any adjustments to the accounting for
assets held as lessor as a result of adopting the new leasing
standard.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HZ "2 " NF=B=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL 2 EAEHBEHE @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Financial assets 29 TRMEE

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income (“OCI”) or though
profit or loss); and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of
the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on
whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the
time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment
at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #ZE_—Z

“ME=ZR=+—HLEFE

2 'SUMMARY OF MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Financial assets (continued)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”), transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL
are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its
debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly
in profit or loss and presented in other gains/(losses)
together with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as separate line item
in the statement of profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE_Z

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Financial assets (continued)

Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where
the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI.
Movements in the carrying amount are taken through
OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains
or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised in profit or loss. When
the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognised in OCl is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in other gains/
(losses). Interest income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in other gains/(losses) and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line item in the
statement of profit or loss.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A
gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and
presented net within other gains/(losses) in the period
in which it arises.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &Z "2 " NF=B=+—HItFE

2 'SUMMARY OF MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Financial assets (continued)

Measurement (continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at
fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected to
present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in
OCl, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains
and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as other income when the Group’s
right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in other income, gains and losses in the
statement of profit or loss as applicable. Impairment losses
(and reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from other
changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses (“‘ECL”) associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL 2 EAEHBEHE @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Digital assets 210 HFEE

Digital assets are held mainly for the purposes of trading in
the ordinary course of the Group’s digital assets and its trust
and custody services.

Digital assets held in the Group’s digital asset wallets
primarily comprise digital assets that are prefunded by and
traded with, but not yet withdrawn by counterparties (or
“customers”) under agreements. Digital assets held in the
third parties’ digital assets trading platforms (connect to the
internet) (the “Platform”) primary comprise digital assets for
the Group’s proprietary trading in digital assets and the digital
assets held on behalf of the clients.

The Group’s digital asset portfolio mainly comprises
cryptocurrencies and stablecoins whose measurement are as
follows:

° Since the Group actively trades cryptocurrencies,
purchasing them with a view to their resale in the
near future, and generating a profit from fluctuations
in the price, the Group applies the guidance in HKAS
2 for commodity broker-traders and measures the
digital assets at fair value less costs to sell. The
Group considers there are no significant “costs to
sell” digital assets and hence measurement of digital
assets is based on their fair values with changes in fair
values recognised in profit or loss in the period of the
changes.

° The Group has assessed the terms and conditions
attached to stablecoins to determine whether they
meet the definition of financial instruments. Certain
stablecoins that are classified as financial instruments
are measured at fair values with changes in fair
value recognised in profit or loss in the period of the
changes.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

2 ‘SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Digital assets (continued)

2.11

See Note 3.3 for estimation of fair value in respect of the
digital assets and digital asset liabilities.

Digital assets received from and held on behalf of clients by
the Group are safekeeping in segregated client wallets and
the Platform. Based on the respective rights and obligations
of the Group and its clients under the client terms and
conditions, digital assets held by the Group on behalf of
the clients are recognised off the consolidated statement of
financial position on the basis that (1) the Group does not
entitle to any benefit of income from the holding of the digital
assets on the client’s behalf; (2) the digital assets are held in
segregated share wallets and the Platform separate from the
Group; and (3) the Group is legally restrained from transferring
or transacting with the client’s digital assets other than as
instructed by the clients.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
services performed and loans granted to customers in the
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified
as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they are
recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade and
other receivables with the objective to collect the contractual
cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with
banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts (if
any).

2.13 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

2.14 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or
in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not,
they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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R EMBImRIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

2 ‘SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.15 Share-based payments

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to
employees via the share option scheme.

Employee options

The fair value of options granted under the share option
scheme is recognised as an employee benefits expense with
a corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be
expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the
options granted:

° including any market performance conditions (e.g. the
entity’s share price);

° excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (e.g. profitability, sales
growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity
over a specified time period), and

° including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (e.g.
the requirement for employees to save or hold shares
for a specific period of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period,
which is the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period,
the entity revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting and
service conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to
original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with corresponding
adjustment to equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.15 Share-based payments (continued)

When the options are exercised, the Group transfers the
appropriate number of shares to employee. The proceeds
received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited directly to equity.

2.16 Borrowings

Borrowings comprise financing arrangements denominated in
fiat currency and digital assets.

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred and subsequently carried at
amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised
in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Digital assets borrowed from counterparties are initially
recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred and
are subsequently measured at fair value, which align with the
fact that digital asset are non-financial assets measured at fair
value less costs to sell.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.

2.17 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets are capitalised during the period of time that is
required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R EMBImRIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &Z "2 " NF=B=+—HItFE

2 'SUMMARY OF MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of each reporting period in the countries where the Group
operates and generates taxable income. Management
periodically evaluate positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to
the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if they arise from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each
reporting period and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred taxation
liability is settled.

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2024 Annual Report

2 BEAGFHREE @

2.18 BPEA R ERIEFR1FHR

B ERAXIBRDRES
BEERRBERAAERMREHNA
RYBMERAE RN IR A BB IR A » I
ERNEREEBERRSHRE
BRZIELERBEEEREREHFE
R o

BPEAFR1S R

B SMA R A EEEERE
ERRMBANBE RN EREHR
RZEERCRMIEE LEEM
WIRBEAE -EEEMBERR
#5715 52 RE P AR IR B9 15 0 & AR 5T i
BRI EEBERBR TR
BRI ABRB SRR
TERE

BIEFRISIR

BRIEFFFMIBEEENEERE
BNRELEETERAMHTREPR
HEZEAEENEEEEZETUE
BB o AT (HIREFR R IR T 0 2
BEHLOINNIR GRS RRBEE
%%ﬁﬁ&i TR RZHIER
EEtRENERNEGBETESL
EERRR R INRE R ETR
AR FARC-ELZEMMSRRAETS
BEHARCHEMABE LEEME
EEBNELEFSREEZRNE
RIS AR R TEFERNRE
(BER) = 7E ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HZ "2 " NF=B=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax

2 BEAREFHREE®

218 BNHATRIEIEFRISR (48)

(continued)
Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to the lease liabilities, and the related assets
separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related
to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all
taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and where the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to
offset and intends to settle on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in the profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case
the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBEERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

2 ‘SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Employee benefits

@

(i)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of each
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Retirement benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution plan
and pays contributions to a privately administered
pension insurance plan on a mandatory, contractual
or voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment
obligations once the contributions have been paid.
The contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund
or a reduction in the future payments is available.

For long service payment obligation, the Group
accounts for the employer MPF contributions expected
to be offset as a deemed employee contribution
towards the LSP obligation in terms of HKAS 19.93(a)
and it is measured on a net basis. The estimated
amount of future benefit is determined after deducting
the negative service cost arising from the accrued
benefits derived from the Group’s MPF contributions
that have been vested with employees, which
are deemed to be contributions from the relevant
employees.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Employee benefits (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement
date, or when an employee accepts voluntary
redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group
recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably
committed to a termination when the entity has a
detailed formal plan to terminate the employment of
current employees without possibility of withdrawal.
In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy, the termination benefits are measured
based on the number of employees expected to
accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of each reporting period are
discounted to present value.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of services rendered
by employees and a reliable estimate of such obligation
can be made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBEERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

2 'SUMMARY OF MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Provisions

Provisions for legal claims are recognised when the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be
reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may
be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period.
The discount rate used to determine the present value is a
pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The
increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised
as interest expense.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Earnings per share

@

(i)

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

° the profit attributable to owners of the company,
excluding any costs of servicing equity other
than ordinary shares

o by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares
issued during the year and excluding treasury
shares.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in
the determination of basic earnings per share to take
into account:

° the after-income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares, and

° the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R EMBImRIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &Z "2 " NF=B=+—HItFE

2 'SUMMARY OF MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Contingent liabilities and contingent

assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It
can also be a present obligation arising from past events
that is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow
of economic resource will be required or the amount of
obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements. When a
change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow
is probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past
events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
events not wholly within the control of the Group.

Contingent assets are not recognised but are disclosed in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements when an inflow
of economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually
certain, an asset is recognised.

2.23 Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HZ "2 " NF=B=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2 BEAREFHREE®

2.23 Revenue recognition (continued) 2.23 W AFESR (48)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is
assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract
are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R EMBImRIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

2 ‘SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Revenue recognition (continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance
in transferring control of goods or services.

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration, the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be
entitled using either (a) the expected value method or (b)
the most likely amount, depending on which method better
predicts the amount of consideration to which the Group will
be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included
in the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly
probable that such an inclusion will not result in a significant
revenue reversal in the future when the uncertainty associated
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating its
assessment of whether an estimate of variable consideration
is constrained) to represent faithfully the circumstances
present at the end of the reporting period and the changes in
circumstances during the reporting period.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

2 BEAREFHREE®

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Revenue recognition (continued)

2.23 WX A FEER (48)

Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract in its construction
contracts. The Group first assesses whether these costs
qualify for recognition as an asset in terms of other relevant
standards, failing which it recognises an asset for these costs
only if they meet all of the following criteria:

° the costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the Group can specifically
identify;

° the costs generate or enhance resources of the Group
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future; and

° the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to profit
or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the
transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which
the assets relate. The asset is subject to impairment review.

2.24 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and the Group will comply with all attached conditions. When
the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as
income on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs,
which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income over the expected useful life of the
relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and released to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R EMBImRIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &Z "2 " NF=B=+—HItFE

2 'SUMMARY OF MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.25 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements and the Company’s financial statements in the
period in which the dividends are declared by the directors
in case of interim dividends or approved by the Company’s
shareholders in case of final dividends.

2.26 Dividend income

Dividends are received from financial assets measured
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”). Dividends are
recognised as revenue in profit or loss when the right to
receive payment is established.

2.27 Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is included in
the net gains/(losses) on change in fair value of these assets.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost
calculated using the effective interest method is recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as part of other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset
except for financial assets that subsequently become credit
impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

2.28 Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control of the Group;

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2024 Annual Report

2 BEAGFHREE @

2.25

2.26

2.27

2.28

iz 853K

MAQABKRRFADEKNREERE
EEEZEK GLRAREMS) &
ERBIREME GERHREMS)
HE TAEENGAMBRERK
FRBMHREEI AR

iz YA

RETBEATESARD (MEa
FEF ARG FEZERMEER
B o EFESDUCENER S RVIERIB > IR B
KBz PR A

FEUWA

REBRAFESFABRZEMEE
ZHBBRASFALFTEEZ R TVE
BE W (B518) P

ERBERMN A ENRBHENA
%Jr%Z%%%iéEZ%U%H&)\EA%?é
BamhkEMEE WD RAERER
DEMEA

MERARBRINEZERAESRE
EREBEAERL  EEBEIER
EERENEZMEERI LR
EERENEREEMS > BREA
XEAETHMEEREFESERSH
(ORRBIERER) -

RET

BERAATETIHER TRESEE
EEARME

@ ZAB/ZBALRENAL
BB MZBAL:

) HAEEEAZHIES
HEHERIE ;



For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE_Z

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.28 Related parties (continued)

(@)

or

the party is a person or a close member of that

person’s family and that person: (continued)

(i)

(i)

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group.

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

U

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and
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R EMBImRIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &Z "2 " NF=B=+—HItFE

2 ‘SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.28 Related parties (continued)

(b)

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)

(viii) ~ the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities exposed it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and price
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

Market risk

()

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”). Foreign exchange risk
arises from future commercial transactions, recognised
assets and liabilities denominated in a currency that
is not the functional currency of the individual group
companies and net investments in foreign operations.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, most of the financial
assets and liabilities of the Group’s subsidiaries are
denominated in their respective foreign currencies.

There are certain United States dollar (“US$”) financial
assets and liabilities held by the Group with HK$
and US$ functional currency respectively. Since HK$
are pegged to the US$, management considers the
foreign exchange risk arising from such financial assets
and liabilities to the Group is not significant. Hence,
the directors consider the Group does not have any
significant foreign exchange risk exposure.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i)

(i)

Interest rate risk

Other than bank balances with variable interest rate,
the Group has no other significant interest-bearing
assets with variable interest rate. Management does
not anticipate significant impact to interest-bearing
assets resulted from the changes in interest rates,
because the interest rates of bank balances are not
expected to change significantly.

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in
market interest rates was considered insignificant in
management’s opinion as the Group had no significant
borrowings with variable interest rates at the end of
the reporting period. The Group currently does not
hedge its exposure to interest rate risks. However, the
management monitors the interest rate risk exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant interest
rate risk exposure should the need arise.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk arising from certain
investments held by the Group which are classified
in the consolidated statement of financial position as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

For listed equity securities and listed investment fund,
if the quoted price of the financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss had appreciated/depreciated by
10% with all other variables held constant, the Group’s
loss/profit after income tax for the Year would have
been approximately HK$896,000 lower/higher (2023:
approximately HK$122,000 higher/lower) as a result
of gains/losses on change in fair value of the financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss.
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R EMBImRIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &Z "2 " NF=B=+—HItFE

3 'CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3 BEXREMRER®

3.1 MBRBRER @

Market risk (continued)
(i) Price risk (continued)

For unlisted investment fund, assuming that the unit
price of the fund increased/decreased by 10% and all
other variables held constant at the end of the report
period, the Group’s loss/profit after income tax would
decrease/increase by approximately HK$310,000
(2023: increase/decrease by approximately
HK$248,000).

Credit risk

Credit risk arises mainly from trade, other and loan
receivables, contract assets, amounts due from related
parties, bank deposit and bank balances. The Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the
counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations as at
the reporting dates in relation to each class of recognised
financial assets and contract assets is the carrying amount
of those assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

In respect of cash at banks, the credit risk is considered to
be low as the counterparties are reputable banks. Therefore,
expected credit loss rate of cash at banks are assessed to be
close to zero and no provision was made.

In respect of trade, other and loan receivables and contract
assets, individual credit evaluations are performed on
individual group of customers and counterparties. These
evaluations focus on the counterparty’s financial position,
past history of making payments and take into account
information specific to the counterparty as well as pertaining
to the economic environment in which the counterparty
operates. Monitoring procedures have been implemented
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade, other and loan receivable
and contract assets balance at the end of each reporting
period to ensure adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE_Z

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

As at 31 March 2024, there were two (2023: four) customers
which individually contributed over 10% of the Group’s
aggregate trade receivables, loan receivables and contract
assets. The aggregate amounts of trade receivables, loan
receivables and contract assets from these customers
amounted to 72% (2023: 68%) of the Group’s total trade
receivables, loan receivables and contract assets as at
31 March 2024.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model on trade balances individually or based
on collective assessment. Except for debtors with significant
outstanding balances or credit-impaired, which are assessed
for impairment individually, the remaining trade receivables
and contract assets are grouped under a collective
assessment based on shared credit risk characteristics by
reference to repayment histories for recurring customers and
current past due exposure for the new customers. During
the year ended 31 March 2024, net impairment losses of
approximately HK$3,194,000 and net reversal on impairment
losses of HK$5,762,000 (2023: net impairment losses of
approximately HK$29,000 and HK$4,000) are recognised for
trade receivables and contract assets, respectively.

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises
the following categories:

3.1
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Trade receivables/ Other

Category  Description contract assets financial assets
BARBIRR

il o ANEE HthEREE

Performing  The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have any past-due Lifetime ECL - 12-month ECL
amounts not credit-impaired

BAH REHFANEQRRE BLREMARTE EEEPRAGEE 12EARHEESR
BE-REERA

Doubtful There has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -

not credit-impaired not credit-impaired

75k B EDEEERRA KRB LA BEBHREHES BEBHAREES

BE-RBEERE BE-BEERE

Indefault  There is evidence indicating the asset is credit impaired Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -

credit-impaired credit impaired

EY BERBETEEREEHE REBHEBES BEBHEREES

BE-EERE BE-EEHE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and Amount is written off Amount is written off

the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery
s BRBEERESABAREMERAEE T EEE KT e MHEE
BRI R A R AE

—EMEFR
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AR EMBRRIIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

3 'CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the
Group’s financial assets and contract assets which are
subject to ECL assessment:

3 BEXREMRER®

3.1 MHBRBER @

EERE (8)
TREIFEZETRRPEEBIET
HMZAEREREERGNEEZ

EERERFE -

Gross carrying

31 March 2024 Notes Internal credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount
1218 B =% 2218 B A
—E_NmNE=ZA=+—H WzE RERE AR TEHEERs1E IRE{E48%E
HK$’000
FHERT
Trade receivables 19 Performing Lifetime ECL 22,708
B 5 IR B4 BERATAREERE
In default Credit-impaired 5,328
EY EERE
Contract assets 20 Performing Lifetime ECL 46,123
BHEE B4 BERATAREERE
In default Credit-impaired 29,255
EY EERE
Loan receivables 19 In default Credit-impaired 27,915
FEWE R EY EERE
Other receivables 19 Performing 12m ECL 13,077
H {th FEURER TR B4 12{B B AR E B k548
In default Credit-impaired 402
EY EERE
Trust bank balance held on 23 Performing 12m ECL 24,047
behalf of customers
RKRREFREAZEHIRITHEER B4 12{B B AR E B k548
Bank balances 23 Performing 12m ECL 61,841
IRITHEER B4 12{B B AR E B k548
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BEXREMRER®
(continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 MHERBEZR @
Credit risk (continued) EERRE (@&

Gross carrying

31 March 2023 Notes Internal credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount
1218 B st & B HA
TE=F=A=+—H MsE  AEBEATAR TRHfE &R 1B IREEARZE
HK$'000
FHT
Trade receivables 19 Performing Lifetime ECL 15,463
B 5 BRI B#IH EEBHATRIRE SR8
In default Credit-impaired 7,657
EX EEHE
Contract assets 20 Performing Lifetime ECL 35,357
BREE B#IH EEBHATRIRE SR8
In default Credit-impaired 43,408
EX EEHE
Loan receivables 19 Doubtful Lifetime ECL 1,870
FEUE R e EEBHATRIREEHE
In default Credit-impaired 26,324
EX EEHE
Other receivables 19 Performing 12m ECL 11,621
HAFEURBRR B#IH 128 A FaERE &8
In default Credit-impaired 422
EX EERE
Amounts due from related parties 29 Performing 12m ECL 5,115
FE AT F881 3 75 "R 1B B 128 A FaEAE &8
Trust bank balance held on 23 Performing 12m ECL 226,683
behalf of customers
RERE LA ZEEIRITHEER B4 12{8 B fRERE B4R
Bank balances 23 Performing 12m ECL 90,619
IRIT4EER B+ 128 A FaERE &8
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBEERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

3 'CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade
receivables and contract assets. To measure the ECL, except
for debtors with significant outstanding balances or credit-
impaired, the Group determines the ECL on trade receivables
and contract assets by using a collective assessment,
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics. The
contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and
have substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade
receivables for the same types of contracts. The Group has
therefore estimated the expected loss rates for the trade
receivables and the contract assets on the same basis.

The Group has performed historical analysis and identified
the key economic variables impacting credit risk and ECL.
It considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding
looking information. The Group also makes periodic
assessments on the recoverability of the receivables based
on the background and reputation of the customers,

historical settlement records and past experience.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS MBRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BEXRAMBER®
(continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 MHEREKEZR @)
Credit risk (continued) 8RR (@
The loss allowance for trade receivables, contract assets and BEEWER - SHNEENRERE
loan receivables were determined as follows. RZEBRBEETN T
Weighted
average Gross Expected
expected carrying credit Net carrying
credit loss rate amount loss amount
EFEH
EHEE BEHEE
BiEx MR (A 18 IREFE
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FT#ER TERT TAERT
At 31 March 2024 RZE-NE=A=+—H
Trade receivables B3R
~ Performing —-BH 1.57% 22,708 (357) 22,351
- In default —EH 100.00% 5,328 (5,328) -
28,036 (5,685) 22,351
Contract assets BHEE
- Performing —B# 0.36% 46,123 (166) 45,957
- In default —EH 100.00% 29,255 (29,255) -
75,378 (29,421) 45,957
Loan receivables ERER
- In default —E4 100.00% 27,915 (27,915) -
Other receivables HitpE I
~ Performing —B# 1.45% 13,077 (190) 12,887
- In default —EH 100.00% 402 (402) -
13,479 (592) 12,887

B BB A RAS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBEERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

3 ' ‘CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BEXAKEIR@®

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2024 Annual Report

(continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 MHEERKEZR @)
Credit risk (continued) ZEERE (8)
Weighted
average Gross Expected
expected carrying credit Net carrying
credit loss rate amount loss amount
Mg -
B B )
BEX REREE BB REEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TET
At 31 March 2023 RZF-=%=F=+-H
Trade receivables BAEWER
— Performing —EA 0.36% 15,463 (55) 15,408
- In default —BH 99.99% 7,657 (7,656) 1
23,120 (7,711) 15,409
Contract assets BHEE
- Performing —-BH 0.35% 35,357 (122) 35,235
- In default —EHN 84.11% 43,408 (36,511) 6,897
78,765 (36,633) 42,132
Loan receivables EWER
— Doubtful —RER 30.11% 1,870 (663) 1,307
- In default —EH 62.62% 26,324 (16,483) 9,841
28,194 (17,046) 11,148
Other receivables HtEWFIE
- Performing —BH 4.36% 11,621 (507) 11,114
- In default —BH 100.00% 422 (422) =
12,043 (929) 11,114
Amounts due from related parties FEU B87E /5 2B
- Performing —B# 2.80% 5,115 (143) 4972




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BEXAKEIR@

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 HHRABER @&
Credit risk (continued) EERRE (@&
The closing loss allowances for trade receivables, contract N _E_NFEKRZZEZI=F=A4
assets, loan receivables, other receivables and amounts due —t+t—H BEFEREFR -ENE
from related parties as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 reconcile B EWE R~ EfhFEUFRIE K B IR
to the opening loss allowances as follows: R IEM EA K B 1B B2 AR 9

EEBEHENERDT
Amounts Trade  Contract Loan Loan Trade  Contract Other

due from  receivables assets  receivables receivables receivables assets  receivables

Loan Other related Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

receivables  receivables parties  Notcredit-  Notcredit-  Not credit- Credit- Credit- Credit- Credit-
12mECL  12mECL  12mECL  impaired  impaired  impaired  impaired  impaired  impaired  impaired Total

Bl BREKER  ANEE  RUER  ENER ERRUER  ANEE HMREURE

BHER EfERGE  BEAWE ZEENRY DEESRY LEE0RD DEESRY DEOURD DEESRS BE8URY

12BAEH 12EPRH 12@ARE GESR  GABRE  GEBR  REBE  GEBR  GESR  GEBR
BERE  FESE  GESE EREME BEEAE BEENE  GHEAE  BERE  FEEE  GEEE @t
HKS000  HKSO000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$O00  HKO00 HKS000  HKSO00  HK§'000 HK$ 000

T#n FEn Fhn Fhm FEn Fén FEm FEn FEn Fhn T#n
Asat 1 April 2022 1,191 - - 3 438 - 9,753 7,666 36,191 263 55,525
Changes due to financial instruments
recognised as at 1 Apri 2022:
- Transfer to lietime ECL (not credt impaired)
(1,191) - - - - 3691 (2,500) - - - -
- Transfer to credit-impaired - - - (1,425) 92) (1,191) 1,191 1425 R - -
- Impaiment reversed -BREHE - - - (15 (309 (1,987) - (1,419 65) - (3,745)
- Impaiment recognised -BRREE - 350 - 10 % - 8,039 = 203 188 8,004
New financial asses or contract assets HELIBENSHEET
originated or purchases EE - 157 143 1453 61 - - - - - 1814
Exchange adjustments ER#E - - - ) - - - (16) - (19 %)
A3t March 2023 RZBZZEZA=+-H - 507 143 5 12 563 16,488 66 %501 VY
As at 1 April 2023 RZEZ=%MA-A - 507 143 55 12 563 16,483 7,656 36,511 422 62,462
Changes due to financial instruments RZFZ=%MA-AED
recognised as at 1 April 2023: REMIEEENES.
- Transfer to credit-impaired -BERENE - - - (3,246) - (563) 563 3246 - - -
- Impairment reversed -EREHEE - (330) (143) (49) 82) - - (1,107) (5,819) - (7,530)
- Impairment recognised -BRDEE - - - 317 110 - 10,869 753 - - 12,049
New financial assets or contract assets HELAREMEMEET
originated or purchases GHEE - 13 - 3280 2 - - - - - 3322
Write-offs s - - - - - - - (3,859) - - (3,859)
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAR - - - - (13) - - (1,340) (1,437) - 2,790)
Exchange adjustments ERHEE - - - - - - - 21) - 20 )
At 31 March 2024 R-E-mEZR=+-B - 190 - 37 166 - 21915 5,328 20,255 402 63,613

B B ERARAS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBEERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

3 'CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3 BEXREMRER®

3.1 MBREBRER @

Credit risk (continued)

Trade and other receivables, contract assets, loan receivables
and amounts due from related parties are written off when
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators
that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include,
amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a
repayment plan with the Group.

Impairment losses on trade and other receivables, contract
assets, loan receivables and amounts due from related
parties are presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit/loss. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against the same line item.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements and its compliance with debt
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from
banks and other financial institutions to meet their liquidity
requirements in the short and long term. Management
believes there is no significant liquidity risk as the Group has
sufficient committed facilities to fund their operations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HZ "2 " NF=B=+—HILFE

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BEXREBEERE®
(continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 HHRABER @&
Liquidity risk (continued) mENE & R (4)
The following table details the remaining contractual TREFLAEENEHMEBENR SR
maturities at the end of each reporting period of the iHHXE’\] BRI EIERIE R TR
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual THRITRBESRE (BREERTYH
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments %‘JZE}Z (BAEZE) RBREHRN
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on BPERF RSt EF) BT RN K S A
current rates at the end of each reporting period) and/or the ERBELZNNRREERHHE .
earliest date the Group may be required to pay:
Weighted On
average  demand or Between Between Total
effective within one and twoand undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year two years five years cash flow amount
KR
T REX - mE Rene
BRI F—ER ERE ERE st REME
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TR FET FET TR TR
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=R=+-A
Trade and other payables B5 REMEMRR N/A RiER 112,630 - - 112,630 112,630
Liabilties due to customers EANZRaE N/A &R 24,047 - - 24,047 24,047
Amounts due to former subsidiaries  FE{1 BT BATI R N/A RiEH 16,942 - - 16,942 16,942
Amount due to a related party i ﬁ—%BEUS B N/A RER 18,585 - - 18,585 18,585
Loan from a related party —SBERER 5.0 40,400 - - 40,400 40,400
Borrowings - loan from a shareholder fEF—RE—2REET N/A RER 70,428 - - 70,428 70,428
Lease liabilties HEER 3.1 1,909 109 - 2,018 2,000
284,941 109 - 285,050 285,032
B BB PR A B
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R EMBImRIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &Z "2 " NF=B=+—HItFE

3 'CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3 BEXREMRER®

3.1 MBREBRER @

Liquidity risk (continued) mENE &R (4)
Weighted On
average demand or Between Between Total
effective within one and twoand  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year two years five years cash flow amount
FITHR
T BES —F meE Reng
BRAIZ A—FR EmE Eif st REfE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TiEn TR TEn TEn TER
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=f=RA=+-H
Trade and other payables %ﬂ%&ﬁﬁﬁﬂ% NN NATER 76,174 - - 76,174 76,174
Liabilties due to customers SIS NATER 226,683 - - 226,683 226,683
Amounts due to former subsidiaries  FEfTRIIBA I FE NATER 10,641 - - 10,641 10,641
Amount due to a related party i —2EEATE NATER 18,087 S S 18,087 18,087
Loans from related parties BERER 50 77,906 - - 77,906 77,906
Borrowings - loan from a shareholder fE—RE—2REET N/A R 70,647 = = 70,647 70,647
Lease liabilities fEaR 2.8 4,363 1,693 - 6,056 5,948
484,501 1,693 = 486,194 486,086

Loans from related parties and borrowings — loan from a
shareholder with a repayment on demand clause are included
in the “on demand or within one year” time band in the above
maturity analysis. Taking into account the Group’s financial
position, the management does not believe that it is probable
that the related parties and the shareholder will exercise their
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The
management believes that such loans and borrowing will be
repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set
out in the loan agreements, details of which are set out in the
table below:
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3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

3 BEXREMRER®

3.1 MBEKRER (@
RENE A ()

Maturity Analysis - loans and borrowings with a repayment
on demand clause based on scheduled repayments
I M- ERBEERMERERERERNERRER

Total

Within Between one Between two undiscounted Carrying
one year and two years and five years cash flow amount
AIMRRE
—FR  —FERE WEELE e fREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT THERT FTHERT FTHERT THERT
At 31 March 2024 RZZ_ME=A=+—H
Loan from a related party —%EERER 54,779 - - 54,779 40,400
Borrowings - loan from a ER-RE—2REEM
shareholder - 70,428 - 70,428 70,428
54,779 70,428 - 125,207 110,828
At 31 March 2023 RZIB2Z=F=F=1+—H
Loans from related parties HERER 27,656 54,779 - 82,435 77,906
Borrowings - loan from a BEH-KRBE—LRREN
shareholder S - 70,647 70,647 70,647
27,656 54,779 70,647 153,082 148,553
3.2 Capital management 3.2 BAREIR

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders,
to support the Group’s stability and growth; to earn a margin
commensurate with the level of business and market risks
in the Group’s operations and to maintain an optimal capital

structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, obtain new

borrowings or sell assets to reduce debt.

AEENEEEXAFENEIEZERS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3 BEXREMRER®

(continued)
3.2 Capital management (continued) 3.2 BEAXERE @
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. AEBUEEEBRLXERES
This ratio is calculated as the total interest-bearing liabilities Kot b XRIZEBRNEZFERNEGE
which includes loans from related parties and lease liabilities aEEE (BT aeiEREs ERRE
as at each year end divided by the total equity as at each 586 RUNEFEXRNERIELE
year end. 8o
The gearing ratios of the Group are as follows: KEBNEESELRNT .
2024 2023
—ENE —ET=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FHExT
Total borrowings BEE 42,400 83,854
Total equity 4B %R 167,584 208,595
Gearing ratio BEASEWXE 25% 40%
3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 AF(ELE
Financial assets and liabilities THEERAER

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instruments
carried at fair value as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 by level
of the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair
value. Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a
fair value hierarchy as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

° Inputs other than quoted prices included within level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived
from prices) (level 2).

° Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(level 3).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BEFEBEIRE®@
(continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 R EMKE &)
Financial assets and liabilities (continued) EREERAR @)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—1 B4 BZR st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FER FET FER FER
As at 31 March 2024 RZZ_ME=A=+—H
Assets BE
Financial assets at fair value through %A st AJBZ A
profit or loss EHEE
- Listed equity securities — IR AES 863 - - 863
- Listed investment fund —-IhRERES 9,866 - - 9,866
— Wealth management products -BRER - 4,897 - 4,897
- Unlisted investment fund —FLHRERS - - 3,710 3,710
10,729 4,897 3,710 19,336
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
SR i B st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT TET TER FTEr
As at 31 March 2023 RZEZ=fF=A=+—-H
Assets BE
Financial assets at fair value through %A &5t AJRZHY
profit or loss EHEE
- Listed equity securities —EmREES 1,465 - - 1,465
- Life insurance policy - A\ERE - - 2,710 2,710
- Wealth management products —-BHER - 5,155 - 5,155
- Unlisted warrants —JE LR EE - - 2,329 2,329
- Unlisted investment fund —FLmRkEES - - 2972 2,972
1,465 5,155 8,011 14,631
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R EMBImRIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &Z "2 " NF=B=+—HItFE

3 'CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

3 BEXREMRER®

3.3 AF{EMLET @

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

The fair value of the life insurance policy is determined based
on the cash value of the life insurance policy which is not an
observable input. Management estimates the fair value based
on the latest information of the life insurance policy provided
by insurance company.

The fair value of the wealth management products are
determined based on the quoted prices from the relevant
banks.

The fair value of the unlisted warrants are determined based
on the Black-Scholes model. The significant unobservable
inputs mainly include risk free rate of approximately 4.52%
(2023: 4.75%) (reference to US Treasury curve) and expected
volatility of range from 48.66% (2023: 43.96%) (reference to
comparable listed companies). The fair value increases with
the increase in the risk free rate or expected volatility.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets
is based on quoted market prices at the end of reporting
period. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are
readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency,
and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm'’s length basis. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the Group is
the current bid price. These instruments are included in level
1. Instruments included in level 1 comprise primarily equity
investments listed in Hong Kong and US Stock market
classified as trading securities, and the listed investment
fund.

The fair value of the unlisted investment fund is determined
based on the net asset value of the investment fund.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BEFEBEIRE®@
(continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 R EMKE &)
Financial assets and liabilities (continued) EREERAR @)
The following table presents the changes in level 3 items for TREJNAFEF=—HRIBEH ZEH):
the Year:
2024 2023
—EmE ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Opening balance FEYEEER 8,011 11,204
Purchases during the year FREBEE 1,017 790
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHB AR (2,704) =
Loss on the amendment and BT R BRI RE 2 B5 18
restatement of the warrants - (8,994)
Net fair value change FRFEES (2,614) 11
Closing balance FREERR 3,710 8,011
There were no transfers between levels during the years BHEZZ_MOMEER-ZZEZ=F=A
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. Et+—HUEFE  EFRBILRE
BEEER
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying KANBEERANRGETBRAE
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded BRENRBENAHECSHEE
at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of financial kEmEaEZREEREAFENE
position approximate their fair value. F=

B BB A RAS
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R e MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

3 'CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

Digital assets and liabilities

This note explains the judgements and estimates made in

3 BEXREMRER®

3.3 AFEMET @

BFEERAR

FNEEBREEREMHREA

determining the fair values of the non-financial assets and
liabilities that are recognised and measured at fair value in the
consolidated financial statements. To provide an indication
about the reliability of the inputs used in determining fair
value, the Group has classified its non-financial assets and
liabilities into the three levels prescribed under the accounting

WIZATEERRTENIFERE
E R EB R FEFTFEYFI B K 4
SteniEHERMBEEATERER
B ABBA EMIER ~&H
RHEFEMEEREBDER G
FRETHRAN=EFR ZEFR

standards. An explanation of each level is provided in Note BYRA At & Y =BT 5E3.3 0
3.3 above.
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—& B4R BIR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
TART AT TER FTET
As at 31 March 2024 RIEZME=A=+—H
Assets BE
Digital assets YFEE 1,123,081 - - 1,123,081
Liabilities af
Borrowings - BE—
Digital assets borrowed from HHFREAZ
counterparties HFTEE 869,833 - - 869,833
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3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

3 BEXREMRER®

3.3 AF{EME @

Digital assets and liabilities (continued) BFEERERE @)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F— ST Er 1t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET TER FEr
As at 31 March 2023 RZZ2Z=F=A=+—H
Assets BE
Digital assets YFEE 649,487 - - 649,487
Liabilities =L
Borrowings - BE—
Digital assets borrowed from WHFHEBAZ
counterparties YFEE 400,913 - - 400,913

The digital assets are measured at level 1 fair value. The
determination of fair value hierarchy level for valuation of the
digital assets would depend on whether the underlying digital
assets is traded in an active market.

Digital assets borrowed from counterparties are measured at
level 1 fair value.

In determining fair values, the relevant available markets are
identified by the Group, and the Group considers accessibility
to and activity within those markets in order to identify the
principal digital asset markets dealt with by the Group.
Reference is made to the quoted prices from the principal
digital asset markets in determining the fair values of the
corresponding digital assets.

There were no transfers between levels during the Year.
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R EMBImRIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &Z "2 " NF=B=+—HItFE

3 'CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3 BEXREMRER®

3.4 Risk management of the digital assets

Price risk of digital assets

To facilitate the Group’s proprietary trading in digital assets, the
Group held digital assets of approximately US$143,519,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,123,081,000) as of 31
March 2024 (2023: approximately US$82,740,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$649,487,000)). The majority of the
Group’s digital asset were stablecoins, which are asset-
backed with fair values approximate US$1 per unit with limited
price risk and other digital assets with higher liquidity, such
as Bitcoin (‘BTC”) and Ethereum (“ETH”). As at 31 March
2024, the fair values of the stablecoins, ETH and BTC held
by the Group were approximately US$27,372,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$214,197,000) (2023: approximately
US$44,468,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$349,062,000)),
approximately US$34,635,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$271,029,000) (2023: approximately US$11,230,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$88,154,000)) and approximately
US$67,218,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$526,003,000)
(2023: approximately US$14,460,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$113,504,000)), representing 19.1% (2023:
53.7%), 24.1% (2023: 13.6%) and 46.8% (2023: 17.5%) of
the Group’s total digital assets, respectively. In addition, the
Group also borrowed digital assets from counterparties of
approximately US$111,157,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$869,833,000 (2023: approximately US$51,074,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$400,913,000)). The borrowings
were in form of stablecoins of approximately US$102,237,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$800,037,000) (2023:
approximately US$35,003,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$274,765,000)) and in forms of other digital assets of
approximately US$8,920,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$69,796,000) (2023: approximately US$16,071,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$126,148,000)). Consequently,
the Group’s risk exposures to the price risk of digital assets were
limited to the net balance of each digital asset it held.
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3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.4 Risk management of the digital assets

(continued)

Price risk of digital assets (continued)

Price volatility of digital assets may cause significant impacts
to the Group’s performance. Although the stablecoins are
asset-backed and the market price was approximately
USS$1 per unit with minimal fluctuation, the volatility and any

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

3 BEXEBEEIR®
34 RFEEREERE @)

BFEENEBRRR (8

BFrEENEBRRIIETHAE
ERRENEAFE - BERTK
THEEXF mEBORSEME
TERBMFTEMY BEEEER

unpredictability of the price of such stablecoins relative to SORERTEERNEE MK

fiat currencies could also cause significant impact to the
Group’s financial performance. Furthermore, compared with
stablecoins, ETH, BTC and other digital assets are generally

with higher volatility.

Risks related to safekeeping of digital assets

The Group mainly deposited its digital assets in the
cryptocurrency exchanges to facilitate its proprietary trading
in digital assets business. In addition, the Group also
held digital assets on behalf of its clients of approximately
US$5,001,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$39,132,000)
(2023: approximately US$11,062,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$86,832,000)), of which approximately
21.3% (2023: 15.4%) were deposited in the Platform and
approximately 78.7% (2023: 84.6%) were deposited in
the Group’s proprietary share wallets. As the Group had
no insurance policy for its digital assets under custody,
the Group has implemented a series of risk control and
safeguarding protocols, any breakdown or closedown of
such cryptocurrency exchanges, potential cyber-attacks or

thefts could cause significant losses to the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

3 'CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.4 Risk management of the digital assets

(continued)

Investment risk related to trading of digital assets

The Group adopted quantitative trading strategies (the
“Strategies”) for its digital assets investment. The investment
performance mainly depends on market liquidity, Strategies
effectiveness and system reliability. The Group’s Strategies
in theory could make profits over time but could also suffer
huge losses in black swan events. In addition, there are
inherent risks with its trading, including but not limited to
errant algorithms, hacking, liquidation from extreme market
moves and counterparty risks. Although market liquidity is
closely monitored by the Group with the aid of systematic
alerting mechanism, under extreme market condition there
may occur huge mark-to-market losses. And such losses
may never recover if stop loss risk control mechanism is
triggered.

The Group has its own proprietary risk management system
that constantly monitors the performance of the Strategies
and conduct data analytics to review and modify the
Strategies. The trading systems are also constantly monitored
by the Group, including but not limited to their memory
usage, CPU consumption, network latency, etc., for any
anomalies. The system will also stop trading if certain circuit
breakers such as profit/loss performance or limits are hit. The
automated system aims to stop trading before material loss
and revoke account access if it detects any abnormalities.
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3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.4 Risk management of the digital assets

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

3 BEXREMRER®

34 RFEEREERE @)

(continued)

Risks related to Anti-Money Laundering

The Group has provided trust and custody services to its
clients. Any person who carries on a trust business in Hong
Kong has to comply with the relevant requirements of the
Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing
Ordinance (Chapter 615 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the
guideline issued by the Companies Registry of Hong Kong.

To mitigate such risks, the Group has implemented policies
and procedures for Anti-Money-Laundering and Know-
Your-Client that are initiated during the client onboarding
process and are applied by way of continuous monitoring
and reporting. In enhancing these policies and procedures,
we have also considered industry best-practice and the
recommendations of the Financial Action Task Force.

Credit risk

Since the Group mainly maintains certain of its digital assets
in accounts with the Platforms, the Group may be exposed
to significant losses if the Platforms experience outages
or become unavailable. To mitigate such risks, the Group
only establish accounts with the Platforms that have good
reputation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBEERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements used in preparing the consolidated
financial statements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates
and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are addressed below.

(@) Impairment of financial assets and
contract assets

The loss allowances for financial assets and contract asset
are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the
end of each reporting period.

(b) Progress towards completion of
construction works

The Group recognises its contract over time by reference to
the progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation at the end of the reporting period, measured based
on the surveys of work performed to date of the individual
contract of construction works relative to total contract
value. Because of the nature of the activity undertaken
in construction contracts, the date at which the contract
activity is entered into and the date when the activity is
completed usually fall into different accounting period.
The Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract
revenue, contract costs and variation orders prepared for
each construction contract as the contract progresses.
Management regularly reviews the progress of the contracts
and the corresponding costs of the contract revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 4 ZAEiH{&stRHAIER @
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(b)

(c)

Progress towards completion of
construction works (continued)

The Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract
revenue, contract costs, variation orders and contract claims
prepared for each construction contract as the contract
progresses. Budgeted construction costs are prepared by
the management on the basis of quotations from time to
time provided by the major contractors, suppliers or vendors
involved and the experience of the management. In order
to keep the budget accurate and up-to-date, management
conducts periodic reviews of the budgets of contracts by
comparing the budgeted amounts to the actual amounts
incurred. Such significant estimate may have impact on the
profit recognised in each period.

Accounting of digital assets
transactions and balances

HKFRSs do not specifically address accounting for digital
assets. Accordingly, for the preparation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements, management needs to
apply judgement in determining appropriate accounting
policies based on the facts and circumstances of the Group’s
digital assets.

Given the business model of the Group, digital assets are
accounted for either as inventories measured at fair value less
costs to sell or financial instruments measured at fair value on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Furthermore, in determining fair values, management needs
to apply judgement to identify the relevant available markets,
and to consider accessibility to and activity within those
markets in order to identify the principal digital asset markets
for the Group.
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(c)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR EMBRRIIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

5 - ‘REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS 5 g5 HhUgA UK

AND (LOSSES), NET AND SEGMENT (B518) BEE R D EPEF

INFORMATION

Revenue and other income, gains and (losses), net from continuing
operations recognised during the Year are as follows:

REERBFEEEER 2 W R EMUL
AWK (B518) FERFESRIT ¢

2024 2023
—E_MmE —E2T=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
(restated)
(e E7)
Revenue Wz
Foundation, building construction works MENEFREETEMEERS

and ancillary services 266,721 177,378
Technology services B AR S 3,144 32,382
Trust and custody services EEKTERS 1,801 4,377
Services income from operation of USDK BEUSDKZ BRFE WA (B72E())

(Note () > 1,971
Revenue from contracts with customers REER GG 271,666 216,108
Trading in digital assets and net fair value YFEERBRUTEEZ FATEEE

change on digital assets 65,288 130,066
Interest income from lending business WEEBER EWA 975 531
Fair value change on investments in securities HHRENFEED (597) (1,760)
Total revenue PRl g 337,332 344,945
Other income, gains and (losses), net Hthg A~ Wz K (8518) 348
Interest income FEWA 495 680
Distribution and interest income from DR BE AT EFT ARG L

financial assets at fair value through TRVE ENFE WA W)

profit or loss (Note (i) 272 133
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEVE BERREBETHE

equipment — net (11) -
Gain on early termination of lease RERKRIEAERE - 28
Gain on COVID-19 related rent concession R EHAARCOVID- 198 & B R

from lessor - 47
Government grants (Note (i) U R RG (77 22) 194 1,846
Loss on change in fair value of financial assets BATESABGR SHEEATELZE

at fair value through profit or loss IE518 (2,124) )
Loss on the amendment and restatement of BEIREMDRIER 2518

the warrants - (3,994)
Others Hth 272 347

(902) ©922)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND (LOSSES), NET AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

Notes:

(i

(i)

OKLink Fintech Limited (“OKLink”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, creates and operates an online platform (“OKLink Platform”) for
the conduct of activities involving the USDK cryptocurrency, an Ethereum-
based virtual asset. Each USDK created represents a digital record of the
USDK holder’s beneficial interest in one US dollar held on trust by Prime
Trust, LLC (“Prime Trust”) for the benefit of the USDK holder. The OKLink
Platform can be used by the USDK users to establish USDK Accounts
for the purposes of (i) requesting that USDK be issued in exchange
for an equivalent amount of U.S. Dollars provided to Prime Trust as
trustee (“minting”), (i) requesting that Prime Trust provides U.S. Dollars in
exchange for an equivalent amount of USDK, which begins by sending the
USDK to a personal address designated for burning (“burning”), and (i)

sending and receiving USDK to and/or from USDK Accounts.

In accordance with the terms set out in the contracts with USDK Users,
OKLink, as technology service provider, does not have control of, or liability
for, any products or services that are purchased from third parties by the
USDK Users in using the USDK Services. In the opinion of the directors
of the Company, OKLink is not liable to the USDK Users or any third
parties for any losses or issues that may arise from the use of the OKLink
Platform, hence it is considered that the actual or contingent liabilities of
the Group that have arisen from the operation of the OKLink Platform are

immaterial.

During the Year, the distribution and interest income from financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are approximately HK$166,000 and
HK$106,000 (2023: approximately Nil and HK$133,000) respectively.

During the Year, government grants mainly included the subsidies received
from the Construction Innovation and Technology Fund (“CITF”) and the
Reimbursement of Maternity Leave Pay Scheme launched by the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region Government. During the year ended
31 March 2023, government grants mainly included subsidies received
from the Beijing Municipal Intellectual Property Office for its support to the
patented technologies acquired by micro, small and medium enterprises
and the ESS under the Anti-epidemic Fund launched by the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region Government. There are no unfulfilled

conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

5 Urass HAthITA

Usy 7ut Kz

(B538) B R D EFEE
(&)

Mzt -

(i

(i)

KRBz 2 EMH BASOKLink Fintech
Limited (TOKLinkJ) Bl EEFE EF &

(TOKLinkF&1) » MUETTIH RUSDKINZ &
B RBUMLAKAEREREE) 2 ¥
75758 o Fr Al 3% 2 S BUSDKIEUSDKIF B A
R LAUSDKIF B A %= A Prime Trust, LLC

(TPrime Trust)) MEsEARTHEZ—ETT
FRERERZ BT OKLINkF & Al i
USDKF R B ER ITUSDKER B () BR T
2547 2 USDKIA R 1R FPrime Trust (1E%
TN 2ETHEESE (M5 > (1EXK
Prime Trusti2 (3=t AR HUSDKZ HHE %8

(UBBAETEAMHER (MMH%R)) ZEAHM
IE 8 HUSDKZ A =BRgA) > K@K, 3B
USDKER 5 8 24311 LKt BRUSDK ©

TRIEEAUSDKA F &AYFT SR OKLink (fE
BT AR S FE ) 3 SRR BIUSDK AR 5 R (6
FUSDKAR B BB =B E 2 ER TR
RHEEF - ANATEBDA OKLInkEA
LA FAOKLINKE & T AJ BE = £ 2 AR I8 5%
o B E B USDKA A SRR 58 = 75 A B
HE b H3% > REBREZEOKLNKF
BEEZERARREELREKRC

REEE> UAFESFABGENSREE
B9 R K B SR A 93 B 49 %3166,00078 7T K
106,000 70 (Z T = =4 1 £94%Z %133,000
BT ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R e MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

5 ‘REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND (LOSSES), NET AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts AFEREHORE
with customers
2024 2023
ZEIME TEC=E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHExT
(restated)
(Ges==p7l))
Timing of revenue recognition WAt 25 e 220 s
Continuing operations REREEE
~ Foundation, building construction —MEEFRETER
works and ancillary services BEERTS 266,721 177,378
— Technology services — R AR 7S 3,144 32,382
— Trust and custody services —(EFERFEERTE 1,801 4,377
— Services income from operation of USDK —4% & USDK > AR 75 U A - 1,971
271,666 216,108
Timing of revenue recognition Ut 2 e 220 B
Over time 198 B ) 7 271,666 216,108
Performance obligations for contracts with BERERSANENSEE

customers

Foundation, building construction works and ancillary
services

Such services are recognised as performance obligations satisfied
over time as the Group creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced or the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group as the Group performs, respectively.
Revenue for these works is therefore recognised over time. The
Group measures progress using an output method. Specifically,
progress is based on surveys of the relevant services completed by
the Group to the end of the current reporting period with reference
to certificates issued by customers or payment applications
confirmed by internal surveyor. The directors of the Company
consider that this method faithfully depicts the Group’s performance
towards complete satisfaction of these performance obligations in
these contracts under HKFRS 15.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE_Z

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND (LOSSES), NET AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (continued)

Technology services

Revenue from technology services is recognised over time because
either the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs or that the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date. It is recognised over time using
output method, i.e. to recognise revenue on the basis of direct
measurement of the value of goods or services promised under the
contract that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services. The contracts on provision of
technology services include payment schedules which require stage
payments over the service period once certain specified milestones
are reached.

Trust and custody services

The trust and custody services provided by the Group typically
include the safekeeping, settlement and other customised services
of its clients’ assets. The Group will enter into custody agreements
with the customers and provide the trust and custody services for
their assets. The types of assets custodied under this business
include digital assets and fiat currencies. In general, the customers
simultaneously receive and consume the benefits as the Group
performs. As such, revenue from trust and custody services is
recognised over time.
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R EMBImRIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND (LOSSES), NET AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (continued)

Services income from operation of USDK

OKLink does not charge the USDK Users any fees or costs for
minting, transferring or burning any USDK but instead is entitled
to receive monthly compensations based on the total USD assets
held in trust in monthly volume tiers depending on the daily closing
balance ledger of trust assets. USDK Users obtain the benefits
of the services carried out by OKLink in minting, transferring and
burning the USDK by holding the USDK in their USDK Accounts
until the USDK is transferred or redeemed. Hence revenue is
recognised over time as the USDK Users simultaneously receive
and consume these benefits provided by OKLink’s performance as
OKLink performs over time.

In respect of providing services relating to sending and receiving
USDK to and/or from USDK Accounts, OKLink does not charge
transaction fees associated with such transfers. The services
carried out by OKLink in transferring USDK to other USDK
Accounts or other Users are not distinct within the context of the
contracts with the USDK Users from the other promised services in
the contracts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HZ "2 " NF=B=+—HILFE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND (LOSSES), NET AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligations from
contracts with customers

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31
March 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

s « EL{UT A - U 5 e
((Eﬁ)?ﬂ) égﬁﬁ'zﬁ%ﬁﬂ

PEREERFENZHRTRORME
MR 5E

AR TNER_E_ZF=ZR=1+—
B DEREEHTBAOSE CRBTHIED X
B17) MRS BE5mWT

2024 2023

T ME TET=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

Amounts expected to be recognised as  TEHARESR A WAV EE

revenue:

Within one year —FNR 444,360 152,368

After one year —F% 123,028 11,810

567,388 164,178

At 31 March 2024 and 2023, the amounts of transaction prices
allocated to the remaining performance obligations which are
expected to be recognised as revenue in the above table relate
to foundation, building construction works and ancillary services,
of which the performance obligations are expected to be satisfied
within two years. All the other amounts of transaction prices
allocated to the remaining performance obligations are expected
to be recognised as revenue within one year and is not disclosed
under practical expedients in HKFRS 15. The amounts disclosed
above do not include variable consideration which is constrained.
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R EMBImRIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND (LOSSES), NET AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

Operating segment information

Management has determined the operating segments based on
the reports reviewed by the directors, the chief operating decision-
maker (“CODM”), that are used to make strategic decisions. The
CODM considers the business from a product/service perspective.
Principal activities of the segments are as follows:

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group identified its
construction wastes handling services as discontinued operation
upon disposal of Joint Wealth Global Limited and its subsidiary,
Chung Shun Construction Limited, on 22 December 2023. The
segment information report below does not included any amounts
from the discontinued operation.

Continuing operations:

(@  Foundation, building construction works and ancillary
services: Provision of site formation works, excavation and
lateral support, piling construction, pile caps or footing
construction and reinforced concrete structure works,
building construction works and ancillary services mainly
included hoarding and demolition works and lease of
machinery;

(b)  Digital assets related businesses: Provision of 1) proprietary
trading in digital assets; and 2) trust and custody services;

(c)  Technical services: Provision of the Group’s on-chain
anti-money laundering solution (Onchain AML), on-chain
monitoring solution (Chaintelligence), APl (Application
Programming Interface) and other I.T. development services;
and

(d)  Other businesses: 1) investment in securities; and 2) lending
business which includes the Group’s money lending business
carried out in Hong Kong.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HZ "2 " NF=B=+—HILFE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND (LOSSES), NET AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

Operating segment information (continued)

Discontinued operation:

(@ Construction wastes handling services: Provision of
management and operation of public fill reception facilities,
including public fill banks and temporary construction waste
sorting facilities, for construction and demolition materials.

Segment revenue is measured in a manner consistent with
that in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments
based on a measure of segment results. Unallocated income,
unallocated corporate expenses, finance costs and income tax
expenses/credit are not included in segment results.

Segment assets mainly consist of current assets and non-current
assets as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial
position except tax recoverable, unallocated bank balances and
cash and other unallocated assets.

Segment liabilities mainly consist of current liabilities and non-
current liabilities as disclosed in the consolidated statement of
financial position except current income tax liabilities, amounts due
to former subsidiaries, loans from related parties, amount due to a
related party and other unallocated liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R e MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

5 - REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS 5 U#s- Efthig A ~ R
AND (LOSSES), NET AND SEGMENT (B518) BEE R D EPEF
INFORMATION (continued) (48

"'

~

. . . ) e e
Operating segment information (continued) KEDEEE (&)
Continuing operations
REEEEE
Foundation,
building
construction Digital assets
works and related Technical Other
ancillary services businesses services businesses Total
HEEFRE HTEE
TRREERS HEEH AR Hih## Mzt
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Year ended 31 March 2024 HECZ-MEZRA=+-HLEE
Revenue W
External revenue MM 266,721 67,089 3,144 3718 337,332
Cost of sales HERA (238,126) (30,290) (2,231) (479) (271,126)
Impairment losses on financial assets and & RENBEZ
contract assets, net RERRFE 4,465 152 (836) (11,622) (7,841)
Segment results NEEE 33,060 36,951 i (11,723) 58,365
Unallocated income, gains and (losses), net FARBA bER (B8 38 (902)
Unallocated corporate expenses FARATRE (100,032)
Finance costs BENA (2,500)
Loss before income tax KFTSHAIESE (45,069)
Income tax expense FERES =
Loss for the year EREE (45,069)
Other profit and loss disclosures: HitiaA RESERE
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment g BEREETE 1,707 1,700 825 37 4,269
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRREENE 573 1,621 352 1,572 4,118
2,280 3,321 1,177 1,609 8,387
At 31 March 2024 R-Z_mE=A=+-H
Segment assets NEEE 122,641 1,166,522 33,214 2,680 1,325,057
Unallocated assets FARBE 8,237
Total assets BEERE 1,333,204
Additions to non-current asset: FRBEERE
Segment assets NHEE 1,004 390 438 30 1,862
Segment liabilties NHER 91,904 082,228 3,746 710 1,078,588
Unallocated liabilties FAEEE 1,654
Amounts due to former subsidiaries EfEIMBATRE 16,942
Loan from a related party RE—LHEHER 40,400
Amount due to a related party Ef—2EERTE 18,585
Current income tax liabilties BEFmERas 9,541
Total liabilti BEAT
otal liabilties BT 1165710

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R EMBImRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND (LOSSES), NET AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

Operating segment information (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2023 (restated)

Revenue

External revenue

Cost of sales

Impairment losses on intangible assets

Impairment losses on financial assets and
contract assets, net

Segment results

Unallocated income, gains and (losses), net
Unallocated corporate expenses
Finance costs

Profit before income tax
Income tex expense

Profit for the year

Other profit and loss disclosures:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of intangible assets

At 31 March 2023 (restated)

Segment assets
Unallocated assets
Discontinued operation

Total assets

Addttions to non-current asset:
Segment assets

Segment liabilties

Unallocated liabilties

Amount due to a former subsidiary
Loans from related parties
Amount due to a related party
Current income tax liabiltties
Discontinued operation

Total liabilties

BE_T-=E-F=1-H
IHEE (B E7)

Wit

ShEpira

HEME

BYEEZRERR

EREERANEEY
RESRFE

NHEE

FARMAWER (58 38
AAEATRX
RERE

BRPrSIATER
PR

ERiEF

AtEAREERE
nE BERRERE
ERREAERE
BYAERH

RZB-_=%=A=t+-H
(7))

NHEE

AAEEE

BRIEEEEY

BERE

FRBEERE
NHEE

NEHERE

FNEER
RN B AR
REBEHER

i —AmER R
HEmEhan
BRILEERE

BELE

5 Urass HAthITA

m » H Usy 7ut Kz
((%?E) FHERDEER

RENHER (@

Continuing operations
BRLELY
Foundation,
building
construction Digital assets
works and related Technical Other

ancillary services businesses services businesses Total

HEBFRER YFEE \
IEREERB EES R HiE fazt
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FE7T FE7 FET FA7T FET
177,378 134,443 34,363 (1,229) 344,945
(133,885) (41,679 (14,861) (544) (190,969)
- - (1,646) - (1,646)
(664) (152 (1,423 (6472) (7.611)

42,929 92,612 16,423 (7,245) 144,719
(922)
(80,756)
(4,092)

58,949
(9,673)

49,276

1,663 989 887 33 3,572

573 1,621 437 1,672 4,203

= = 2,791 = 2,791

2,236 2,610 4115 1,605 10,566
83,578 930,097 37,797 17,617 1,069,089
19,981

16,124

1,106,194

16 3,990 9 = 4,015

44,155 721,944 2,504 2,414 771,017
2474

10,641

77,906

18,087

9,541

6,933

896,599

BR ERERERAT
S MFEER



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR EMBRRIIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

5 ‘REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND (LOSSES), NET AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

Operating segment information (continued)

Geographical information

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers is

5

REDSHBER (@

WEE

FEFEZIIRERWHERTHIZEEME

presented based on location of operation is as follows: 270

2024 2023
—EopmE —E-=
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FAT FHT
(restated)
(#&&E7)
Continuing operations: FREREET .

PRC = 2,024 20,634
Hong Kong 548 335,308 324,311
337,332 344,945

Information about the Group’s non-current assets is presented

REBZIFRBEEBRTHIRE EMIE

based on the geographical location of the assets: B25):
2024 2023
—EZmE “B=HF
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
(restated)
(EE7)

Continuing operations: FEREET

PRC s 925 1,756
Hong Kong 58 5,655 11,442
6,580 13,198

234 0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HZ "2 " NF=B=+—HILFE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS

AND (LOSSES), NET AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

Operating segment information (continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the total revenue

5 Wiz EAHUTA - Was B
((%?ﬁ) %%ﬁ&ﬁ%ﬂﬁ*—l

REDEER (@)
AR EEFNER

REGEAERRDBEEBIB10%E R IR

of the Group are as follows: =AM
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAERT FAET
Customer A! ZERA 171,793 80,641
Customer B! =EB! 37,162 N/A2
Customer C! EEC N/A2 45,692

i Revenue from foundation, building construction works and ancillary
services.
2 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total

revenue of the Group.

FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of the Group’s finance costs from continuing operations

! REME - BFERIBKREERBHK

2 MEFEW R (G A E BB T BB 10% °

6 FEMRZ

FEBFBEEMHFREDTNT

is as follows:
2024 2023
“ENE “EBT=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET
Interest on lease liabilities HEaENE 108 237
Interest on loan from a related party RlEARERFE 2,392 2,809
Interest on loan from a shareholder —SREERFE - 1,046
2,500 4,092

R B ERARAT
“TeTneen 239
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R e MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

7  (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME
TAX

(Loss)/Profit before income tax from continuing operations is arrived
at after charging:

7 BRFRISMRAY (B548) im A

RERBEEEF 2RISR (B8
EHBNRUTRRZBER

2024 2023

ZEIME B

HK$°000 HK$ 000

FAET FHExT

(restated)

(R&E7)

Auditors’ remuneration ZE M & 1,400 1,400
Staff costs including directors’ emoluments £ TR > G115 &= Hf] & (#7528)

(Note 8) 86,450 100,166
Depreciation of property, plant and ME--BERREITE

equipment 4,269 3,572
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREBEENE (Wite)

(Note 16) 4,118 4,203
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 17) L& E#TH (Wa£17) - 2,791
Expenses relating to short-term leases and 5 8AfH & & E il E1ERARE X

other leases (Note 16) (Hiz%16) 706 992
Exchange loss, net PE 2518 > 38R 778 240

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES,
INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS

An analysis of the Group’s employee benefit expenses from
continuing operations is as follows:

8 (EEEFRA% 8FEF
il &

FERFBREEXBNREERMNBAZ M
LI

2024 2023

—E_MmE —E=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET FET

(restated)

(Ec==2l))

Salaries and allowances e RoRRL 81,911 96,095
Retirement scheme contributions RORETEIHR

— defined contribution plan — EERHRRETE 4,539 4,071

86,450 100,166

The Group operates a defined contribution scheme in Hong
Kong which complies with the requirements under the Mandatory
Provident Fund (“MPF”) Schemes Ordinance. All assets under the
scheme are held separately from the Group under independently
administered funds. Contributions to the MPF scheme follow the
MPF Schemes Ordinance.

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS MBRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

= — i i
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, 8 EEEFM% aEFER
INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ M (@
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC REBRAEKILINNBARNEEES
are required to participate in a state-managed retirement benefit B F5 A B BT R RY B = AR KRB R 5T & o
scheme operated by the PRC government. The Group is required AEBERZRKREFFEBMTEEERT
to contribute a certain percentage of basic payroll costs to the ERANETEDL UAHEMR AE
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation HRAKEFFTE ZHE—SEABFEIER
of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to Ptk o
make the required contributions under the scheme.
BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 9 EFEMRED
DIRECTORS
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (@) EFREFEITHASME
emoluments
The remuneration of each director and the chief executive for FEERFETHRAEREEZZR
the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 is set out below: THERZIEI_F=B=+—H
IEFFENMEETINT -
Employer’s
Salaries, contribution
allowances toa
and benefits  Discretionary retirement
Fee in kind bonuses scheme Total
e EN BkEHE
ik REWET BiETEAL 25N st
Year ended BE_ZE-INE HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
31 March 2024 =A=+—HLEE FTERT FTERT FTET FTET FTERT
Executive directors HiTES
Mr. Ren Yunan (“Mr. Ren’) FEBRE (MELED
(Chief executive officer) (TEARE) 600 2,846 - 43 3,489
Mr. Zhang Chao (“Mr. Zhang’) wiB%E (MR 600 1,537 - 182 2,319
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Tang Yue (‘Mr. Tang’) EHsE (BEE) 600 - - - 600
Mr. Pu Xiaojiang (‘M. Pu") HEIEE TELED 600 - - - 600
Independent non-executive BIEMTES
directors
Mr. Jiang Guoliang (‘Mr. Jiang”) BRERAE (BEL) 240 - - - 240
Mr. Lee Man Chiu (“Mr. Lee") EXBRE (E54) 240 - - - 240
Mr. Li Zhouxin (“Mr, Li") FAMEE (Fx4) 240 - - - 240
3,120 4,383 - 225 7,728

B ERERERAS
S MEFER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBEERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

9 - ‘BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 9 EFEMRER @
DIRECTORS (continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (@) EFRFETHASME
emoluments (continued) &
Employer's
Salaries, contribution
allowances toa
and benefits Discretionary retirement
Fee in kind bonuses scheme Total
Ay BIREHE
ik RENER HIBTEAL EEXHEM imzt
VYear ended BE_Z_=F HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
31 March 2023 ZA=1+—HLEE TER TR FET FET TET
Executive directors HiTES
Mr. Ren Yunan (M. Ren’) FEEEE (MELE))
(Chief executive officer) (FTHAEH) 600 3,418 - 29 4,047
Mr. Zhang Chao (‘Mr. Zhang’) RBEE (RAE)) 600 2,004 - 162 2,766
Non-executive directors FRTES
Mr. Tang Yue (‘Mr. Tang") Bk (BEE) 600 - - - 600
Mr. Pu Xiaojiang (“Mr. Pu’) BETLE (CH%E) 600 - - - 600
Independent non-executive BUEHTES
directors
Mr. Jiang Guoliang (“Mr. Jiang") BRERAE (BEE) 240 = = = 240
Mr. Lee Man Chiu (“Mr. Lee") EXBEL (5L 240 - - - 240
Mr. Li Zhouxin (“Mr. Li") FEMRE ((Fx4) 240 - - - 240
3,120 5,422 - 191 8,733

During the Year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to the directors as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2023: Nil).
Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors has
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the Year

(2023: Ni).
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AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 9 EEEMREDS @
DIRECTORS (continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) LEESHFHMAL

The five highest paid individuals during the Year include one
(2023: none) of the director whose emoluments are disclosed
above. The emoluments in respect of the remaining four
(2028: five) individuals are as follows:

REFE AL REFHMALTERE
— % (CEI=F TR EF HHFF
Mt EXRE - AR TS (T°F
T=F I RR) ATZEBNT

2024 2023

o 10 - 2 —E=F

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FHET FET

Salaries and allowances e RoREE 10,407 19,186
Discretionary bonuses B TEAL 13,797 13,164
Retirement scheme contributions BRIREHE R 72 81
24,276 32,431

The emoluments of the highest paid individuals who are not
the directors of the Company fell within the following bands:

WIERBDEFZERSFMALZ
HM A FUTEHR

Number of individuals

AE
2024 2023
—EME ZEI=F
Emolument bands (in HK$) #FNEEE CBoo)

HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 775 E3,500,0008 75 1 -
HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 775 %E 4,500,000 75 - 1

HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 771 E5,000,00078 75 1
HK$5,000,001 — HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 77T E5,500,00078 7T - 2
HK$5,500,001 — HK$6,000,000 5,500,001 78 75 26,000,000 7T 1 1
HK$10,500,001 — HK$11,000,000  10,500,00178 7% 11,000,0007 7% 1 -
HK$11,500,001 — HK$12,000,000  11,500,00178 7t & 12,000,0007 7% - 1
4 (5}

During the Year, no individual of the above was paid by the
Group (i) as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or (i) as compensation for loss of office as a director or
management of any members of the Group (2023: Nil).

RAFE  AEBHEOEM LR
AL EZOFERNAZER I
ATEBRBNRBN()VIFAEER
EANEATDNESHEEERIR
BEECTE_=F:8) -

BN TR AR AR
S MFEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBEERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSES

The amounts of income tax expenses from continuing operations
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income represent:

0 PR3

FoRmAEMEEREETRAFEL

EREBHPMSMAS AR

2024 2023
—E2INE —E=%F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FH T
(restated)

(R&E7)

EEFER
— Current income tax —BPHBRR1ER
Deferred income tax IRIEFRTS

Hong Kong profits tax:

FRiSTRRIS

Income tax expenses

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit arising in or
derived from Hong Kong for the Year.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million
of profits of qualifying corporations will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors of the Company considered the amount involved
upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as
insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong Kong
Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit
for both years.

The two-tiered profits tax rates regime is applicable to one entity
within the Group for both years.

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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10 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

10

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise

Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the
EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years,
except for a PRC subsidiary which was recognised as High and

New Technology Enterprise and is eligible to a preferential tax rate
of 15% with the expiry date on 21 December 2024.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates

prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

The taxation on the Group’s (loss)/profit before income tax differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the Hong Kong

profits tax rate as follows:

FRiSHFSZ (@)

RIEPZEAREME G EFRERE (TR
FRGHIE)) RIEEFMERIZEMMA - 7
B F > R B A B B IR 2 225%
BRT —HERENB AT ERIE RS MR
e TREERKAZR - ZMEF
+ZAZ+—HERNIS%EERZEK-

Hitn S ERE 2 A AR R RE
ERREE

FEBBRATSNAT (B518) /af AR IEHE
EREEBMNEMMEMELNIEREIEL
BIRYZERRUT ©

2024 2023
—EmE —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAERT FET
(restated)
(#RE7)
(Loss)/Profit before income tax PREFISINAT (B538) & A (45,069) 58,949
Calculated at domestic tax rate of 16.5%  ZE NI F16.5%tE
(2023: 16.5%) (ZTEZ=% 116.5%) (7,436) 9,727
Income tax at concessionary rate BEBEREFBEZER - (165)
Income not subject to tax BAERRBIUA (2,212) (540)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes e[RRI 3,328 1,633
Tax effect of temporary differences not REREREER RS E
recognised 569 510
Tax losses not recognised KRR IEEE 7,932 5,046
Utilisation of tax losses previously not BB SR R SRR BT 18
recognised (1,783) (5,680)
Tax concession MBEE - ©®)
Different tax rates of subsidiaries REMEEHERE
operating in other jurisdiction MEBABZ AERE (398) (852)
Income tax expenses FTiSiRFE - 9,673

BN TR AR AR
S MFEER



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R EMBImRIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &Z "2 " NF=B=+—HItFE

11 DISCONTINUED OPERATION 11 BERLEEER
On 22 December 2023, the Group entered into a sale and AR _F+ A+ ZH AEH
purchase agreement to dispose of the entire equity interests of FUBBEWRE UWHESERIKBRAT
Joint Wealth Global Limited (“Joint Wealth”), an indirect wholly- (MBE1) EABDZEEZERBAR)
owned subsidiary of the Company, and its subsidiary, Chung Shun REKBABIEEERERAR HB&
Construction Limited (collectively, “Joint Wealth Group”) which EEE)  HETAEBRZFBERREEY
carried out all of the Group’s construction wastes handling services RIERB R - ETHELARER KK

operation. The disposal was effected in order to devote more
resources and efforts to focus on other core business segments for
the Group’s future development. The disposal was completed on
22 December 2023, on which date control of Joint Wealth passed
to the acquirer, Colour Trend Holdings Limited (“Colour Trend”), a
related company direct wholly-owned by Mr. Chan Wing Chung
(“Mr. Chan”), a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group then.

The profit for the Year from the discontinued construction wastes
handling services operation is set out below. The comparative
figures in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income have been restated to re-present the
construction wastes handling services operation as a discontinued
operation. With Joint Wealth Group being classified as a
discontinued operation, the construction wastes handling services
operation is no longer included in the note for operating segment
information.

EERMERELZERRENETHMZ
DEBDB-HEEN_T=F+_-8
“t+ZH=EMRBE EEZENEEH
BIWBAEBRZERERAE (M)
ZABR—REALERETHNERARDZE
FERRKBEE (AL BERE2EHE
BRI AT

REERIEKEERZEABYRERBESZ
FRENHEIMOT - FRERmhAMEE
WHERAZLERAFECES] ) LEREE
BEYRIERBERI B ORIEEERT-
HREESEERREAEKIEEEXER
RREVEERBEZIBEEREED
BB -

01/04/2023 01/04/2022
to to
22/12/2023 31/03/2023
mE—BE mAE—B=Z=
2= TECZF
+-BA-+-H =RB=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Loss of construction wastes handling 1/ ERNEREYRIEREEHER
services operation for the period/year (8,344) (6,956)
Gain on disposal of construction wastes ~ H & REEEY R IEIRFE XS WG
handling services operation (Note 35) (H17#35) 12,514 =
Profit/(Loss) for the period/year from REBRIEREXEE 2/
discontinued operation FEREF (E518) 4,170 (6,956)

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2024 Annual Report




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR

11 DISCONTINUED OPERATION

(continued)

The results of the construction wastes handling services operation
for the period from 1 April 2023 to 22 December 2023 and the
year ended 31 March 2023, which have been included in the

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE_Z

11

BRIk

RIE_=ZFYA—HE_
B+ -HHBEERBEE-Z =
Z+—HLEEE BREVEEREES

“ME=R=+—HLFE

MEXRT (@

"=

= ——EE—'—_

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 2¥%E Bt AGeEakEMEEm KA
income, were as follows: X WTF
01/04/2023 01/04/2022
to to
22/12/2023 31/03/2023
—EZ=F —E2-fF
mA—HZ=E mE—RBZE
—EZ= TET=F
+ZB-+=-H =B=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Revenue Wz 100 11,486
Expenses X (7,561) (17,387)
Finance costs ARE AR A (883) (1,512
Loss before income tax FRPF1SIRAIESIE (8,344) (7,413)
Income tax credit FriSiik s - 457
Loss for the period/year A,/ FERWEE (8,344) (6,956)
Loss for the period/year from REBRIEKCEEBZ 2 FAEBE
discontinued operation includes BIETYER :
the following:
Loss/(Gain) on change in fair value of BATFEFAERZSHEE
financial assets at fair value through NEEEZEFEFEE (W)
profit or loss 6 (25)
Reversal of impairment losses on financial ©REER SIS ERERIE
assets and contract assets, net e CIp=E o (638)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- -BERRBINE
equipment 2,622 3,559
Staff costs BT 2,987 7,382
B BB PR A B

—EMEFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R EMBImRIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

11 ‘DISCONTINUED OPERATION 11 BRIEEZEFE (@)
(continued)

Cash flows for the period/year from discontinued operation:

= .

2 .

H/FRREBEREEEEH ZRERN

01/04/2023 01/04/2022
to 22/12/2023 to 31/03/2023

ZE=F - —
mE—BE mE—RBZE
2= —EC=F
+-BA-+-H =RB=+—H
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET FET

Net cash (used in)/generated from & EE) FrA) /FiiEREe 3%

operating activities (200) 5,287
Net cash used in investing activities KREEBMARS S = (591)
Net cash used in financing activities B R AIRERE - (9,500)

The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of Joint Wealth
Group at the date of disposal are disclosed in note 35.

0KG Technology Holdings Limited

2024 Annual Report

B MIEE35PIRE o

AERERCEERGRNHERNZIRE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

g N — |
12 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 12 i (58 BF
(a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share (@) SKREZX EE) &BH
From continuing operations REGEREER
The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share from ARBEBAEBHRERERSE X
continuing operations attributable to owners of the Company HBzEREX (BB BT ERE
is based on the following data: TSRS
2024 2023
—E-MF —F-=
(restated)
(#2E5)
(Loss)/Profit for the year attributable to Z~A Bl #E A A FE15FE R
owners of the Company (HK$'000)  (§518) /&¥| (F#7T) (40,303) 43,491
(Profit)/Loss for the year from REERULEREER 2FRN
discontinued operation (HK$'000) CaF)) /f18 (FE71) (4,170) 6,956
(Loss)/Earnings for the purpose of  REFELSEF 2 ERER
basic (loss)/earnings per share from  (E518) /& ¥z (68 /ZF|
continuing operations (HK$'000) (F27T) (44,473) 50,447
Weighted average number of ordinary FietEE A (5518) BFIZEA
shares in issue during the year for BETEERZINEFEIH (F4K)
the purpose of calculating basic
(loss)/earnings per share
(in thousana) 5,370,510 5,370,510
Basic (loss)/earnings per share from REFELEEF 2 SREAK
continuing operations (HK Cents) (F18) /BA CElLY (0.83) 0.94

B B ERARAS
CHEIEEREER M5
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R EMBImRIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

12 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

12 8z (§518) &BF @

(continued)
(a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share (a) SKREX @FEE) B @
(continued)
From continuing and discontinued operations REFEREREERILREER
The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share from ARBEBAEBHRERELER
continuing and discontinued operations attributable to the ERIEREXBESRER (BH)
owners of the Company is based on the following data: S BANTIRBLUTSESE
2024 2023
—E_MmE —EC=F
(Loss)/Profit attributable to owners of ZNA B A AEIGR BRFELE K
the Company from continuing and ~ B4R IEASE 25~ (B548) /5 F)
discontinued operations (HK$'000)  (F7z) (40,303) 43,491
Weighted average number of FETEEX BB BIZERN
ordinary shares in issue during BETTER BT (FK)
the year for the purpose of
calculating basic (loss)/earnings
per share (in thousand) 5,370,510 5,370,510
Basic (loss)/earnings per share REFECSERBERIERESERE 2
from continuing and discontinued ~ EIREZR (B518) &F] CEL)
operations (HK Cents) (0.75) 0.81
From discontinued operation RKECHRIELE R

Basic earnings per share for the discontinued operation is
HK0.08 cents per share (2023: HK0.13 cents loss per share),
based on the profit for the period from the discontinued
operation of approximately HK$4,170,000 (2023: loss for the
year of approximately HK$6,956,000) and the denominators
detailed above for basic (loss)/earnings per share.

(b)

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the diluted
(loss)/earnings per share is equal to the basic (loss)/earnings
per share as there was no potential dilutive ordinary share.

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2024 Annual Report
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13 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2024:

Place of

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R EMBImRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

13 FEMBARE

A_E_NMFE=B=1+—HZFERBL

BRENMT

Particulars of

incorporation and issued share Percentage of
Name kind of legal entity Principal activities and place of operation capital interest held
et
AERTE RitEREER TEEBREENY BETRAHE PSR A AL
2024 2023
—EomE “ZoCE
Progressive Building & Foundation Hong Kong, limited Provision of foundation engineering works, buiding Ordinary share HK$100 ~ 100% (indirect) ~ 100% (indirect)
Company Limited liability company construction works and project management
business in Hong Kong
ZERTHEBRAF &8 BRAT REEREHETR VEFRETR EER100E T 100% (%) 100% (B4
RBEEEER
Chung Shun Construction Limited Hong Kong, limited Provision of construction works, which included ~ Ordinary share HK$100 - 100% (indirect)
liability company foundation works and ancillary services, and
construction wastes handling services
in Hong Kong
BERERRAT &8 BRRF REBRURETIR SEMEIER EER100ET - 100% (F#2)
ERERBU R R ERY
OKG Financial Services Limited Hong Kong, limited Money lending business Ordinary share 100% (direct) 100% (direct)
liability company HK$136,000,000
BRERSHREERAT &8 BRAF MEEH £380%136,0000008 7T  100% (B#H)  100% (EH)
OKG Global Investment Limited Hong Kong, limited Investment holding Ordinary share HK$100  100% (direct) 100% (direct)
liability company
BREERRRERRAT B BRAA REZR ZER100ET 100% (B#)  100% (B8
OKLink Trust Limited Hong Kong, limited Trust and custody services Ordinary share 20% (direct) 20% (direct)
liability company HK$5,000,000 80% (indirect)  80% (indirect)
BRI EEETLRRAR &E BRAA B REERS BiEK5,000,0008T  20% (B 20% (B8
80% () 80% ()
OKLink Investment Holdings Limited  British Virgin Islands Investments in securities Ordinary share 100% (direct) 100% (direct)
(‘BVI), limited HK$390,000
liability company
OKLink Investment Holdings Limited ~ EBEL#E EHRE E4%17390,0007% 7T 100% (BH)  100% (B
(TR R LB
&1) BIRAF
OKLink Fintech Limited Hong Kong, limited Technology services Ordinary share 100% (indirect) ~ 100% (indirect)
liability company HK$1,000,000
OKLink Fintech Limited &5 BRAE BHRE Z4#[%1,000,000% 7T 100% (#%) 100% (%)
MetaStar Trading Limited BVI, limited liability Trading in digital assets Ordinary share US$50,000 100% (direct) 100% (direct)
company
MetaStar Trading Limited HEELEES YFEERS Ei81750,000% 7T 100% (B#)  100% (B
BRAR
B EEERARAT

S MFEER

241



248

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R EMBImRIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

13 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

B AE @)

Place of Particulars of
incorporation and issued share Percentage of
Name kind of legal entity Principal activities and place of operation capital interest held
SE AR T2t RS
NGk RitEBREER TREBREEY BETRAHE PSR A AL
2024 2023
ZEIME “EICE
Shenzhen OKG Network PRC, limited liability Technology services HK$60,000,000 (has been 100% (indirect)  100% (indirect)
Technologies Co., Ltd.* company paid up)
FITEREREEREERAR  FE BRAF RAMARHS 60,000,000 (BE&E) 100% ()  100% ()
Hainan OKG Network Technologies ~ PRC, limited liability Technology services Renminbi (‘RMB”) - 100% (indirect)
Co., Ltd.* (Note) company 10,000,000
(not yet paid up)
BERRNEREERRERAT FE BRAF RAMARTS AR TARE) = 100% (f#)
a2 10,000,0007¢
(GESI9)
Jiangsu OKG Network Technologies  PRC, limited liability Technology services RMB10,000,000 100% (indirect)  100% (indirect)
Co., Ltd.* company (RMB8,000,000 has been
paid up)
IHBREREERRERAT FE BRAT RAMARHS AE#10,000,0007T 100% (B#)  100% (E#)
(AE¥8,000,0007cE4
)
Beijing OKG Network Technologies  PRC, limited liability Technology services RMB20,000,000 (has been 100% (indirect) ~ 100% (indirect)
Co., Ltd.* company paid up)
TRBRERBERRARAE  HE ARAH AR AR 20,000,0007T 100% (E#2)  100% (i)
(EfR)
ShangHai OKG Technologies Co., PRG, limited liability Technology services RMB20,000,000 100% (indirect)  100% (indirect)
Ltd.* company (RMB5,000,000 has been
paid up)
HERERBERBRRERAT FE BRAT RAMARS A E#20,000,0007T 100% (B#)  100% (B
(AE¥5,000,0007cE4
)
Beijing OKG Network Information PRG, limited liability Provision of valued-added telecommunications RMB10,000,000 (not yet  100% (controlled 100% (controlled
Co., Ltd.* company services and holding ICP license paid up) via contractual  via contractual
arrangements)  arrangements)
TRBRERBREESERAR FE BRAF REREECRBERFALHANDREBER AR10,000,0007T 100% (EBEH 100% (BEBEH
(GES: IS ZHHER) ZHHER)

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2024 Annual Report



13 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

14

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

13 B AE @)

Place of Particulars of
incorporation and issued share Percentage of
Name kind of legal entity Principal activities and place of operation capital interest held
SE AL It RS
AR RitEBREER TREBREEY BETRAHE PSR E AL
2024 2023
S 1113 “EICE
Beijing CAS OKG Technology PRC, limited liability Technology services RMB20,000,000 80% (indirect)  80% (indirect)
Co., Ltd.* company (RMB8,250,000 has been
paid up)
TRIREHBRERAT B BRAT KRR K #20,000,0007¢ 80% (B#) 80% (B#2)
(A #8,250,0007T
24
Jinan OKLink Technology Co., Ltd.*  PRG, limited liability Technology services RMB100,000,000 80% (indirect)  56% (indirect)
company (RMB4,000,000 has been
paid up)
FEERERERRERAS FE BRAT KRS AE100,000,0007T  80% (R#2) 56% (#2)
(AR #4,000,0007T
24
Note: Mzt -

Hainan OKG Network Technologies Co., Ltd. was dissolved during the year ended
31 March 2024.

The Group had no subsidiaries which have material non-controlling interests for

both years.

*

English translation of the name of Chinese companies is provided for

identification purpose only.

DIVIDENDS 14

No interim dividend was declared for the Year (2023: Nil).

No final dividend was proposed by the Board for the Year (2023:
Nil).

BERAEEEARRAERARENBE-_2 N
FZR=+—HLLFERK-

AEBRMEEET EER EASFEREDNINE

A7 e

HQ l%\

RAERE KRRABWESRTHRE CF
TZEIHE) o

RAEE  EEZEUAEHRERPRE
(ZBZ=F . 4) o

BN TR AR AR
S MFEER
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R EMBImRIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND

15 Y% - BER=RE

Furniture,
Machinery fixtures
and Leasehold and office Motor
equipment  improvements equipment vehicles Total
HE i RE
HERRE MERE  RBAZRE RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FERT Thr Thr TEn
Cost A
At 1 April 2022 RZE__FWMBE—H 39,920 2,565 7,494 12,492 62,471
Additions RE 16 2,850 1,149 591 4,606
Exchange adjustments ERREE - (13) (378) = (391)
At 31 March 2023 RIBZ=F=A=1+—H 39,936 5,402 8,265 13,083 66,686
Accumulated depreciation RHIE
At 1 April 2022 =1t} =R =] 30,641 2,414 4,675 7,669 45,399
Charge for the year (Note 7) FRZH (H37) 3,278 929 1,130 1,704 7,131
Exchange adjustments ERREE - (13) (188) - (201)
At 31 March 2023 RIBZ=F=A=1+—H 33919 3,330 5,617 9,463 52,329
Net book value REFE
At 31 March 2023 RIEZ=F=B=1+—H 6,017 2,072 2,648 3,620 14,357
Cost DS
At 1 April 2023 RZZ2Z=-FMBE—H 39,936 5,402 8,265 13,083 66,686
Additions AE 204 - 436 800 1,440
Disposals HE - (165) (68) - (233)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR (35,131) (862) (1,501) (10,063) (47,557)
Exchange adjustments ERAE - U (234) - (241)
At 31 March 2024 RIZEZME=A=+—H 5,009 4,368 6,898 3,820 20,095
Accumulated depreciation RHE
At 1 April 2023 RIZEZ=FME—H 33,919 3,330 5617 9,463 52,329
Charge for the year (Note 7) FRZH #3#7) 2,630 1,477 1,175 1,609 6,891
Disposals HE - (165) (57) - (222)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR (32,341) (862) (1,491) (8,465) (43,159)
Exchange adjustments EREE - U] (168) = (175)
At 31 March 2024 RIZEZME=A=+—H 4,208 3,773 5,076 2,607 15,664
Net book value FREFE
At 31 March 2024 RZZE_ME=A=+-H 801 595 1,822 1,213 4,431

During the Year, depreciation expense of property, plant and
equipment of approximately HK$1,025,000 (2023 (restated):
approximately HK$993,000) had been included in cost of sales

from continuing operations.

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2024 Annual Report
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16 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND
LEASES LIABILITIES

(@) Amounts recognised in the

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

16 EFAEEEREEAE

(a) NREMBRARERZE

consolidated statement of financial L
position
The consolidated statement of financial position shows the FEaMBERRRBRNUTHEBAE
following amounts relating to leases: 2 &%8
2024 2023
—EmE ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Right-of-use assets
Office premises 1,949 5,661
Lease liabilities
Non-current 108 1,685
Current 1,892 4,263
2,000 5,948
During the Year, there are approximately HK$422,000 RAEE FRAEEEREY

additions to the right-of-use assets (2023: Nil).

422 000 T (ZE =4 : #®) o

The Groups leases various office premises. Lease contracts AERHESETHAME-HES
are typically made for fixed periods of 2 to 3 years. Lease H— R EE AR B2E3F o FHE K
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain BEBENER EHE T8 E
a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease TR R R A& o BR AR A PR HF
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the MEEENRESRERIN HEHE
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the I $R BB INAE (R 5255 o

lessor.

BR ERERERAT
S MFEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR EMBRRIIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

16 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND
LEASES LIABILITIES (continued)

(b) Amounts recognised in the

16 ERAEEEREEAE

(&)

(b) REFEHEmAEMEENE

consolidated statement of profit or REFDZEXE
loss and other comprehensive income
2024 2023
—EmE —EI=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHEx
Depreciation charge of right-of-use  EREEEFEMS
assets
— Office premises — Y 4,118 4,203
Interest on lease liabilities HEAaENE 108 237
Gain on COVID-19 related rent kB A BICOVID-1918 R
concession from lessor HEEI W - 47
Gain on early termination of lease ~ IEF 4R IEFAE WG - 28
Expenses relating to short-term R EREMBE
leases and other leases (Note 7) el = 7 706 992

During the Year, the total cash outflow for leases was

approximately HK$5,167,000 (2023: approximately

HK$5,353,000).

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE_Z

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR
—mE=A=+—BLEE

17 B EE

Money Other
lenders intangible
licence assets Total
BEA Hith
e BV EE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET
Cost 3%
At 1 April 2022 N _E - _HFMB—H 430 13,736 14,166
Exchange adjustments EREE - (370) (370)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 AZEZI=E=A=+-8k
“E_=FNA-H 430 13,366 13,796
Exchange adjustments ERHZ - (228) (228)
At 31 March 2024 RZIZZMNE=A=+—H 430 13,138 13,568
Accumulated amortisation and impairment BB RRE
At 1 April 2022 A B _FNA—H 230 9,039 9,269
Amortisation for the year (Note 7) FREH (7527) - 2,791 2,791
Impairment for the year FRRE - 1,646 1,646
Exchange adjustments ERREE - (110) (110)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZIBZ_=%=A=1+—H
R_E_=FMA—H 230 13,366 13,596
Exchange adjustments EREE = (228) (228)
At 31 March 2024 RZE_NE=A=+—H 230 13,138 13,368
Net book value IREFE
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=ZA=+—H 200 - 200
At 31 March 2023 RZE_=#=A=+—H 200 - 200
Other intangible assets represent (i) speech emotion recognition Hihm B ER()ES BERNARRIBIR;

system licence; and (i) big data analysis techniques licence which

were related to the technical services business.

fMTHRAR

eSS

(i) B IR B R B A RO ARBED X

EIERARAT
—EMEFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R EMBImRIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &Z "2 " NF=B=+—HItFE

17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Amortisation of intangible assets of nil had been included in cost of
sales for the Year (2023: approximately HK$2,791,000).

The directors of the Company performed an impairment
assessment on the other intangible assets in relation to big data
analysis techniques licence as at 31 March 2023. The recoverable
amount has been determined based on the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. As a result of the continuous
loss of the cash-generating unit, which adversely affected the
likelihood of recovering the carrying value of the intangible assets,
the Group has determined it prudent to recognise full impairment of
approximately HK$1,646,000 in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss for the year ended 31 March 2023.

The money lenders licence is considered by the directors of the
Company as having indefinite useful lives because it is expected
that the money lenders licence can be renewed continuously at
minimal cost and it will contribute net cash inflows for the Group
in the foreseeable future. The money lenders licence will not be
amortised until its useful life is determined to be finite. Instead it
will be tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an
indication that it may be impaired.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group performed an impairment
assessment based on fair value less costs of disposal with
reference to valuation performed by an independent professional
qualified valuer on its money lenders licence. Market comparison
approach is adopted by reference to the recent transactions and
asking price of similar licence. The above fair value measurement
is categorised into Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. Based on the
assessment, no impairment loss was recognised during the Year
(2023: no impairment loss was recognised).

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

19

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

I A
o=

AR RMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

18 EMI AN

CATEGORY
2024 2023
Mg TET=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAERT FAET
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at amortised cost HEER AT ENEREE 121,239 359,951
Financial assets at fair value through BAFESABENEMEE
profit or loss 19,336 14,631
Total #ast 140,575 374,582
Financial liabilities ERaE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BBIER AT ENEREaR 285,032 486,086
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19 B 5 R H{thFEURERTR
2024 2023
—E-OF TET=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Trade receivables B 5 EUERT 28,036 23,120
Less: Provision for impairment losses R E RS (5,685) (7,711)
22,351 15,409
Loan receivables EWER 27,915 28,194
Less: Provision for impairment losses W OREREIEERE (27,915) (17,046)
- 11,148
Other receivables, deposits and HEWRRIE s RTEIRIB
prepayments (Note (d)) Hiz#d)) 29,988 27,518
52,339 54,075

BN BB PR A B

S MFEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBEERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(continued)

Notes:
(@) Trade receivables are past due when a counterparty has failed to make a

payment when contractually due. The credit period granted to customers
is 7 to 75 days generally.

19 BB RHEMEBUERTR (@)

et -

EHFAHTREREGNISER X ARIE B5
FEUARF MR A A R FEENEEH—
BRA7TETSH

(o) The ageing analysis of the trade receivables based on the date of payment (o) ERERAHANMHERSHPNEZAHEN
certificate issued by customers or invoice date is as follows: B S EWERRBIERE DT -
2024 2023
—ETomE —EC=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
0-30 days 0ZF30H 16,563 1,903
31-60 days 31E60H 76 13,573
61-90 days 61908 6,051 15
Over 90 days BiB90H 5,346 7,629
28,036 23,120
As at 31 March 2024, trade receivables of approximately HK$5,346,000 AZETNFE=A=+—H> B EWERR
(2023: approximately HK$7,615,000) were past due. #95,346,000/8 7T (Z & "= : 7,615,000
BT BEEAe
(© The Group’s loan receivables arise from the money lending business. The (© AEEZERETRBMEES - EWNER
loan receivables are mainly secured by personal guarantee. All of the loan FEHBEAERBEF - FIBERKERNR S
receivables are overdue (2023: approximately HK$19,211,000 are not “ME=ZA=+—HRESGHNIHEBEA
overdue) based on contractual maturity date as at 31 March 2024. All the B (ZTZ2 =% :4919,211,000% 7t 14 &<
loan receivables are entered with contractual maturity within 1 to 2 years. H) cFIEERERE—EMENG IR
Loan receivables are interest-bearing at a rate range from 5% to 12% per ST R E R EMENFE5%E12% (=
annum (2023: from 5% to 12% per annum). T=FFRENFERE12%) 5tR
(@ As at 31 March 2024, the gross amount of other receivables was (d) AR TNE=ZFA=+—H > HithEWREIE
approximately HK$13,479,000 (2023: approximately HK$12,043,000) and 4EERX 413,479,000 T (CEZ=ZF 1 &
the allowance for expected credit loss was approximately HK$592,000 12,043,000 7T) MBEHEEHREEENS
(2023: approximately HK$929,000). 592,000 7T (Z & = = £ : £9929,00058 7T) °
() The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain (e B REMEBWEFAREMEN T AES
impaired assets. The Group does not hold any collateral as security. EBREEE AEETRFEEAIEFRE
TR
6] Included in the trade receivables, there are gross amount of approximately 6] B SRR > 483849280,00078 7Tt K

HK$280,000 and HK$140,000 which are amounts due from Aux
Cayes FinTech Co. Ltd. (“Aux”) and Li Canal Holdings Limited (“Li
Canal”), respectively. OKC Holdings Corporation, the parent company
of the Company, has control in Aux and Li Canal, and so they are the
fellow subsidiaries of the Group. The amounts due are trade in nature,
unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no fixed terms of repayment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

20 CONTRACT ASSETS AND

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

0 SNEERGHNAER

2024 2023

—E-mF 2T =fF

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FAET FET

Contract assets EHEE 75,378 78,765
Less: Provision for impairment losses B OREEEERE (29,421) (36,633)
45,957 42,132

Contract liabilities HHEE 1,304 59

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right to
consideration for work completed and not billed because the rights
are conditioned on factors other than passage of time. The contract
assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional.

Included in contract assets comprises retention receivables of
approximately HK$35,295,000 as at 31 March 2024 (2023:
approximately HK$35,725,000), after recognition of impairment
loss of approximately HK$5,762,000 (2023: approximately
HK$5,803,000), the carrying amount of retention receivables
was approximately HK$29,533,000 (2023: approximately
HK$29,922,000).

Retention receivables represented the monies withheld by
customers of contract works fully recoverable within 1 to 2
years from the date of completion of construction contracts, in
accordance with the terms specified in the relevant contracts.
Generally, upon satisfactory completion of contract work as set out
in the contract, partial of the retention money of such contract work
will be released to the Group, while the remaining will be released to
the Group upon the expiration of the defects liability period.

BMNBEETBEAERRINETAMARR
BIRABHNENER RASEBER
ARIERBRELONARME - EF
RN AERGE SNEERBEE
B 5 FEIERR °

ABHNEBEERBEEER_ZENE=
B=+—HBIEWMRE£435,295,00074#
T (CEB =4 1 485,725,000 7T) * it
RSN B 18495,762,0008 T (B - =
fF 1 #95,803,000%7T) % > EWIRE B AR
HE{EA4929,533,0008 T (ZE =44
29,922,0003 7T) ©

BURRESHEEFNENGNIERER
ANERGHNZHAHE-—EMEAR
BARRSARENRRTEURE - —&m
SORAHNMB N T RREEMTRE
BLOERENIEREESRERTEE
B - AR ER A N ERPE B R R R T
TEE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

20 CONTRACT ASSETS AND
CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

The retention receivables, before recognition of impairment loss,
would be settled, based on the expiry of the defect liability period,
at the end of the reporting period as follow:

0 SNEBEERSHNERE @

KRR EBEN BRRBSRNRE
HARERAREEIHEREN I T

2024 2023

—E-MFE ET=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAET FET

Within one year —FR 22,360 20,105
After one year —FE% 12,935 15,620
35,295 35,725

Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

BMNEaREFBNT

2024 2023
—TME -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FHExT

Contract liabilities arising from: BHBEEER
Technology services Al AR 7% 1,304 25
Construction wastes handling services IREEYRIERTS - 34
1,304 59

During the Year, revenue recognised that included in the contract
liabilities balance at the beginning of the Year was approximately
HK$59,000 (2023: approximately HK$775,000).

The increase in contract liabilities was mainly due to the increase
in short-term advances received in relation to the provision of
technology services.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HZ "2 " NF=B=+—HILFE

21 DIGITAL ASSETS

21 BFEE

2024 2023
—EmE TET=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Digital assets: HFEE
Proprietary digital assets EBYTEE 1,123,081 649,487

Among the digital assets balance, the digital assets totaling
approximately US$143,519,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,123,081,000) (2023: approximately US$82,740,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$649,487,000)) held on the Platform
are measured at fair value through profit or loss. They represent
balance of digital assets attributable to the Group held in shared
wallets of the Platform. As at 31 March 2024, included in the
digital assets balance, there were digital assets with fair value
of approximately HK$908,018,000 and nil (2023: approximately
HK$534,007,000 and HK$1,647,000) held on behalf by Aux and
OKCoin Technology Company Limited respectively, which are fellow
subsidiaries of the Group.

Net fair value gains of approximately HK$65,288,000 (2023:
approximately HK$130,066,000) from remeasurement gains
of digital assets of approximately HK$218,556,000 (2023:
approximately HK$73,420,000) at 31 March 2024, including
remeasurement loss of digital asset borrowed from counterparties
of approximately HK$153,268,000 (2023: remeasurement gains of
HK$56,646,000) at the same date, is presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

As at 31 March 2024, there were certain digital assets with fair
value of approximately US$5,001,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$39,132,000) (2023: approximately US$11,062,000) (equivalent
to approximately HK$86,832,000) received from and held on
behalf of the clients of the Group were safekeeping in segregated
client wallets held on the Platform and the Group’s proprietary
share wallets. Based on the respective rights and obligations of
the Group and its clients under the client terms and conditions,
the digital assets held on behalf of the clients of the Group are not
recognised as the Group’s digital assets and hence there are no
corresponding digital asset liabilities under these arrangements. As
at 31 March 2024, included in digital assets received from and held
on behalf of the clients of the Group, there were digital assets with
fair value of approximately HK$19,039,000 (2023: approximately
HK$72,801,000) held on behalf of Li Canal, a fellow subsidiary of
the Group.

RUAFEELRT REEFENHTF
BEAHA143,519,000= T FHERH
1,123,081,00087T) (ZE-=F 1 &
82,740,000 7T (18 & 12 49649,487,00074
D)) AR AFES ABRtE - HIENF
AEZRARAZAERBLHFTEES
BN _E_NE=B=1+—H #HF&
ERBOERAERRZRMNEB QAU
OKCoin Technology Company Limited{t{ %
FBENRFED R4 A908,018,0007% 7T
KRE (T2 =4 #9%A534,007,0008 7T
K21,647,000%870) W FEE -

RIZE_NE=B=1+—HEFEESE
st BUrEE49218,556,0008 T (CTEBE - =
£ 1 £973,420,00087T) EEZ ATFERW
B EEH A65,288,0008 T (B - =
£ 1 #9130,066,000%87T) BERBBEH
FHBANBFTEEZSMT2HEHN
153,268,000 7 (ZZ2 =4 : EffistE
W #56,646,000787T) > Rira1Bm RS

ke

RIE_NE=A=+—H &FA¥E
#3735,001,000% 7T (18 & #24939,132,000
%i) (ZTZE =% 11,062,000 7T HBE
2 #986,832,00078 7T) ) B FEUR Re X2k A £
EEERENRTEENTFLEFENE
4%ﬁ§*@&$$lmiﬁrﬁ L2 86 1R
S IRIERE R REHE T AERRA
BREZEZEMEER RKXAEBRR
FANRTEELTRIDLAERAZHT
EE ALZELHTIEEERTEE
BE - R_E_NE=B=+—H BX
EREANBRIRERENSETEETE
REEB—RERMEB AL CanalisH
AN T{E#19,039,0008 T (CE_=F | &
72,801,000 7T) W FEE -

BN EEERARAT
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 22 B AT{HAIBHEZ £/
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS HE

2024 2023
—EmE —EI=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Listed securities held for trading: RER S EMES
— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong, — BB LTRAES RRE

at quoted price 209 325

— Equity securities listed outside Hong —BBEI LHRAES  RRE
Kong, at quoted price 654 1,140
— Listed investment fund, at quoted price — EHEBEE S » GRE 9,866 =

Life insurance policy (Note (a)) ANSERE Hat@) - 2,710

Wealth management products (Note (b)) BB E & (H152 b)) 4,897 5,155

Unlisted warrants (Notes (c)) JE_ETEBARERE (WAt () - 2,329

Unlisted investment fund (Note (c) SEETRERS (W) 3,710 2,972

19,336 14,631

Notes: btat -

(@) Under the life insurance policy (the “Policy”), the beneficiary and (@) RIFASRE ((RE)) ZTEARRES
policy holder is the Group and the total insured sum is US$750,000 BAAERERKRIBREEAT750,0005% 7T (49
(approximately HK$5,887,000). The Group paid an upfront premium for 5,887,000 7T) - ANEEMRE X T AR
the Policy of approximately US$326,000 (approximately HK$2,556,000) #49326,000% 7t (492,556,00078 7T) B 7] BE
and may surrender any time and receive cash based on the cash value of RERAREBREBENREAHZREREEE
the Policy at the date of withdrawal, which is calculated by the insurer. In WERE (HIYHREB ARG E) c KARE
the opinion of the directors of the Company, the cash value of the Policy RE REABREBZREREEBENLHE
provided by the insurance company is the best approximation of its fair NEEZRENE GRESERATER
value, which is categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. RBIE=4R) ©

(b) Wealth management products represent investments in short-term (b) BMERERTENRTETZIEHESR
financial products issued by banks in the PRC. EmZE&E-
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HZ "2 " NF=B=+—HILFE

22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(©

The Group and an unrelated entity (the “Borrower”) entered into
agreements whereby: i) the Group would provide a loan to the Borrower;
and ii) for consideration of HK$1, the Borrower would grant to the Group a
right to subscribe for certain ordinary share (before a series of amendment
and restatement, convertible preferred shares) of the Borrower (the
“Warrants”).

After a series of extension and amendment arrangements between the
Group and the Borrower in respect of the Warrants, as of 31 March 2023,
the exercise price of the Warrants was US$0.4585 per share and the total
subscription price for the warrant shares shall not exceed US$2,405,964.
The expiry date of the Warrants was 25 September 2023.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, an amended and restated deed was
signed. Accordingly, the exercise price of the Warrants was US$0.4585
per share (after share consolidation of every 16 share, US$7.3360 per
share) and the total subscription price for the warrant shares shall not
exceed US$2,405,964. The expiry date of the Warrants was further
extended to 25 September 2026.

The fair value is based on the net asset value of the investment fund as

of the end of the reporting period.

According to the subscription agreement, the Company committed
to subscribe for US$1,000,000 of the fund. As at 31 March 2024, the
remaining commitment was US$450,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$3,521,000) (2023: US$580,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$4,553,000)).

haE

22 BT EFARmZER
BE (@

(8

AEBE—BEMESTR (B8 A)) T
W B ) AEERBEEART—FE
o RINVEEABURB1IEBTORER R
LREANDEEEANETEER R—R7
BT REFIF HEAKRESR) (TRRRE
BB o

AEFBEBEEAMIREZLCB—ER
KRB I ZHB RIE2E ==
=+—8> BREENITHEEASR0.4585
EoRREBRONEIBEREBE
2,405,964 0o SRR EENEME R R
Z=FhAZ+EHB-

BETE_MF-A=+—HLEFE K&
HEEGABERBLEIRERNZE &
It RSB V1T E B A B AR0.4585% 7T (B
168 B% 15 & & > 2 & R%7.3360%7T) > B/&
HEERMDMERBETEBIB2,405,9645%
ToRREENENARE—TERE"S
“RFEAAZ+ARB-

AFEDRERERESPRREESZE
EFESE-

REIBHEZ ARDEREIEBES
1,000,000& 7 R B ZMNE=/F=+—
B F ek K 5H450,000% T (HHERK
3,521,000 7t) (Z&F =4 : 580,000% ¢
(1B E 1 #94,553,000% 7T) ) ©

BN BB PR A B
—EMEFR
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

23 TRUST BANK BALANCE HELD ON
BEHALF OF CUSTOMERS/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

As at 31 March 2024, the Group held segregated bank accounts
amounting of approximately HK$24,047,000 (2023: approximately
HK$226,683,000) on behalf of its customers.

ACE_ME=B=+—H > &EHE
REREZEEFEBIURTERELSEN
#24,047,0008T (ZE2EZ=F 1 &
226,683,000787T) ©

2024 2023
—E-E —ET=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAET
Cash at banks R1TIRE 61,841 90,619
Cash on hand FERS 113 6
61,954 90,625
By maturity: ZE|HER 24
Bank balances IR1T45RR 52,489 73,313
Deposits at banks IRITER
— non-pledged fixed deposits maturing —R=E8 NEH 2 Eif
within three months TEHIER 7,825 15,791
— non-pledged fixed deposits maturing —R=EB &3 EiKH
over three months TEHIER 1,527 1,515
61,841 90,619

Cash at banks earns interest of floating rates based on daily bank
deposits rates.

The carrying amount of bank balances and cash were denominated
in the following currencies:

RITIRESRBEARTERNZHRIUES
IESISE

RITHEGRESZEREEU TGSt
&

2024 2023
—EWE —ET=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FET

HKS$ Bt 40,296 40,988
RMB AR 10,427 11,586
us$ =TT 11,226 38,051
JPY = 5 =
61,954 90,625
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HZ "2 " NF=B=+—HILFE

BEHALF OF CUSTOMERS/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH (continued)

The carrying amount of trust bank balance held on behalf of

customers were denominated in the following currencies:

23 AREBREFAZIEERT

ek IRITEER BRI E
()

REREARE ZEERTEFREEIZN
TaKE:

2024 2023

—E_NE B =
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FAET FET
HKS$ BIT 1,861 52,888
RMB AR - 761
us$ E7T 22,186 172,572
JPY = - 462
24,047 226,683

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,

under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations,

the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for the other currencies

through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

SHARE CAPITAL

ARBAEBRRIBRAEMER 22
RBEREAMINEE RGP RERMATE
BERBEEIIEEXFNRITRARESR
BAHMERE.

24 fg7s

Number of Share
shares capital
RH#E N
HK$'000
FET
Authorised: ETE
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, 1 April RN_E - _FMB—H-
2023 and 31 March 2024, ordinary ZEI=F=HA=4+—H">
shares of HK$0.005 each TEI=FNA—HRK
“EImRFE=A=+—H
EREE0.0058 T2 @R 20,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRERE
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, 1 April A B _HFMB—H-
2023 and 31 March 2024 E_=F=RA=+—H-
:3:_¢@H B
—EIMFE=A=+—H 5,370,510,000 26,853
Dﬂ*&?kﬁ@@?

—EMEFR
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25 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 12 August 2015 as to attract
and retain the best available personnel and to provide additional
incentive to the eligible participants under the Scheme.

Under the Scheme, the directors of the Company may at their
absolute discretion and subject to the terms of the Scheme,
grant options to any employees (full-time or part-time), directors,
substantial shareholders, consultants or advisors, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners or
service providers of the Group, to subscribe for shares of the
Company. The eligibility of any participants to the grant of any
options shall be determined by the directors from time to time on
the basis of the directors’ opinion as to their contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.

The aggregate number of the Company’s shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the Scheme and any other share options
schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the Company’s
shares in issue from time to time. No options may be granted under
the Scheme or any other share options schemes of the Company
if this will result in the limit being exceeded. The maximum number
of shares issuable upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
as from the adoption date must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of all the shares in issue upon the date on which the shares are
listed and permitted to be dealt in the Stock Exchange. The 10%
limit may be refreshed at any time by obtaining approval of the
Company’s shareholders in general meeting provided that the total
number of Company’s shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Scheme and any other
share options schemes of the Company must not exceed 10% of
the Company’s shares in issue as at the date of approval of the
refreshed limit.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

25 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to each participant (including both exercised
and outstanding options) under the Scheme or any other share
option schemes of the Company in any 12-month period up to
date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue. Where any further grant of options to a participant under the
Scheme would result in the shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options granted and to be granted to such participant
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such further grant
representing in aggregate over 1% of the shares in issue, such
further grant must be separately approved by shareholders of the
Company in general meseting with such participant and his/her close
associates abstaining from voting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective associates
must be approved by the independent non-executive directors of
the Company (excluding any independent non-executive director
who is the grantee). Where any share options granted to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director
of the Company, or any of their respective close associates would
result in the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and to be granted (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company to such
person in any 12-month period up to and including the date of
such grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue and having an aggregate value in excess of
HK$5 million must be approved by the Company’s shareholders
at the general meeting of the Company, with voting to be taken by
way of poll.

The offer of a grant of share options might be accepted in writing
within 7 days from the date of the offer. An option may be exercised
in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time during
a period as the directors may determine which shall not exceed
ten years from the date of grant subject to the provisions of early
termination thereof. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable
on acceptance of the grant of an option with a remittance in favour
of the Company within such time as may be specified in the offer
(which shall not be later than 7 days from the date of the offer).

25 HERGHESTEI @)

BERDAMBIEEM12@E8BHEAN > AR
BB AREEREMBRESBIE
FTEL2EEZBRE (BEETERF
RITERERE) BITRMET R THET
ZRMNBE AEBHARATBHTRND
BI1% - HiRFZ B M2 EEE SR
BREGENHEZE-—SHRLAH (8
EZA) L12ERBEREABR T K&K
FTRLSREZIARRE (BEETE.
AR ERITEBRE) BITEMmET
RGTFET RN aHBBREETRG
B91% > A BRE— P RHOCBAEERRER
RRREARGESITHE MZH2HEE
RAZBHBACEBRERE-

MARBDEF TETHABRTERE
HRESBZEATHBEARLBERE A
BERBBIUFANTES (FEEEFAK
BRAZEABILIFATES) HE- A4
ABTERFUBUFNTEFIAKSS
BZERNEEHBEARKECERE &
RNEBERLES (8E%A) LEMA12@E
BHRAEREZ 8 AR EEAEM
BRESEER LMALTRE RS TFRE
ZBkRiE (BEETE B KRHEKRITE
B BTEMETRRTETZRMG
BMUSHBBAABEEHTRMI01%
BeEBasER T MIAEERART
RERE LEARBRRUIEER RGN
HEfo

RUBREZZ0ANBSEORES
HANSZEER - AR ATNESTIEE
EZHAR  BERF IR 1B 2 5T B AR AT 28
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25 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The subscription price shall be a price solely determined by the
board of directors of the Company and notified to a participant and
shall be at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the offer date, which must be a business day; (i) the average
closing prices of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5 business days
immediately preceding the offer date; and (i) the nominal value of
the Company’s share on the offer date.

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing on 12 August 2015, subject to early termination
provisions contained in the Scheme.

No share options were granted during the Year and there were no
share options outstanding as at 31 March 2024 and 2023.

26 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements
during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

25

26

RsRztE T8 (@)

REERARTDEFZL2REBEELENS
HE BEORTIRBERZ RSE ()
R HRERFMIRAABRONELNH
B (RREER) ZWHE (B XFrsE
BRERFFRAABRONERZELN BB
REEEBZFHRHE ; Ki)Z4 B85

ZARBRHEE-

Zt8m - E—AFN\A+_HEs+F
BB REN > L2 2t BIFF & 2 12
AT AR LEARSCRrARPR

AEETESHTABERE BN _F
TNER-EZEZA =+ —HILES
RITEERERRRE

BEREEE (BR)

RBE_Z_NEER_ZT-_=-F=A1
=T HLEE REaMBR N RES
E’J%JJ?EIEE\E/ (BB HERBDRHE

Depreciation ECL
allowances provision Total
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) BEREEE /(&) HEEE
EERE BIRERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TERT THRT
At 1 April 2022 RZEZZEMA—H (685) 470 (215)
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss REERFA/ (5 685 (470) 215
At 31 March 2023, 1 April 2023 RZEZ=F=A=+—-A:
and 31 March 2024 “ECHENA-BRIFCME
=A=+-H - = -
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses REREERSR ) REE B IR R 2k 5% ﬂ
of approximately HK$230 million (2023: approximately HK$180 RHAREEELA2308EET (T
million) available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax T =& #180FE BT c AR kA ﬁ@ﬁu
asset has been recognised in respect of the unused tax losses KAEHEF R WAL Et R E B IR IBE
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in IBRERERIBEE st AKREDRRIEE

unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately HK$70 million
(2023: approximately HK$65 million) that will expire within 5 years.
Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

27 B 5 RHMEI KRR

2024 2023

—E-OF —F=%F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Trade payables (Note) B2 ENIRM (3D 35,271 47,647
Accruals and other payables EETE R R EMETIRR 77,359 28,527
112,630 76,174

Note:

Payment terms granted by suppliers are generally 15 to 80 days from the invoice
date of the relevant purchases.

The ageing analysis of trade payables based on the invoice date is as follows:

haz -

HEFHRFHOMRER—RDEEMBENER

HAFEST15E80A A ©

RIFERE N E SRR DT ¢

2024
—E-NE TEC=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
0 - 30 days 0E30H 2,313 22,964
31 - 60 days 315608 6,057
61 - 90 days 61908 4,588
Over 90 days #B3BI0H 22,313 21,832
35,271 47,647
LIABILITIES DUE TO CUSTOMERS 28 [E{dE R &S
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Liabilities due to customers ENEREaE
Fiat currency liabilities EEEHEE 24,047 226,683

Liabilities due to customers arise in the ordinary course of the
Group’s trust and custody business. Based on the respective rights
and obligations of the Group and its customers under the custody
agreement, segregated bank balances held by the Group are
recorded as assets of the Group (Note 23) with a corresponding
liability due to the customer recorded.

As at 31 March 2024, included in the balance of liabilities due
to customers, there were fiat currency liabilities of approximately
HK$21,102,000 (2023: approximately HK$170,008,000) due to Li
Canal, a fellow subsidiary of the Group.

BNEREREENAEBNELERTE
EBNABEBBER -REAEERE
ERNEEMZE TN AREN KRBT
AEEFARNBIIRTERKCEASTE
EHEFEAEBRENEE (523) -

R_E_WNE=RA=+—H EBAEEE&
BHRBECEENEAEE —RBRNB AR
Li Canal®y21,102,0008 T (CE - =F 14

170,008,000 70) B EES K &E-

BN TR AR AR
S MFEER
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29

30

“ME=ZR=+—HLEFE

AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO RELATED
PARTIES/FORMER SUBSIDIARIES

29

FEH&/HEI
ATEFRIE

g5 mi kS

Maximum

outstanding
during the Year 2024 2023
Name of company NEIGTE FERSREER ZEME BT =-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHATT
Aux Aux 5,096 - 5,096
Li Canal Li Canal 19 - 19
- 5115
Less: Provision for impairment losses 78 : BB EREHE - (143)
- 4,972

The amounts due from related parties are unsecured, non-interest
bearing and have no fixed terms of repayment.

The amounts due to former subsidiaries/a related party were non-
trade in nature, unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on
demand.

LOANS FROM RELATED PARTIES

Included in loans from related parties are principal portion
of approximately HK$39,855,000 (2023: approximately
HK$76,512,000) which were unsecured and interest bearing at 5%
per annum and an interest portion of approximately HK$545,000
(2023: approximately HK$1,394,000). The loan has maturity date of
29 March 2025. The loan is subjected to review at any time and to
the lenders’ overriding right of withdrawal and immediate repayment
on demand. The related parties are companies controlled by the
directors of certain subsidiaries of the Company for the years ended
31 March 2024 and 20283.
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31 BORROWINGS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

31 f§&

2024 2023
Mg E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Current ENEA

Digital assets borrowed from WHFHBAZEFTEE Hat@)
counterparties (Note (a) 869,833 400,913
Loan from a shareholder (Note (b)) RE—BERRNER B 5Eb) 70,428 70,647
940,261 471,560

Notes:

As at 31 March 2024, certain digital assets borrowed from counterparties
were provided by non-financial institutions, with asset-backed stablecoins
and other digital assets being the loans principal, in aggregate, amounted
to approximately US$111,157,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$869,833,000) (2023: approximately US$51,074,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$400,913,000). The borrowing was unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand as at 31 March 2024 and 2023.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the balance of digital assets borrowed
from counterparties was borrowed from Aux, a fellow subsidiary of the

Group.

On 6 June 2022, MetaStar Trading Limited (“MetaStar”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a loan agreement with OKC
Holdings Corporation (“OKC”), the parent company of the Company,
pursuant to which OKC agreed to make available to MetaStar an
unsecured loan facility up to the maximum aggregate amount of US$10
million (equivalent to approximately HK$78,490,000). Pursuant to the loan
agreement, the availability period is 36 months commencing from the date
of the loan agreement at the rate of 2% per annum compounded annually.
In February 2023, MetaStar and OKC entered into a supplemental
agreement and amended the loan into an interest-free loan. The loan is

unsecured and repayable on demand.

=2

RIE_EE=ZA=+—0  HIFEmE
BRENUHFAEAETHEFTEE U
HEEYRNEBEEREAMBFTEEES
BmAs #BELNA111,157,000%E 7T (16
&2 49869,833,00087m) (ZEZ=4:
#951,074,000% 7t (18 E £ 49400,913,000
Bm)) RIBZNER-ZZZ=HZ=A
=+ BZEERARIER  RERRER

fBiE -

N TECMERE_=ZF=A=+—H"
REFHBANBFEERELSNLTER
—RERWBEATAUEA

RIEZZHEXAXNB ARFA2ENB
‘AB]MetaStar Trading Limited ("MetaStar J)
B AN T B /AFIOKC Holdings Corporation
(TOKC) ST EMIHH > #E UL » OKCRIE M
MetaStariZ (i@ £ R m A108 B %7t (18
E114978,490,0007870) WEIEHER - 1R
EXtnsE o] AR A B BB H ARt
=+NER  FEREF2%NEBEF B
AZZE T =F T H > MetaStarf1OKC5T 1L
RBpBLETERATTEER ERNAE

IR R EREE -

BR ERERERAT
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

32 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before
income tax to net cash generated

32 ZRRENERMTE

(@) FREASHAN (B518) i F) A
LEMRS (FRR) 2REF

from/(used in) operations K7 HER
2024 2023
—EmE BT =F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHAT
(restated)
(G==2)
(Loss)/Profit before income tax: FREFSMAT (B518) @A
— From continuing operations —REFEREER (45,069) 58,949
~ From discontinued operation —REERIEEEER (8,344) (7,413)
Adjustments for: BIFIRIERE .
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥1% BB KRR EITE 6,891 7,131
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 4,118 4,203
Amortisation of intangible assets B E E - 2,791
Net losses on disposal of property, plant and  HE % BERFREZ
equipment i85 11 =
Gain on early termination of lease REZLILHREWS = (28)
Gain on COVID-19 related rent concession  #& B H 8 A BICOVID-1918RE
from lessor HEEEWE - (47)
Net gains on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR 2 WmEEE (12,514) -
Impairment losses on intangible assets B EEZRERBE - 1,646
Impairment losses on financial assets and ERMEBEERGNEEZ RAERIE
contract assets 7,841 6,973
Net losses/(gains) on change in fair value of  HAF{EF ABEZZ RMEE
financial assets at fair value through profit NEEEHEER/ (W) F58
or loss 2,130 (16)
Loss on the amendment and restatement of €3] R EFLEAIRIES 2 518
the warrants - 3,994
Interest income FBUWA (1,470) (1,211)
Interest expense MERX 3,383 5,604
Distribution income BIRMA (272) (133)
Operating cash flows before working EEESEFHKERER
capital changes (43,295) 82,443
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 R AU AR FIZ M (12,149) (29,222)
(Increase)/Decrease in contract assets BHEE (8m B (5,383) 25,129
Increase in digital assets HFEEEN (5,444) (182,141)
Decrease in financial assets at BATEFABGRZ
fair value through profit or loss TRMEERD 597 1,760
Decrease/(Increase) in amounts due from FEUS B 5 RIER L (38 00)
related parties 5,115 (6,115)
Decrease/(Increase) in trust bank balance REREPLFE ZEERITHES
held on behalf of customers B (g n) 202,636 (79,136)
Increase in trade and B 5 R EMEARIIZM
other payables 48,100 20,262
Increase/(Decrease) in contract liabilities BHEEEM/ (RL) 1,245 (663)
(Decrease)/Increase in liabilities due to EExR&aE (L) /18m
customers (202,636) 79,136
Increase/(Decrease) in amounts due to FE(T RPN B A B FIEIE I, (R
former subsidiaries 12,514 (150)
Net cash generated from/(used in) operations #&&F18/ (FrA) 2 IR& 5 1,300 (87,697)

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HZ "2 " NF=B=+—HILFE

32 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 2 IFERERERMTE @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) MEFHELEZEBZHIR
financing activities

As at As at

1 April Non-cash Exchange 31 March

2023 Cash flows changes adjustments 2024

RZFZ= KZB-mE

mE—H REREg  FREEDH ER#EE =ZA=+-H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TERT TER TET TER TET

Loans from related parties (Note (2) BEHER (M5t @) 71,906 (15,155) (22,351) - 40,400
Amount due to a related party R —%EERE 18,087 1,415 - 917) 18,585
Borrowings - loan from a BR-RE—2RERER

shareholder 70,647 - - (219) 70,428

Lease liabiliies (Note (b)) HESE WEp) 5,948 (4,461) 530 (17 2,000
Total liabilties from METHELZBEEE

financing activities 172,588 (18,201) (21,821) (1,153) 131,413

As at As at

1 April Non-cash Exchange 31 March

2022 Cash flows changes adjustments 2023

S RIZZ=%&

mE—H RemE  FRSED ERBEE =ZBA=+-H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FTET TER TER TER TET

Loans from related parties (Note (2) BEHER (H5ta) 92,135 (18,550) 4,321 = 77,906

Amount due to a related party R —%EZEHTE 18,073 1,367 - (1,359) 18,087

Borrowings - loan from a BR-RE—2REER

shareholder (Note (c)) (i) - 69,609 1,046 ©) 70,647

Lease liabilities (Note (b)) HESR Wip) 10,540 (4,361) (140) 91) 5,948
Total liabilities from MEESEL z AERE

financing activities 120,748 48,065 5,227 (1,452 172,588

ERES %?'”‘E ¥ Fay NG
RHRRGREREY O
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

32 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

32 ZFERENERMTE @

(continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) MEFHELEZEBZHIR
financing activities (continued) (#8&)
Notes: =3
@ Non-cash changes represent accrued interests on the outstanding (@ FIREEHIEE NSRBI RS
principal balance and the outstanding principal and interest MERHENBARRFHENSE
balance being disposed during the disposal of subsidiaries (For BERSHKE (BHEZHE #H2
more details, please refer to note 35) (2023: accrued interests on BIMIEE35) (CE T =F B XRAEETER
the outstanding principal balance). FBHIESTAIR) ©
(b) Non-cash changes represent interest arising from lease and (b) FREEHEHNEEEZFER
addition to lease liabilities (2023: interest arising from lease HEsENEM (=41
liabilities, gain on COVID-19 related rent concession from lessor BEEBEELZFE RBEHEAN
and gain on early termination of lease). COVID-1918RH S B E R E RIZF
BIETAERE) ©
© Non-cash changes represent accrued interest arising from loan © FRECEHIEERREREENE
from a shareholder. TR
(c) Major non-cash transaction () XEFRERS
i) During the Years, the non-cash working capital i) REER BFEERBEZIF
changes of digital assets borrowings are as follows: RESESTEHEIUWT
2024 2023
—EmE B =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Digital assets borrowed from REFHEAZEFTEE
counterparties 470,171 (94,440)

ii) During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
entered into a sale and purchase agreement related to
the disposal of subsidiaries, which included as major
non-cash transaction. For more details, please refer to
note 35.

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2024 Annual Report
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33 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE_Z

TRANSACTIONS

Related parties are those parties that have the ability to control,
jointly control or exert significant influence over the other party

in making financial or operational decisions. Parties are also

considered to be related if they are subject to common control or

33 EARAE

Iz

AR
—mE=A=+—BLEE

EHEX5%

BED RRERENES BEEHSHE
TEH M BB ARFREH EM A THEE

TENBAL R RH HE G S5
BES TRESEES -BAESISE

joint control. Related parties may be individuals or other entities. A EMERE
(@)  In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated @ ke BFRRAMMAMBEEL
financial statements, the Group entered into the following BERN RAREE AEBE B HRBEE
material transactions with its related parties in the ordinary FR—REFRBEIETUTEK
course of business during the Year: R
2024 2023
—EINE 2T =fF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FAET FET
Companies controlled by controling FAZ</A )32 i&% R SR 25 YA F)
shareholder of the Company
— Transaction fee expense charged —AuxEY > 22 5 B R
by Aux (Note (j) (B752(0)) 2,134 1,274
— Trust and custody services — R BLi Canalz {55t &
income from Li Canal (Note (i) SEERRFEUA (HaE() 715 323
Notes: izt -
0] Became a fellow subsidiary of the Group since 31 December i) BTE__HF+°"A=+—HEEMX
2022. AAEERRMEBAR
(i) Became a fellow subsidiary of the Group since 19 August 2022. (i) BZE__HF/\Bt+hBERAR
EEERWE AT
The related party transactions for the Year above constitute PR FERNBELS R ZBNIFE
continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A MEXZ (ERR EMHRAEFE14A
of the Listing Rules. These transactions are exempted from all %) ciR¥E EMARAIFE14A. 7615857
the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ P ZER G BRRIETI A RIER
approval requirements by virtue of rule 14A.76 of the Listing @%ﬁ?‘%ﬁﬁy%%h&%ﬁm °
rules.
(o) The emoluments of the directors and senior executives b) BEZEKSHITHAE BIEFEBEEA

(representing the key management personnel) during the Year
are disclosed in Note 9.

B) RAEERFHII MY EOmEE

B BB PR A B
—EMEFR
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, certain customers of construction
contracts undertaken by the Group require the Group to issue
guarantee for the performance of contract works surety bonds of
approximately HK$4,500,000 (2023: approximately HK$9,800,000).
Mr. Ip Ying Chau and Ms. Tung Ah Pui Athena, the directors of a
subsidiary of the Group, have provided guarantee to the insurance
company to secure certain surety bonds. The surety bonds are
expected to be released in accordance with the terms of the
respective construction contracts.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group paid a cash collateral of
approximately HK$2,371,000 (2023: approximately HK$3,920,000)
to the insurance company for the issuance of surety bonds and are
included in other receivables, deposits and prepayments (Note 19).

The Group, in the ordinary course of its business, is involved
in various claims, suits, investigations, and legal proceedings
that arise from time to time. Although the Group does not
expect that the outcome in any of these legal proceedings,
individually or collectively, will have a material adverse effect on
its financial position or results of operations, litigation is inherently
unpredictable. Therefore, the Group could incur judgements or
enter into settlements of claims that could adversely affect its
operating results or cash flows in a particular period.

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

35 hEMEBERF

A TEC=ZF+ A+ _H AEEH
¥Ya (HEAEEETHBARZEEMRIE
TEETBEEAENRAMAR) LEEE (K
REIZEEZENB AR REKNEB A

HRATEEEE)) 228 K#E ER
45,000,000 7T

35 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 22 December 2023, the Group disposed the entire equity
interests of Joint Wealth, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, and its subsidiary (collectively, “Joint Wealth Group”),
for a consideration of HK$45,000,000 to Colour Trend, a related
company direct wholly-owned by Mr. Chan, a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group.

REEBH aEEEaEFERERT]

The aggregated net liabilities of the Joint Wealth Group as at the

date of disposal are set out as follows: nr

HK$ 000

FET

Net liabilities disposal of: FTHEEaRFE !
Property, plant and equipment ME-BERRE 4,398
Trade and other receivables 5 R EMEWRR 915
Contract assets BHEE 7,320
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BATFEFABRNESHEE 2,704
Tax recoverable AW EITRIE 2,371
Cash and bank balances B& R IRITHER 670
Trade and other payables B 5 K E MM IR (11,567)
Loan from Colour Trend KBEBEDER (25,626)
Net liabilities BERE (18,815)

HK$'000

FET

Gain on disposal of Joint Wealth Group: HEAEER 2 W@ -
Consideration RE 45,000
Amounts due from the Group FEW A EE B RIB (51,301)
Net liabilities disposal of FTHEaEFE 18,815
Gain on disposal &R 12,514

BN TR AR AR
S MFEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBEERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiZEZZE-_NFE=HA=+—HILFE

35

36

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of
the disposal of Joint Wealth Group:

35

HEMB AR @

MHEESEERERZRERAEEEY
EREZ O

HK$'000
TFAET

Cash and cash equivalents in FTHESEEEREMNREEEY
Joint Wealth Group disposed of 670)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents HERREEEBWERE (670)

Immediately prior to the completion of the disposal of Joint
Wealth Group, the Group is indebted to Joint Wealth Group for
approximately HK$51,301,000, being intercompany loans due by
the Group to Joint Wealth Group, which are non-interest bearing,
unsecured and repayable on demand. Pursuant to the terms of
the sale and purchase agreement, instead of having the Group
repay the outstanding amount, Colour Trend agreed to assume
the repayment obligations from the Group by the execution of the
Deed of Novation, and thereby relieving the Group in respect of
approximately HK$45,000,000 out of the outstanding amount,
which should be treated as the full settlement of the consideration
by Colour Trend.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD

Except as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the Group has no significant event after the end of the
reporting period up to the date of this report.

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEIBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 37 B REMBAR AR HE
POSITION AND RESERVE =y )
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position (@) EFBARRE

2024 2023
—E-MOF 2=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EREEE
Interests in subsidiaries REB AT NER 22,473 22,473
Current assets REMEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 K ELthE U RN 665 661
Amounts due from subsidiaries & U bt /& A 5 I8 208,956 204,263
Bank balances and cash IR1THERKRIRE 1,687 2,887
211,308 207,811
Total assets BEEHEE 233,781 230,284
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves B K HEE
Share capital &N 26,853 26,853
Reserves X 72,906 79,556
Total equity R 4EEE 99,759 106,409

BR ERERERAT
S MEFER
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AR EMBRRIIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &Z "2 " NF=B=+—HItFE

37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

(@) Statement of financial position

(continued)

37 £ F
g (&

s
'IJ

=

(a) MFRAR @)

Eﬁ%ﬂﬁﬂﬁ&ﬁ%ﬁ

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
LIABILITIES afd
Current liabilities Bt =N=
Trade and other payables B 5 K EMEMIRR 1,551 2,404
Amount due to a former FE —REIBIM B A B RIB
subsidiary 10,641 10,641
Amounts due to subsidiaries ~ FE{T B AT RIS 121,830 110,830
134,022 123,875
Total equity and liabilities  1EF KB E4EEE 233,781 230,284
Net current assets EREEE 77,286 83,936
Total assets less current BEELREBERATESAR
liabilities 99,759 106,409

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on

27 June 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Ren Yunan
EIBBEE
Director

EF
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Mr. Zhang Chao
SREBRE
Director
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37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

(b) Reserve movement

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-ZE-_NFE=H=+—HILFE

37 &
_ﬁ

(b) fHEEE

REVM BN R R R A
28 @

Share Capital Special Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
B fn s 1E BEAfE HRE RitBHE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FTERT FTET FTERT TET
Balance at 1 April 2022 RIBZZEMB—REH 239,372 7,922 94,795 (207,222) 134,867
Loss and total comprehensive loss FRBERZEBEER
for the year - - - (65,311) (65,311)
Balance at 31 March 2023 RISE-=ZE=ZA=+—AK
Fetid 239,372 7,922 94,795 (262,533) 79,556
Balance at 1 April 2023 RIZEZ=FMA—HNAR 239,372 7,922 94,795 (262,533) 79,556
Loss and total comprehensive loss ERBBEREEGBEE
for the year - - - (6,650) (6,650)
Balance at 31 March 2024 RIEZME=A=+—AH
e 239,372 7,922 94,795 (269,183) 72,906
Special reserve SR

Special reserve represents the difference between the fair
value of the shares of a subsidiary of the Company acquired
pursuant to the reorganisation in prior years over the nominal

value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefore.

Bhl#EFEEREBEFEEMEMMR
BERTEINBARKRNDHATEA
REMARBEETRN ZREE
RZEER -

BN TR AR AR
S MFEER
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Five Years Financial Summary

HEMBHE

Year ended 31 March
BHE=B=1+—HLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
CECNE S Zf T F _EB-—F _EFF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET TFAET FHET FAET
(restated)
(Gc3=27l))
(Note)
(T 5E)
Continued operations FEREER
Revenue Y& 337,332 344,945 385,614 452,964 570,320
Cost of sales HE AR (271,126) (190,969) (301,339) (406,399) (627,728)
Gross profit EF 66,206 153,976 84,275 46,565 42,592
Other income, gains and (losses), ~ ELfthUg A ~ W as K
net (B518) 258 (902) (922) 19,180 16,162 4,978
Administrative and other operating 17 B EL{thAS & B =%
expenses (100,032) (80,756) (129,320) (104,082) (91,407)
Impairment losses on intangible  EFZE E R EE B
assets - (1,646) (50) (180) -
Impairment losses on financial TREERGNEERE
assets and contract assets, net B3 (7,841) (7,611) (27,353) (46,892) (5,375)
Operating (loss)/profit B (BE) amw (42,569) 63,041 (53,268) (88,427) (49,212)
Finance costs BB (2,500) (4,092) (5,435) (7,933) (9,131)
(Loss)/profit before income tax  FRFF{ZIRAT (§518) /i@ # (45,069) 58,949 (58,703) (96,360) (58,343)
Income tax (expense)/credit s ) /1% - (9,679) 271 2,505 (3,259)
Profit/(loss) for the period/year B/ ENERIEEEER
from discontinued operation wHl, (8518) 4,170 (6,956) = = =
(Loss)/profit for the year FR (8518) @w (40,899) 42,320 (58,432) (93,855) 61,602)

0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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Five Years Financial Summary

AERBERE
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
ZEoME —ET-F EITF BT “ETEF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FAET FHET FHET
(restated)
(#EE5)
(Note)
(PfF5E)
Other comprehensive (loss)/ Hihz2m (518) /
income WA
ltem that may be reclassified BREOJEENTEE
subsequently to profit or loss: BmoBEE .
Exchange differences arisingon ~ BEBIEHBEEZ
translation of foreign operations ERERE (112) (348) 857 1,255 (2,120)
Reclassification of cumulative HEBIERHEBZ R
translation reserve upon EREBENDE
disposal of foreign operations - - (77 - -
Other comprehensive (10ss)/ ERHEMEZE BB
income for the year, net of tax Wa o fBRIR1E (112) (348) 680 1,255 (2,120)
Total comprehensive (loss)/ EREE (§B8)
income for the year YN L] (41,011) 41,972 (57,752) (92,600) (63,722)
(Loss)/Profit for the year KTRTEE AEEER
attributable to owners of the  (§518) /%
Company
— From continuing operations —FEREEK (44,473) 50,447 (58,061) (93,855) (61,602)
— From discontinued operation —BRIEEEER 4,170 (6,956) = = =
(Loss)/Profit for the year RABERE ANEHER
attributable to owners of the (&518) /& F
Company (40,303) 43,491 (568,061) (93,855) (61,602)
Non-controlling interests FEPERR S (596) (1,171) @371) = =
(40,899) 42,320 (68,432) (98,855) (61,602)

BN TR AR AR
S MFEER



Five Years Financial Summary

hEMBEE

Year ended 31 March
BHE=B=1+—HLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
CECNE S Zf T F _EB-—F _EFF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET TFAET FET FHExT
(restated)
(Gc3=27l))
(Note)
(B
Total comprehensive UTFEAEEERZE
(loss)/income for the year (§518) /W ER4R%E
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KABEBA (40,213) 43,486 (57,505) (92,600) (63,722)
Non-controlling interests FERERR R (798) (1,514) (247) = =
(41,011) 41,972 (57,752) (92,600) (63,722)
Total comprehensive (loss)/ EAFBEEANEGERE
income attributable to (§518) Wiz 48 %E -
owners of the Company:
— From continuing operations e [ E3) (44,383) 50,442 (57,505) (92,600) (63,722)
— From discontinued operation - RIS ER 4,170 (6,956) = = =
(40,213) 43,486 (57,505) (92,600) (63,722)
(Loss)/earnings per share TATEE AR
attributable to owners of the &Ik (§518) /&7
Company
From continued and discontinued ~ H#EEE £ KR ER L
operations KR
Basic and diluted (HK cents) BARKEE CB) (0.75) 0.81 (1.08) (1.75) (1.17)
From continuing operations HEREER
Basic and diluted (HK cents) EAREE (B (0.83) 0.94 (1.08) (1.75) (1.17)
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Five Years Financial Summary

hEMBEHE
As at 31 March
W=A=+—H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—EINE 2= TEICHF ZTRT-F TZIEF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FAET FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y E N =Yy 4,431 14,357 17,072 34,569 48,822
Intangible assets B EE 200 200 4,897 4,456 7,571
Right-of-use assets FREE 1,949 5,661 10,251 2,784 36,158
Prepayment B TIE - - - 318 1,050
Deferred tax assets RILRIAEE - = 242 = 450
6,580 20,218 32,462 42,127 94,051
Current assets TEEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 R EMEUWERR 52,339 54,075 32,769 95,196 127,385
Contract assets BNEE 45,957 42,132 67,265 67,029 104,429
Digital assets HFTEE 1,123,081 649,487 560,097 68,879 =
Inventories due from EWHFAEFEE
counterparties - = = 12,766 =
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFABRZ S/
through profit or loss BE 19,336 14,631 20,856 28,560 27,645
Amounts due from related parties & Ui & 5 FUE - 4,972 = 1,980 2,980
Tax recoverable Al EIFRIE - 2,371 783 2,741 401
Pledged bank deposit BIRRRITER - - - - 6,753
Trust bank balance held on behalf RERZEEIFE Z (5558817
of customers iEER 24,047 226,683 147,547 49,128
Bank balances and cash IRITHEHFAIRE 61,954 90,625 135,555 236,735 239,571
1,326,714 1,084,976 964,872 563,014 509,164
Total assets BEHEE 1,333,294 1,105,194 997,334 605,141 603,215
EQUITY i
Capital and reserves B RHEE
Share capital [N 26,853 26,853 26,853 26,853 26,629
Reserves B 138,832 178,701 135,215 192,720 274,514
Equity attributable to the owners AT A AEEED
of the Company 165,685 205,554 162,068 219,573 301,143
Non-controliing interests JEPER R 1,899 3,041 4,555 = =
Total equity BT 167,584 208,595 166,623 219,573 301,143
BRI E R ERARAR

—EMEFR
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Five Years Financial Summary

hEMBHE
As at 31 March
“=A=+—A
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
ZEINE 2= EZIF B2 EIZE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FAT FAET
LIABILITIES =L
Non-current liabilities JEREERE
Lease liabilities HE&aE 108 1,685 6,126 = 12,047
Deferred tax liabilities EILRIAR(E - - 457 1,929 3,255
108 1,685 6,583 1,929 15,302
Current liabilities mEaE
Trade and other payables 85 MEMETRR 112,630 76,174 56,212 99,060 90,806
Contract liabilities aNER 1,304 59 775 4,726 1,610
Liabilities due to customers ENEREE 24,047 226,683 147,547 108,151 =
Amounts due to FEFTRIM B AR TIE
former subsidiaries 16,942 10,641 10,791 10,641 10,641
Amount due to a related party e —REaE A TIE 18,585 18,087 18,073 10,244 14,776
Loans from related parties REHER 40,400 77,906 92,135 148,500 141,750
Borrowings BE 940,261 471,560 494,072 = =
Lease liabilities HE&R 1,892 4,263 4414 2,317 23,931
Current income tax liabilities BEBFTE IR EaR 9,541 9,541 109 = 3,256
1,165,602 894,914 824,128 383,639 286,770
Total liabilities BEEE 1,165,710 896,599 830,711 385,568 302,072
Total equity and liabilities EEkaEEE 1,333,294 1,105,194 997,334 605,141 603,215
Net current assets BRBEE 161,112 190,062 140,744 179,375 222,394
Total assets less current BEEBARRBEE
liabilities 167,692 210,280 173,206 221,502 316,445
Note: Bat

The construction wastes handling services has been classified as discontinued operation
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024. In accordance with HKFRS 5, Non-

current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, the Group has restated the

comparative information in 2023 in this regard.
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